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「 Bank of Korea Act 」
Article 102 (Publication of the Annual Report)

① The Bank of Korea shall, within three months after the end of each fiscal
year, submit to the government its annual report and publish it. This annual report shall outline its business status, its monetary policy and the
government’s foreign exchange policy, and analyze the economic and
financial situation of the country during the fiscal year.
② The annual report in Paragraph(1) shall be approved by a resolution of
the Monetary Policy Board.

Purpose of Establishment of Bank of
Korea
·	To contribute to the sound development of the national economy by
pursuing price stability through the formulation and implementation of
efficient monetary and credit policies
·	To pay attention to financial stability in carrying out monetary and credit
policies

Preface by the Governor

As the central bank responsible for implementing Korea’s monetary
and credit policies, the Bank of Korea has dedicated its utmost efforts to
achieving price and financial stability, thereby contributing to the sound
development of the national economy.
During 2018, external conditions developed under high uncertainty due to the trade dispute between the U.S. and China, interest rate
hikes by the U.S. Federal Reserve, and financial instability in emerging
economies. Although volatility in the global financial market subsequently increased on several occasions, the Korean economy’s favorable
international credit standing and timely activation of the emergency
examination system succeeded in preventing instability from spreading
across the foreign exchange and financial markets. Korea’s real economy sustained a rate of growth that was not far from its potential growth
rate. However, employment conditions and the sentiment of economic
entities were sluggish, while concerns were raised over the potential for
household debt to continue growing faster than income and to undermine financial stability.
Under these financial and economic conditions, the Monetary Policy
Board raised the Base Rate to 1.75 percent in November, from a steady

rate of 1.5 percent since November 2017, to adjust the degree of monetary policy accommodation. This was a decision made in comprehensive
consideration of the fact that overall macroeconomic conditions were
expected to remain stable and that maintaining the Base Rate at a low
level would lead to a widening of financial imbalances. In addition, the
Bank of Korea continued its efforts to strengthen its multilayered foreign
exchange safety net by signing a new currency swap agreement in 2018
with the Swiss National Bank, which regulates the Swiss franc, one of
the key currencies, after signing such an agreement with the People’s
Bank of China and the Bank of Canada in 2017.
Meanwhile, near the end of last year, the Bank of Korea set its “Inflation Target for 2019 Onwards” toward the direction of enhancing operational stability of its system, while deciding to publish a report examining the operating status of inflation targeting in an effort to strengthen
its policy communication. In order to continue encouraging changes
and innovative efforts in its internal management, the Bank reformed
related systems in the direction of promoting efficiency and productivity
across the organization by, for example, further delegating work-related
authority to lower-level officials.
In 2019, the Korean economy is expected to maintain a rate of growth
that does not diverge much from its potential level. However, there are
diverse risk factors that could raise uncertainty about the projection
path of economic growth, such as the potential economic slowdown in
major economies and the potential exacerbation of global trade disputes.
From the domestic perspective, the possibility cannot be ruled out that
domestic structural issues, including a productivity slowdown, a declining birth rate and an aging population, might impede the smooth
movement of the real economy.
The Bank will implement its monetary policy this year to ensure the
continuation of economic growth recovery and the stabilization of the
inflation rate at the target level from the medium-term perspective, with
attention devoted to financial stability, as well. In particular, during the
process of maintaining its accommodative monetary policy stance, the
Bank will closely examine future movements of growth and prices and
the risk of financial imbalance in order to assess whether an additional
adjustment in the degree of accommodation is necessary. It will also

devote steady efforts toward strengthening its communication with the
public for the purpose of enhancing the transparency and predictability
of its monetary policy as a way to boost the Bank’s credibility.
This annual report provides an analysis of the financial and economic conditions in Korea and a systematic presentation of the conduct of
business and management conditions at the Bank of Korea during the
year 2018. It is our hope that this report will help to broaden the public’s
understanding of the Bank of Korea’s roles and the situation facing the
Korean economy.
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1. History and Mission

3

2. Organization
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1. History and Mission

Korea Act specified the Bank’s role as the central bank in devising and implementing mon1962, however, the Act was revised in a direc-

12, 1950, following the passage of the Bank

tion that enabled the Bank to actively support

of Korea Act on May 5 that year, to serve as

government-led economic growth initiatives.

the central bank for Korea, with the goals of

Its top decision-making body, the Monetary

stabilizing the value of the national currency,

Policy Board, was accordingly renamed the

promoting the soundness of the banking and

Monetary Board of Korea, while the number

credit systems, and developing the Korean

of its government-nominated members in-

economy. This took place against a backdrop

creased significantly. In addition, most of its

of hyperinflation and economic turmoil in

functions related to the formulation of foreign

the years immediately after Korea’s liberation

exchange policy and management of the for-

from Japan. The Bank began initially as a gov-

eign exchange reserves were transferred to

ernment-invested organization with paid-in

the government.

capital of 1.5 billion won, but was later reorga-

From the late 1980s, in line with the pro-

nized in 1962 as a non-capital special organi-

motion of financial liberalization, there were

zation in accordance with the first revision of

active discussions regarding the expansion of

the Bank of Korea Act.

the central bank’s role in maintaining price

At the time of its enactment, the Bank of

stability, as well as its independence, leading

Figure Ⅰ- 1. The First Monetary Policy Board Meeting (June 5, 1950)

Source: Bank of Korea.

1. History and Mission

The Bank of Korea was established on June

I. Overview of Bank of Korea

etary, credit and foreign exchange policies. In

3

4

to amendments to the Bank of Korea Act in

Monetary Policy Board, and the portion of the

1997 and 2003. The 1997 reforms included the

budget subject to prior government approval

introduction of an inflation targeting regime

was narrowed from encompassing all expen-

and the restoration of the name “Monetary

ditures to covering only expenditures classi-

Policy Board,” while all Board members were

fied as salary.

given the position of standing member. In

The global financial crisis provided an im-

addition, the position of Board Chair was

petus for accelerated discussion of legislative

transferred from the Minister of Finance and

amendments to strengthen the Bank’s func-

Economy to the Governor of the Bank. This

tion of financial stabilization, so as to establish

change served to enhance the neutrality and

conditions that would facilitate the prevention

autonomy of the Bank. However, authority to

of financial instability, and the implementa-

supervise banks moved from the Bank to a

tion of swift countermeasures in response to

newly-established joint financial supervisory

financial crises. This led to another revision of

institution. The 2003 revision, meanwhile,

the Bank of Korea Act in 2011. The revised Act

stipulated the operation of inflation targeting

stipulates the purpose of the Bank as the pro-

from the medium-term perspective, while the

motion of price stability through the formula-

Bank was delegated the additional functions

tion and implementation of effective monetary

of oversight and monitoring of the payment

policy, with a focus on financial stability as

and settlement systems. In addition, the Se-

part of the process. The Act thus states that

nior Deputy Governor of the Bank was giv-

the Bank, being in charge of monetary policy,

en the position of ex-officio member of the

has a mandate for financial stability alongside

Figure Ⅰ- 2. Monetary Policy Board Meeting (July 12, 2018)

Source: Bank of Korea.

its primary objective of price stability. Under
the revision of the Act in 2012, it was then
ernor of the Bank must pass through a National Assembly confirmation hearing process
prior to appointment. In addition, the Act was
revised in 2018 for the purposes of introducing
a system of staggered terms,1) which ensures
of the Monetary Policy Board by adjusting the
term lengths for some members, and adding
local governments to the list of entities that
are subject to the collection of data for the
Bank’s statistics and economic survey activities.

1) In accordance with the revision of the Act, the term of members, which is initially recommended by the Governor
of Bank of Korea and the Chairperson of the Financial Services Commission, was adjusted to three years from four
years (stipulated in the Addenda) and the term of a member who is not appointed immediately after the expiration of
the predecessor’s term shall be deemed to have commenced immediately after the expiration of the predecessor’s
term so as to maintain the staggered term structure.

1. History and Mission

service terms of varying lengths for members

I. Overview of Bank of Korea

stipulated that candidates for the post of Gov-

5
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2. Organization

Figure Ⅰ- 3. Members of the Monetary Policy
Board (As of December 31, 2018)

The Bank of Korea’s leadership consists of

Lee, Juyeol

the following: the Monetary Policy Board,

(Governor of Bank of Korea, April 1, 2014~)
<Major Work Experience>
Director General, Monetary Policy Dept., BOK
Deputy Governor, BOK
Senior Deputy Governor, BOK

which deliberates and decides matters related
to monetary policy and the operations of the
Bank; the executive body, comprising of the

Lee, Il Houng

Governor, the Senior Deputy Governor, the

(Recommended by the Governor of Bank of
Korea, April 21, 2016~)
<Major Work Experience>
IMF Chief Resident Representative in China
Ambassador for International Cooperation and
G20 Sherpa
President, Korea Institute for International
Economic Policy

Deputy Governors, the head office divisions,
domestic branches, etc.; and the Auditor,
whose role is to regularly audit the Bank’s
business operations.

Cho, Dongchul
(Recommended by the Minister of Economy
and Finance, April 21, 2016~)
<Major Work Experience>
Assistant Professor, Texas A&M University
Chief Economist, Korea Development Institute
Professor, KDI School of Public Policy and
Management

A. Monetary Policy Board
The Monetary Policy Board serves as the
Bank of Korea’s top decision-making body,

Koh, Seung Beom

and maintains the authority to deliberate

(Recommended by the Chairperson of the Financial Services Commission, April 21, 2016~)
<Major Work Experience>
Director, Supervision Policy Division, FSC
Secretary General, FSC
Standing Commissioner, FSC

and decide on matters of monetary policy
and the operations of the Bank. The Board is
composed of seven members, including the

Shin, Inseok

Governor and the Senior Deputy Governor

(Recommended by the Chairperson of the
Korea Chamber of Commerce and Industry,
April 21, 2016~)
<Major Work Experience>
Associate Fellow, Korea Development Institute
Professor, College of Business Administration,
ChungAng University
President, Korea Capital Market Institute

of the Bank as ex-officio members, as well as
five appointed members. The five appointed
members are individuals with substantial
experience or outstanding expertise concern-

Yoon, Myun-Shik

ing finance, economics or industry who are

to serve as standing members on the Board.3)

(Senior Deputy Governor of Bank of Korea,
Aug. 21, 2017~)
<Major Work Experience>
Chief Representative, Frankfurt Representative
Office, BOK
Director General, Monetary Policy Dept., BOK
Deputy Governor, BOK

Board members serve four-year terms,4) with

Lim, Jiwon

appointed by the President of Korea on the
recommendation of pertinent organizations2)

(Recommended by the Chairperson of the
Korea Federation of Banks, May 17, 2018~)
<Major Work Experience>
Chief Researcher, Samsung Economic Research Institute
Managing Director and Chief Korea Economist,
J.P. Morgan
Member, National Economic Advisory Council

the exception of the Senior Deputy Governor
whose term is three years, and are eligible for
reappointment.5) The Governor also serves as
the Chair of the Board. The Chair represents
the Monetary Policy Board and presides over

Source: Bank of Korea.

2) Recommendations are put forward by the Minister of Economy and Finance, the Governor of the Bank of Korea, the
Chairperson of the Financial Services Commission, the Chairperson of the Korea Chamber of Commerce of Industry
or the Chairperson of the Korea Federation of Banks.

Board meetings. If the Chair is unable to

on the Bank’s budget and settlement of ac-

conduct their duties owing to unavoidable cir-

counts.

by the Board serves as acting Chair.
The Board reviews and resolves decisions

Table Ⅰ- 1. Number of the Monetary Policy Board
Meetings

regarding the Base Rate, the issuance of Bank

(number)

of Korea notes, loan and deposit policies, open

Consul- DeliberTotal
Regular Ad-hoc tations ations

Year

Plenary

and inspections of financial institutions. It

2016

27

24

3

89

also deliberates and decides on general issues

2017

26

24

2

73

15

114

concerning the management of the Bank,

2018

26

24

2

81

14

121

including its budget, settlement of accounts,

15

131

Source: Bank of Korea.

organizational framework, staff remuneration
policy, etc. Except in special cases, resolutions

The Board announces the dates of its ple-

are adopted through simple majority votes

nary meetings in advance every year. The

among members present at meetings, requir-

plenary meetings are held a total of 24 times

ing the attendance of at least five members as

throughout a year, including eight sessions

a quorum.

for the determination of monetary policy di-

Board plenary meetings are divided into

rection and four sessions devoted to Financial

regular meetings, normally scheduled on the

Stability Meetings. At the remaining 12 reg-

Thursdays of the second and fourth weeks of

ular meetings, the Board deliberates and de-

every month, and ad hoc meetings convened

cides on the Bank’s lending and deposit poli-

by the Chair if deemed necessary by the Chair

cies and on matters concerning its inspections

or at the request of at least two members.

of financial institutions, as well as on general

In 2018, the Board held 26 plenary meetings,

issues related to management of the Bank, in-

consisting of 24 regular meetings and two ad

cluding its budget, the settlement of accounts

hoc meetings. It in addition held 81 consulta-

and its organizational framework. The min-

tion meetings for purposes such as exchanges

utes of each Board plenary meeting are re-

of opinions among members on financial and

corded and stored in written form. In addition,

economic conditions, discussions of major

in order to strengthen the transparency and

current issues and preliminary deliberations

accountability of the Bank’s monetary policy,

on items to be proposed in the plenary meet-

the minutes of the meetings to determine its

ings, as well as 14 meetings for deliberations

monetary policy decisions are made public

3) Following the revision of the Bank of Korea Act on Dec. 31, 1997 (enforced on April 1, 1998), all appointed members
were given the position of standing member, in contrast to their previously temporary roles, so as to enhance their
accountability for and expertise on monetary policy.
4) In accordance with the introduction of staggered terms for the Monetary Policy Board in March 2018, the service
term of three years is applicable only to prospective members who will be appointed on the recommendation of the
Governor of the Bank of Korea and the Chairperson of the Financial Services Commission.
5) The Governor and the Senior Deputy Governor of the Bank of Korea may be reappointed only once each to serve a
consecutive term.
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market operations, payment and settlement,
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cumstances, a member appointed in advance

7

8

on the first Tuesday after the passage of two
weeks since a meeting. In particular, mone-

Figure Ⅰ- 4. Executive Officers and Auditor
(As of December 31, 2018)

tary policy decisions are announced in press
releases immediately after the meetings.
Governor
Lee, Juyeol

B. Executive Officers and Auditor

(April 1, 2014~)

The executive officers of the Bank of Korea include the Governor, the Senior Deputy
Senior Deputy Governor
Yoon, Myun-Shik

Governor, and five Deputy Governors. The
Governor is appointed to a four-year term by

(Aug. 21, 2017~)

the President of Korea following deliberation
by the Cabinet and a National Assembly confirmation hearing,6) and may be reappointed

Deputy
Governor
Lim, Hyoung
Joon

once to serve a consecutive term. The Senior

Deputy
Governor
Huh, Jin Ho

(May 9, 2016~)

(July 16,
2016~)

Monetary Policy Board, the Governor partici-

Deputy
Governor
Shin, Ho
Soon

Deputy
Governor
Ryoo, Sangdai

pates in the Board’s decision-making process

(Sep. 26,
2017~)

(May 15,
2018~)

Deputy Governor is chosen by the President
for a three-year term upon the Governor’s recommendation, and may also be reappointed
once to a consecutive term. As Chair of the

and executes the monetary policy as set by the
Board, while exercising the authority granted

Deputy
Governor
Chung,
Kyuil

to them by the Bank of Korea Act and other
legislation as head of the Bank. The Governor

(May 15,
2018~)

is also obligated to notify the Board of matters
requiring its attention, and to provide it with
data and opinions necessary for its deliberation and decision-making processes. The cur-

Auditor
Jang, Ho Hyun

rent Governor, Lee Juyeol, was appointed on

(Sep. 10, 2018~)

April 1, 2014, and was reappointed to serve a
consecutive term on April 1, 2018.
The Senior Deputy Governor, as a member

Source: Bank of Korea.

of the Monetary Policy Board, participates in
the process of decision-making by the Board,

the Governor is unable to conduct their duties

alongside the Governor, and assists the Gov-

owing to unavoidable circumstances, the Se-

ernor in all matters concerning the Bank. If

nior Deputy Governor serves as acting Gover-

6) Required since April 22, 2012, pursuant to the ninth revision of the Bank of Korea Act, a National Assembly confirmation hearing was held for Lee Juyeol, the first Governor of the Bank to be appointed after the revised Act entered
into effect.

nor.

domestic branches and overseas representative offices, and conducts research on the

Governor, and serve three-year terms to assist

regional economies. It also oversees manage-

the Governor and the Senior Deputy Gover-

ment of the Monetary Policy Board meeting

nor.

minutes and regulations.

The Bank employs one Auditor who is
appointed by the President upon the recom-

Communications Department

mendation of the Minister of Economy and FiCoordinates and takes overall charge of

The Auditor regularly monitors the Bank’s op-

communication activities, including the col-

erations and reports all findings to the Mone-

lection of internal and external opinions,

tary Policy Board.

performs PR activities, including operating
the Bank of Korea Money Museum, manages

C. Departmental Organization and Responsibilities

informational material, prepares the Annual
Report and provides economic education to
the public.

As of the end of 2018, the Bank of Korea
has 17 departments and 9 sub-department

Information Technology Department

offices at its Head Office, with a subordinate
structure of 19 divisions and 142 teams. There

Provides information technology services,

are 16 domestic branches of the Bank across

including the development and operation of

Korea, supported by seven regional economy

the Bank’s computer systems, the introduction

research divisions and 54 teams. There are

and maintenance of its electronic data-pro-

also five overseas representative offices in op-

cessing equipment, etc.

eration. As of the end of 2018, the number of
Bank employees stood at 2,433.7)

Human Resources & Administration Department

The functions of the individual departments, branches, etc. are as follows.

Administers the management of human
resources, the delivery of wages and welfare

Planning & Coordination Department

benefits, the Bank’s real estate and facilities
management, security, etc.

Develops and promotes management strategies, manages operational risk, manages

Bank of Korea Academy

the organization and its human resources,
formulates the budget and settles accounts,
coordinates functions among departments,

Provides professional education and training for the Bank’s employees.

coordinates and integrates the activities of the

7) This figure excludes 13 persons, including the Governor, the members of the Monetary Policy Board (including the
Senior Deputy Governor), the Executive Officers and the Auditor.

2. Organization

nance, and who also serves a three-year term.

9
I. Overview of Bank of Korea

The Deputy Governors are chosen by the

10

Research Department

alyzes the conditions for and effects of monetary policy; conducts research and studies on

Conducts analyses of macroeconomic trends

pending issues related to monetary and credit

and prospects, analyses of industrial trends

policy; and prepares the Monetary Policy Re-

and research on industrial policies, and anal-

port.

yses and prospects of employment; suggests
the inflation target and performs related re-

Financial Markets Department

search; and develops and analyzes econometric models. It also handles work related to the

Implements moneta r y polic y through

analysis and forecasting of overseas economic

open-market operations; analyzes and fore-

trends.

casts monetary conditions and interest rates;
and analyzes financial market and corporate

Economic Statistics Department
Organizes, analyzes, and produces economic statistics on the national income, mon-

finance trends.
Payment & Settlement Systems Department

ey and finance, the balance of payments, and
prices; prepares the flow of funds charts and

Supervises the operation, management, and

input-output tables; and conducts business

monitoring of the payment and settlement

management analyses. It also evaluates the

systems; carries out research and studies on

quality of the Bank’s statistics and operates

the payment and settlement systems; conducts

the Economic Statistics System (ECOS).

planning and research for electronic finance;
promotes financial informatization; and over-

Financial Stability Department

sees tasks related to loans and deposits, operation of the national treasury, securities, and

Carries out the analysis and comprehensive

funds.

evaluation of financial stability conditions;
measures, analyzes and develops models

Currency Department

related to systemic risks; analyzes macroprudential policy instruments and their transmis-

Carries out the issuance, distribution, and

sion mechanisms; conducts research on banks

control of currency, as well as research and

and non-bank financial institutions; performs

investigation on currency and banknote issu-

research on the overall financial system; and

ance systems. It also handles matters related

prepares the Financial Stability Report. It also

to the mechanization of the banknote issu-

conducts management analysis and inspec-

ance process.

tions of financial institutions.
International Department
Monetary Policy Department
In charge of planning, research, and analDrafts the Bank’s monetary policy; plans

ysis in connection with foreign exchange and

and implements specific policy measures; an-

international finance. It provides services

related to the foreign exchange markets and

supply and demand, the receipt of Treasury

exchange rates; manages foreign reserves

funds, and securities management.

transactions and provides the relevant fol-

Overseas Representative Offices

low-up management; monitors and examines
foreign exchange transactions; and operates
the foreign exchange computer network.

Undertake research on finance and the
economies of their host countries and neighboring regions of interest; information gathering; and overseas management of the foreign
currency assets of the Bank of Korea.

Carries out planning and research related to
international cooperation; handles exchanges
with international financial institutions and
central banks; and engages in cooperative efforts on financial information.
Reserve Management Group
Conducts planning for the Bank’s foreign
currency asset management; manages the
overseas operations and risks of its foreign
currency assets; and analyzes their management performances.

Figure Ⅰ- 5. Organization
Monetary Policy Board
Governor
Senior Deputy
Governor

Deputy Governor

Departments(16)
Regional Branches(16)
Overseas Representative Offices(5)
Source: Bank of Korea.

Economic Research Institute
Oversees medium- to long-term research
on currency and finance, financial systems,
international banking, international trade,
macroeconomics, industry, labor, and the
North Korean economy, while engaging in
research exchanges with other countries.
Audit Department
Audits the operations of the Bank of Korea.
Regional Branches
Conduct research on the regional economies, as well as business related to currency

Auditor

Audit
Department(1)

2. Organization

International Affairs Department

I. Overview of Bank of Korea

and foreign debt; reports on foreign exchange

11
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1. Real Economy

Increased Volatility of International Oil Prices

International oil prices (Dubai crude ba-

A. Global Economy

sis) exhibited significant fluctuations while
recording a high margin of increase in the
annual average compared to that of 2017. A

Economy

gradual increase was recorded in the first half
of 2018, stemming from the effects of oil production cuts by OPEC countries8) and the U.S.

growth trend in 2018. In the cases of advanced

withdrawal from the Iran nuclear deal. In the

countries, the U.S. economy continued its

second half, oil prices, which had risen signifi-

solid domestic demand-led growth, while the

cantly to the range of mid-80 dollars per barrel

euro area and Japan, despite the recovery of

in early October due to the persistent decline

domestic demand, witnessed growth momen-

in oil production by Iran, fell subsequently to

tum weaken somewhat, owing to sluggish ex-

the lower-50 dollars per barrel range, affected

ports. Emerging economies maintained a pace

by less severe U.S. sanctions on Iran than ex-

of growth similar to the level of 2017, centered

pected9) and weakening investment sentiment

around India and the ASEAN-5 countries.

in line with concerns about a global economic

However, China’s growth slowed moderately

slowdown.

due to the effects of the U.S.-China trade dispute.

Figure Ⅱ- 1. International Oil Prices
(Monthly average)

Table Ⅱ- 1. World Economic Growth
Dubai

(%)

2016
3.3

2017
3.8

2018e
3.7

1.7
1.6

2.4
2.2

2.3
2.9

1.9
1.0

2.4
1.9

1.8
0.9

Emerging
China

4.4
6.7

4.7
6.9

4.6
6.6

Brazil

-3.5

1.1

1.3

Russia

-0.2

1.5

1.7

7.1
4.9

6.7
5.3

7.3
5.2

World
Advanced
U.S.
Euro area
Japan

India
ASEAN-52)
1)

Notes: 1) Based on fiscal year (from April of the current year to March

Brent

WTI

(dollar/barrel)(dollar/barrel)
90

90

80

80

70

70

60

60

50

50

40

40

30

30

20

20
2016

2017

2018

Source: Bloomberg.

		 of the next year).
2) Indonesia, Thailand, Malaysia, the Philippines, Vietnam.
Source: IMF.

8) OPEC member countries and major non-OPEC oil-producing countries, such as Russia, demonstrated active efforts
to reduce oil production by maintaining compliance rates at over 100 percent.
9) As the U.S. implemented its second round of sanctions on Iran on Nov. 5, 2018, it granted a six-month sanctions
exemption to eight major importers of Iranian crude oil (countries that accounted for 84 percent of Iranian crude oil
exports in 2017), including China, India and South Korea.

1. Real Economy

The global economy sustained a sound
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Maintaining Growth Momentum in the Global

Moderate Expansion in World Trade

Figure Ⅱ- 2. Economic Growth Rate
(In real terms, yearly)

The growth rate in world trade on a volume

16

basis declined in 2018, owing to the base ef-

GDP (right)

Final consumption (left)

Fixed capital formation (left)

Exports (left)

fect of its large increase in 2017 and to global

Imports (left)

trade disputes. However, it showed a favorable
trend in general and surpassed the annual
average since the global financial crisis, which
was 3.1 percent between 2012 and 2016.

(%)

Advanced2)

10

5

8

2016

2017

2018

2.2

5.3

4.0

2.1

3.7

2.2

e

4

3.3
2.8

6

Table Ⅱ- 2. World Trade Growth

World trade growth1)

(%)(%)

2.9

2.7

3.1

3

4

2

2

1

0

0

-2

-1

-4

-2
2014

2015

2016

2017p

2018p

(U.S.)2)

0.6

4.0

4.9

(Euro area)2)

2.5

3.5

1.6

(Japan)2)

-0.1

3.0

3.0

Looking at the components of demand,

Emerging

0.6

7.2

5.4

the rate of consumption growth accelerated.

3.7

8.9

9.6

The growth rate in government consumption

(China)

2)

2)

Notes: 1) Based on figures published by the IMF(goods and services).
2) Goods import volume growth (based on 2018, January to
		 September in the case of China).
Sources: IMF, CPB, UNCTAD.

Source: Bank of Korea.

climbed considerably to 5.6 percent due to
increased expenditures for costs of materials
and health insurance benefits. The growth
rate in private consumption showed a slight
rise to 2.8 percent despite sluggish growth in

B. Domestic Economy

employment, buoyed by the acceleration in
real wage growth and the government’s pol-

(1) Economic Growth

icies to strengthen income sources and boost
domestic demand.

Continued Growth in the Domestic Economy

The Korean economy recorded 2.7 percent

Table Ⅱ- 3. Final Consumption1) (Quarter-on-quarter)
(%)

GDP growth in real terms in 2018, mildly
lower than the 3.1 percent figure in 2017, as
stronger growth in consumption and exports
was offset by adjustments in investments.

2017p

2018
Year

Ⅰ

Ⅱ

p

Ⅲ

Ⅳ

Final
Consumption

2.8 3.5 1.1 (4.0) 0.3 (3.3) 0.7 (3.0) 1.5 (3.6)

Private

2.6 2.8 0.7 (3.5) 0.3 (2.8) 0.5 (2.5) 1.0 (2.5)

Government

3.4 5.6 2.2 (5.8) 0.3 (4.8) 1.5 (4.6) 3.0 (7.1)

Note: 1) Figures in parentheses are year-on-year rates.
Source: Bank of Korea.

Fixed investment decreased by 2.2 percent
year-on-year due to a decline in both facilities

over the deployment of the U.S.-built THAAD
missile defense system in South Korea.
Imports of goods and services in real terms

investment fell by 4.0 percent from the previ-

rose by 1.7 percent. However, the rate of

ous year as building construction shifted in

growth in imports of both goods and services

a downward direction while sluggishness in

slowed compared to the previous year due to

engineering construction persisted. Facilities

sagging imports of capital goods, led by ad-

investment declined by 1.6 percent year-on-

justments in facilities investment and sluggish

year, due to adjustments subsequent to the

demand for overseas travel among Koreans.

concentration of investment in the IT sector
Slowdown in Manufacturing Growth, Expan-

products rose by 1.9 percent compared to the

sion in Services

previous year, centering on R&D investment.
An overview of production activities across
various sectors throughout 2018 shows that

Table Ⅱ- 4. Fixed Capital Formation1)

the pace of manufacturing growth slowed

(Quarter-on-quarter)
(%)

2017p
Fixed capital
formation
Construction
Facilities
Intellectual
property
products

accelerated. Production in the construction

2018p
Year

Ⅰ

Ⅱ

slightly, while the rate of service sector growth

Ⅲ

Ⅳ

8.6 -2.2 2.0 (3.7) -2.9 (-1.3) -4.6(-6.6) 1.9(-3.8)
7.6 -4.0 1.8 (1.8) -2.1(-1.5) -6.7(-8.9) 1.2(-5.9)
14.6 -1.6 3.4 (7.3) -5.7(-3.0) -4.4 (-7.4) 4.4(-2.7)

industry, which had shown the largest scale of
growth in 2017, shifted downturn instead.

Figure Ⅱ- 3. Growth Rate by Economic Activities
(In real terms, yearly)

3.0 1.9 0.3 (3.5) -0.7 (2.2) 0.9 (1.6) 0.1 (0.6)

Note: 1) Figures in parentheses are year-on-year rates.
Source: Bank of Korea.

Exports of goods and services in real terms
grew by 4.2 percent in 2018. Goods exports

GDP (left)

Manufacturing (left)

Services (left)

Construction (right)

(%)(%)
5

15

4

10

3

were weak in shipbuilding, automobiles and
wireless communication devices, while those
of petroleum products, chemical products and
machinery showed a robust trend. Exports of
semiconductors witnessed rapid growth, as
in 2017, due to surging demand for memory
chips used for servers. Exports of services reversed to an upturn, mainly in travel services,
as the number of Chinese tourists increased
after a previous plunge in the wake of the confrontation between South Korea and China

2.9

3.3

5

3.1

2.8

2.7

2

0

1

-5

0

-10
2014

2015

Source: Bank of Korea.

2016

2017p

2018p

1. Real Economy

in 2017. Investment in intellectual property
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and construction investment. Construction

The manufacturing sector sustained its upward trend with 3.6 percent growth, driven by

Table Ⅱ- 6. Growth Rate of Services by Sector
(Quarter-on-quarter)

the IT sector, although this was down slightly

(%)

from the previous year’s 4.4 percent. By sector,
18

2017p

the rate of growth in some industries, such as

2018

p

Year

Ⅰ

Ⅱ

Ⅲ

Ⅳ

Services

2.1

2.8

1.1

0.5

0.5

0.6

continued to display high growth. Other

Wholesale & retail trade,
restaurants, and hotels

0.7

1.4 -0.8

0.8

0.5

1.0

manufacturing sectors, however, generally

Transportation & storage

2.3

1.9 -1.0

1.8 -0.1

1.5

slowed with a focus on transport equipment,

Finance & insurance

3.7

4.8

3.7

1.9 -1.3 -0.3

which saw production decline due to sluggish

Business activities

2.0

1.9

1.1

0.4 -1.0

1.0

business conditions and restructuring in the

Health & social work

7.3

7.5

0.2

0.8

3.4

electric and electronic equipment and precision equipment, along with semiconductors,

automobile and shipbuilding industries.

Source: Bank of Korea.

Construction sector production declined by

Table Ⅱ- 5. Growth Rate of Manufacturing
by Sector (Quarter-on-quarter)

4.2 percent year-on-year, based on the effects
(%)

2017p

4.8

of the continued trend of adjustment centering around building construction. Production

2018p
Year

Ⅰ

Ⅱ

Ⅲ

Ⅳ

in the agriculture, forestry and fishing sector

4.4

3.6

1.6

0.6

2.3

0.9

maintained a low level of growth owing to

Chemical products

3.4

3.7 -1.3

2.4

2.2

1.8

poor harvests in the wake of a heatwave,

Fabricated metal products

-2.1 -3.3 -1.8

0.9 -3.3

9.1

while the electricity, gas and water supply sec-

Machinery & equipment

14.3

2.4

9.7 -4.5

0.8 -5.2

tor showed slightly lower growth than in 2017.

7.4

9.4

0.5

1.5

9.0 -5.0

Precision instruments

23.1 12.0 -3.1 12.5

6.4 -3.1

Transport equipment

-1.7

Manufacturing

Electronic & electrical equipment

-1.1

4.5 -1.0 -0.8

(2) Employment and Wages

8.9

Source: Bank of Korea.

Significant Slowdown in Employment Growth

The rate of service sector growth was 2.8

Overall employment conditions weakened,

percent, up slightly from the 2.1 percent of

showing a great decrease in the growth of

2017. By sector, nearly all sectors except for

the number of persons employed compared

transport and storage and business services

to 2017. This was mostly attributable to poor

saw an acceleration in growth. Health and

performance and restructuring of some indus-

social work, in particular, continued on a high

tries, but structural factors, such as changes

upward trend following 2017.

in the industrial and demographic structures,
seem to have played a great role as well.

By industry, the number of persons employed in the manufacturing sector continued

Table Ⅱ- 7. Employment-related Indicators
(thousand persons, %)

its downward trend due to poor performance
and restructuring in the automobile and
shipbuilding sectors. Also, the growth of the

2017
Economically-active
population

sector fell significantly, as the slowdown in

Participation rate

the manufacturing industry spread to its re-

Change1)

number of foreign tourists was slow. In the

<Industry>

Ⅱ

Ⅲ

Ⅳ

63.2

63.1

62.3

63.7

63.5

63.0

26,725 26,822 26,283 27,019 27,015 26,971
316

97

183

101

17

88

6

62

53

52

62

78

in the healthcare and social welfare activities

Agriculture, forestry &
fishing

sectors grew dramatically on the back of the

Manufacturing

-18

-56

45

-91

-91

-88

government's job creation policies. In the

Construction

119

47

69

16

45

56

construction industry, employment growth

Services

208

52

18

125

6

55

Wholesale & retail trade,
accommodation & food

38

-117

-98

-74

-156

-142

Healthcare & social
welfare

61

125

51

148

142

159

Public administration

55

52

60

87

41

18

decreased due to cyclical adjustments.
By employment status, the number of regular employees continued to show solid growth,
while that of daily workers decreased. The
number of non-wage workers also decreased
due to sluggish activities among self-employed businesses.
By age, the number of employees aged 60
or older grew significantly, maintaining last

<Employment status>
Wage workers

265

150

228

113

65

192

Regular employees

366

345

409

335

293

342

Temporary employees

-132

-141

-124

-109

-162

-170

31

-54

-57

-113

-67

19

51

-52

-45

-13

-48

-104

Daily workers

year's upward trend. However, the number of

Non-wage workers

employees aged 30 to 59 fell remarkably.

<Age>

As the increase in the number of persons

15- to 29-years-old

-1

-3

26

-69

-27

58

employed declined sharply, the employment

30- to 59-years-old

74

-134

-46

-72

-208

-209

rate fell by 0.1 percentage points from the pre-

60-years-old or older

242

234

203

241

252

239

1,023 1,073 1,181 1,105 1,065

942

vious year and the unemployment rate rose

Unemployed persons

by 0.1 percentage points. The youth unem-

Unemployment rate2)

ployment rate, covering persons aged 15 to 29,

(15- to 29-years-old)

3.7
2)

decreased by 0.3 percentage points, driven by

Employment rate2)

people in their late 20s.

Note: 1) Year-on-year.

3.8

3.7

3.8

4.0

3.9

9.8

9.5

10.0

10.1

9.4

8.3

60.8

60.7

60.9

60.7

60.6

60.7

2) T
 he figure for the unemployment rate among those aged between 15 and 29 is not seasonally adjusted. The unemployment and employment rates have been seasonally adjusted.
Source: Statistics Korea.
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1. Real Economy

meanwhile, the number of employed persons

Ⅰ

27,748 27,895 27,464 28,125 28,080 27,912

Employed persons

lated service sectors, and the recovery in the

Year

II. Economic Trends

number of people employed in the service

2018

(3) Prices

Acceleration of Wage Growth

Nominal wage growth was 5.3 percent in

Slowdown in CPI Inflation

2018, higher than that of 2017. Among regular
20

workers in particular, the wage growth rate

Consumer price inflation in 2018 was at 1.5

was considerably higher, driven by accelerated

percent on an annual average, lower than the

growth of salary payments and a significant

level in 2017.

upward shift in bonus payments.

By item, the prices of agricultural and ma-

10)

The growth rate of the unit labor cost (ex-

rine products rose by a smaller margin: a

cluding agriculture, forestry and fisheries)

sharp rise in agricultural product prices due

also accelerated, despite an improvement in

to adverse climatic conditions was offset by a

labor productivity, as nominal wages per hour

decline in livestock product prices owing to

soared owing to a rise in the minimum wage.

an increased supply. The rate of increase in
prices of industrial products declined slightly
compared to that of 2017, affected by a modest

Table Ⅱ- 8. Wage Growth (Year-on-year)
(%)

2017

2018
Year

Ⅰ

Ⅱ

Ⅲ

Ⅳ

slowdown in growth of petroleum product
prices because of a plunge in international
oil prices and a reduction in fuel tax11) in the
fourth quarter of 2018. Electricity, water and

Nominal Wages1)

3.3

5.3

7.9

4.2

4.9

4.1

(Real Wages)2)

1.3

3.7

6.7

2.7

3.3

2.2

Regular employee

2.6

5.1

7.7

3.8

4.7

3.9

the end of 2017. Despite a continued increase

Regular payment

3.6

4.6

4.7

4.7

4.6

4.4

in personal service prices, overall service in-

Overtime payment

0.6

3.7

1.6

2.6

3.6

7.0

flation decreased compared to 2017, owing to

8.5 24.0 -3.0

6.1 -0.5

a slowdown in the growth rate of rentals for

Temporary & daily worker 5.1

5.5

4.7

housing and public service prices.

Nominal hourly wage3)

5.2

6.8 10.9

5.9 10.7 -0.2

Labor productivity

3.7

4.0

5.0

4.3

7.7

-1.1

ergy) fell to 1.2 percent in 2018, down from 1.5

Unit labor costs5)

1.4

2.8

5.7

1.6

2.8

1.0

percent in 2017.

<Status>

Special cash payment -2.2

4)

5.0

6.3

5.8

gas charges saw their margin of decline widen, affected by a reduction in gas charges at

Core inflation (CPI excluding food and en-

Notes: 1) Based on businesses employing at least one regular employee, non-farm basis.
2) Nominal wage/CPI.
3) Nominal wage/hours worked.
4) Real gross added values/(total employed persons x hours
worked), non-farm basis.
5) Nominal hourly wage/labor productivity.
Sources: T
 he Ministry of Employment and Labor, Statistics Korea,
Bank of Korea.

10) In the first quarter of 2018, some large companies made a retroactive payment because of a wage agreement from
2017, while others raised bonuses due to a considerable improvement in performance in 2017.
11) The government temporarily lowered the fuel tax on gasoline, diesel and LPG butane by 15 percent, which went
into effect on Nov. 6, 2018, and will remain in effect until May 6, 2019, to ease the burden on households and small
businesses.

housing rental prices fell by 1.8 percent and

Table Ⅱ- 9. CPI Inflation & Core Inflation

1.1 percent year-on-year, respectively, under

(Year-on-year)
(%)

2017

the housing supply and demand conditions, in

2018
Year

Ⅰ

Ⅱ

Ⅲ

Ⅳ

line with an increase in the available number
of new apartment units.

1.9

1.5

1.1

1.5

1.6

1.8

Agricultural&marine
products

5.5

3.7

0.7

2.0

4.9

7.1

Industrial products

1.4

1.3

0.7

1.5

1.8

1.1

7.7

6.8

3.8

5.1

-1.4 -2.9 -1.9 -3.0 -7.0

0.3

Services

2.0

1.6

1.5

1.7

1.5

1.6

Rentals for housing

1.6

0.6

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

Public services

1.0

0.2

0.5

0.3

0.0

0.1

Personal services

2.5

2.5

2.2

2.7

2.5

2.6

CPI excluding food &
energy1)

1.5

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.1

1.1

CPI excluding agricultural products & oils2)

1.5

1.2

1.1

1.3

1.0

1.3

Notes: 1) Excluding food(apart from liquor) and energy from the CPI.
2) E
 xcluding agricultural products(apart from grain) and petroleum products(includes city gas) from the CPI.

	(Compared with last months of previous
periods)
(%)

2017

2018
Year

Ⅰ

Ⅱ

Ⅲ

Ⅳ

1.5

1.1

0.5

0.0

0.3

0.3

Seoul metropolitan
area

2.4

3.3

1.1

0.4

1.0

0.7

Non-Seoul metropolitan area

0.7 -0.9 -0.1 -0.3 -0.3 -0.1

Housing prices

Housing leasehold
deposits

0.6 -1.8 -0.3 -0.7 -0.5 -0.3

Housing monthly
rent prices

-0.3 -1.1 -0.2 -0.3 -0.3 -0.3

Source: Statistics Korea.
Source: Korea Appraisal Board.

Downturn in Growth Rate of Housing Sales
Amid Falling Leasehold Deposit Prices

Housing sale prices rose by 1.1 percent,

(4) Current Account
Continuing Current Account Surplus

showing a slowdown in the pace of increase
compared to the previous year. The disparity

The current account in 2018 recorded a

between Seoul and other areas grew marked-

surplus of 76.4 billion dollars. It sustained a

ly across the board. In the Seoul Metropolitan

surplus trend led by a decline in the service

Area, sale prices demonstrated an upward

account deficit, despite a decrease in the goods

trend, driven by growing investment demand

account surplus compared to 2017. The prima-

in line with expectations of future housing

ry income account saw the scale of the surplus

price growth,12) while other areas saw a de-

narrow, due to domestic companies' growing

crease due to expansions in their housing

propensity toward the payment of dividends,

supplies and regional economic slumps.

while the secondary income account expand-

Leasehold deposit prices and monthly

ed its deficit.

12) However, the upward trend in housing sale prices slowed after the announcement of the government’s housing
market stabilization measures on Sept. 13.

1. Real Economy

6.7 11.7

Electricity, gas &
water supply

Table Ⅱ- 10. R
 ate of Increase in Housing Prices
and Housing Leasehold Deposits
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Consumer price index

Oils

the influence of a significant improvement in

Figure Ⅱ- 4. Current Account

Table Ⅱ- 11. Exports by Major Item
(%)

Goods

Services

Primary income

Secondary income

2017

% % Shares % % Shares
Change in total Change in total

Current account

22

(hundred million dollar)

(hundred million dollar)

1,500

1,500

1,200

1,200
900

1,051

979

900
830

752

600

764

600

300

300

0

0

-300

-300

-600

-600
2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

p

Source: Bank of Korea.

Increase in Exports

2018

IT products

21.6

<34.4>

11.5

<36.4>

Semiconductors

60.2

<17.5>

28.9

<21.4>

Wireless communication equipment

-22.7

<3.5>

-12.4

<2.9>

9.0

<4.8>

-9.9

<4.1>

10.6

<1.5>

18.5

<1.7>

13.0

<65.6>

2.2

<63.6>

Automobiles

-0.8

<11.2>

-1.3

<10.5>

Petroleum products

32.2

<6.2>

32.5

<7.8>

Chemical products

18.8

<11.4>

12.6

<12.2>

Machinery products

12.6

<9.2>

9.9

<9.6>

Ships

23.6

<7.2>

-49.9

<3.4>

15.8

[5,737]

5.4

[6,049]

Display panels
Computers
Non-IT products

Total exports

1)

Note: 1) Figures in square brackets are the total amount of exports

Exports on a customs-clearance basis recorded 604.9 billion dollars, up by 5.4 per-

(hundred million USD).
Sources: K
 orea International Trade Association, Korea Customs
Service.

cent from the previous year. With regard to
IT products, exports of semiconductors and

Increase in Imports

computers exhibited a sharp rise, bolstered by
growing investment in data centers by major

Imports on a customs-clearance basis rose

IT companies. However, exports of wireless

by 11.9 percent over the previous year to a total

communication equipment and display panels

value of 535.2 billion dollars. Imports of raw

declined owing to the smartphone market

materials, such as crude oil and gas, surged

reaching the maturity stage and the expansion

significantly, driven by the increased prices of

of supply by Chinese companies, respectively.

international oil prices. Imports of consumer

In terms of exports in non-IT sectors, exports

goods displayed a significant increase, mainly

of ships and automobiles declined due to a

led by direct consumption goods and non-du-

decrease in the backlog in the shipbuilding

rable goods. On the other hand, the growth of

industry and sluggish sales of automobiles

increase in imports of capital goods contracted

in North America, respectively. However,

compared to 2017 because imports of machin-

exports of petroleum and chemical products

ery products and semiconductor manufactur-

surged dramatically due to solid demand and

ing equipment decreased.

the increase in international oil prices.

Table Ⅱ- 12. Imports by Major Item

Figure Ⅱ- 5. Services Account
(%)

2017

2018

% % Shares % % Shares
Change in total Change in total
22.0 <48.7>

19.7 <52.1>

Capital goods

16.2 <35.9>

1.6 <32.6>

12.9 <20.0>

4.8 <18.8>

Electric·electronic
machine
Machinery·precision
equipment

-4.1 <11.3>

Other services1)

Travel

Services

(hundred million dollar)

300

200

200

100

100

0

0

-100

-33

Consumer goods
Total imports1)

<4.1>

-2.3

<3.6>

-100
-146

-200

120.8

(hundred million dollar)

300

-300

-300
-297
-367

-400

9.2 <15.4>

10.9 <15.2>

17.8 [4,785]

11.9 [5,352]

Note: 1) Figures in square brackets are the total amount of imports
(hundred million USD).
Sources: K
 orea International Trade Association, Korea Customs
Service.

Decrease in the Services Account Deficit

-200

-173

-400

-500

-500
2014

2015

2016

2017

2018p

Note: 1) Total of other services accounts including other business
services, telecommunications, computer, and information
services.
Source: Bank of Korea.

(5) Regional Economic Trends

The services account registered a deficit of

With regard to production activities by re-

29.7 billion dollars, reducing the scale of deficit

gion, manufacturing production increased

from 2017, resulting from a decline in the trav-

over the previous year in the Seoul Metro-

el account deficit. The construction account

politan and Chungcheong regions, driven

widened its margin of surplus as the slump

by semiconductors, petrochemicals and

in construction orders from overseas slightly

pharmaceutical products. On the other hand,

improved after 2017 while the manufacturing

it declined in the Dongnam, Honam and Da-

services account expanded its deficit. The scale

egyeong regions due to slowdowns in iron

of the travel account deficit narrowed, due

& steel, automobiles, shipbuilding, mobile

to an increase in foreign tourists particularly

phones and displays. The scale of increase in

from China and Japan.

services production expanded compared to
2017 in the Seoul Metropolitan, Dongnam
and Gangwon regions. In other regions, the
growth rate in services production narrowed
from 2017, mainly because of slumps in food
& accommodation and real estate services.
With regard to the demand-side trends,13)
retail sales widened the pace of increase in the
Seoul Metropolitan, Gangwon and Jeju regions, while they shifted to an increase in the

23
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(Semiconductor manufacturing equipment)

31.9 <13.2>

Construction services

Transport

II. Economic Trends

Crude material & fuel

Manufacturing services
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Honam region. However, the growth rate in

employment rates maintained similar levels to

retail sales slightly decreased in the Chungc-

2017 in the Seoul Metropolitan and Dongnam

heong region, while that of the Daegyeong

regions, while rising in other regions.

region went down to zero percent, and that

Consumer prices narrowed their upward

of the Dongnam region sustained the down-

trend compared to 2017 across all regions due

ward trend of 2017. With regard to facilities

to a decline in prices of livestock products and

investment, the Business Survey Index (BSI)

a slowdown in the growth rate of public ser-

for facilities investment went down compared

vices and housing rental costs, despite a con-

with the previous year in most regions, driven

tinued upswing in petroleum product prices

by adjustments following a sharp rise in 2017

and personal service costs.

and sluggish business conditions in key in-

Housing sale prices rose in the Seoul Met-

dustries. In terms of construction investment,

ropolitan, Honam and Daegyeong regions,

the Daegyeong region saw a sharp rise in the

driven by investment demand and favor-

total area of new construction projects follow-

able conditions for regional development. In

ing the commencement of the construction of

contrast, those in the Jeju region showed a

more residential and commercial buildings,

slowdown in their upward trend, while they

while the Chungcheong region displayed an

declined in other regions compared to 2017,

upward movement bolstered by a growing

due to adverse conditions in local economies

number of construction projects for com-

in the Dongnam and Gangwon regions and

mercial buildings. The other regions showed

the accumulation of unsold apartment units in

a downward trend centered on residential

the Chungcheong region. Leasehold deposit

buildings.

prices showed a decline in most regions except

Exports showed a double-digit growth

for the Honam region, affected by an increase

rate in the majority of regions. However, the

in new apartment units available and unsold

Dongnam and Daegyeong regions saw their

apartment units.

exports decline over 2017, based on the effects
of a contraction in ship deliveries and lower
global demand for mobile phones and displays, respectively.
The number of persons employed declined
from 2017 in the Dongnam, Daeg yeong,
Gangwon and Jeju regions due to slumps
in major industries, while the employment
growth rate narrowed significantly in the
Seoul Metropolitan region. However, the pace
of increase in the number of persons employed
widened in the Chungcheong region due to
a buoyant regional economy, and shifted to a
slight upward trend in the Honam region. Un-

13) The trends of regional consumption and facilities investment and construction investment are estimated using retail
sales indexes, the facilities investment BSI, and the total area of new construction.

Table Ⅱ- 13. Major Indicators by Region1)
(%)

Seoul Metropolitan

Dongnam

Chungcheong

Honam

Daegyeong

Gangwon

Jeju

2017 2018p 2017 2018p 2017 2018p 2017 2018p 2017 2018p 2017 2018p 2017 2018p

Services production
index2)
Demand
Retail sales index2)

6.0

-3.6

-1.9

10.1

1.0

0.3

-3.5

-3.4

-2.0

5.7

-5.0

6.6

-5.4

2.6

2.7

1.0

1.1

2.0

1.3

1.3

1.0

1.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

4.7

2.6

1.4

3.9

-0.8

-0.1

1.5

0.6

-0.7

0.7

0.3

0.0

1.5

2.4

2.3

11.0

97

96

93

91

96

97

97

96

90

82

102

97

118

102

-3.5

2.1

13.3 -11.6 20.5

14.8

Area of new
construction2)

-9.1

-6.1 -24.0 -25.9

Exports3)

17.9

12.7

15.0 -16.3 -27.1
7.0

Employment
Change in number of
199.0 75.4 25.4 -13.5 49.3 68.2 -13.3
employed persons4)
Unemployment rate
Prices
CPI2)

4.2

4.2

3.7

3.7

2.8

13.0
3.2

3.2

2.9

3.0

14.6

41.8 -16.8

-2.0 -34.9 -19.5

-5.9

17.6 20.4

17.4

-1.1

19.4

-2.2

2.9

1.9

2.0

7.4

-4.6 -32.7 40.3
3.4

4.2

2.6

2.0

1.4

1.7

1.5

1.9

1.5

2.0

1.5

1.9

1.6

2.0

1.6

2.3

1.7

Housing sales prices5)

2.5

3.3

0.1

-3.6

0.2

-0.8

1.9

2.1

0.0

0.6

2.4

-1.6

1.7

0.9

Housing leasehold
deposit prices5)

1.4

-1.5

-0.9

-4.1

-0.2

-1.7

1.4

0.5

-0.7

-1.6

1.8

-2.7

0.1

-1.8

Notes: 1) Seoul Metropolitan region includes Seoul, Incheon and Gyeonggi‐do, Dongnam region includes Busan, Ulsan and Gyeongsangnam‐do,
and Daegyeong region includes Daegu and Gyeongsangbuk‐do.
2) Year-on-year rates of change.		

3) Customs-clearance basis, year-on-year rates of change.

4) Year-on-year change (thousand persons).
5) Rates of change compared with last months of previous years.
Sources: Bank of Korea, Statistics Korea, Ministry of Land, Infrastructure and Transport, Korea Customs Service, Korea Appraisal Board.
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Production
Manufacturing
production index2)

2. Financial and Foreign Exchange Markets

Table Ⅱ- 14. M
 ajor International Interest Rates
and Risk Premia (As of period-end)
(% per annum, bp)
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2017

A. International Financial Markets

2018
Ⅰ

Ⅱ

Ⅲ

Ⅳ

Long-term interest rate

Varying Trends in Long-term Interest Rates

U.S.

2.41 2.74 2.86 3.06 2.68

Across Countries

Germany

0.42 0.49 0.30 0.47 0.24

Japan

0.05 0.05 0.04 0.13 0.00

U.S. long-term interest rates on a 10-year

Risk premium

Treasury bond yield basis declined in the

U.S.corporate bond

fourth quarter of 2018 because of increas-

spread1)

ing concerns about an economic slowdown,

EMEs CDS premium2)

119 137 191 193 207

weakened expectations of interest rate hikes

EMEs spread

311 326 388 362 435

by the U.S. Federal Reserve, and the U.S. government shutdown, while they had previously
risen based on the effects of interest rate hikes

3)

178 189 198 183 248

Notes: 1) Yield on 10-year corporate bond (Baa).
2) Weighted average of 14 EMEs’ CDS premium by Markit.
3) JP Morgan EMBI+ (Emerging Markets Bond Index Plus).
Sources: Bloomberg, JP Morgan, Markit.

by the U.S. Federal Reserve and robust U.S.
economic growth. In the euro area, Germa-

Weakened Stock Markets in Both Advanced

ny’s long-term rates fell due to factors such

and Emerging Economies

as the European Central Bank (ECB) maintaining an accommodative policy stance and

The U.S. Dow Jones Industrial Average

a preference for safe assets driven by political

showed upward movement due to improve-

uncertainty in the euro area, while Japan’s

ments in corporate performances, but later

long-term interest rates showed horizontal

plunged in the fourth quarter of 2018, driven

movement within a narrow range around zero

by spreading concerns about a global eco-

percent.

nomic slowdown, recording a 5.6-percent de-

Credit Default Swap (CDS) premiums in

cline from the previous year-end. Stock prices

emerging economies and Emerging Market

in the euro area and Japan also fell by 14.3

Bond Index Plus (EMBI+) spreads rose sharp-

and 12.1 percent, respectively. Stock prices in

ly, influenced by the growing burden of debt

emerging countries decreased by 16.6 percent

in the wake of interest rate hikes by the U.S.

from the end of 2017, owing to financial un-

Federal Reserve and the appreciation of the

rest in vulnerable emerging economies, in line

U.S. dollar, along with financial unrest in

with the exacerbation of global trade disputes

some vulnerable emerging economies.

and interest rate hikes by the U.S. Federal Reserve.

Figure Ⅱ- 6. S tock Prices of Major Advanced
Economies a nd MSCI Emer ging
Markets Index
Dow Jones

Nikkei

Eurostoxx

MSCI EM

(2016.1.=100)

Figure Ⅱ- 7. Major Exchange Rates
Yen/Dollar (left)

Dollar/Euro (right)

(yen/dollar)(dollar/euro)
130

1.3
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(2016.1.=100)

180

180

140

140

120

120

100

100

110

1.1

100

1.0

90

0.9
2016

80

80
2016

2017

2017

2018

Source: Bloomberg.

2018

Source: Bloomberg.

B. Domestic Financial Markets

U.S. Dollar Strengthens Against Major Cur-

(1) Interest Rates

rencies
Decline in Domestic Long-term Interest

The U.S. dollar exhibited an overall up-

Rates

swing against major currencies, affected by a
robust U.S. economy and interest rate hikes by

The three-year Treasury bond yield regis-

the U.S. Federal Reserve. Entering December,

tered 1.82 percent at the end of 2018, down

however, the dollar depreciated against the

significantly from the 2.14 percent seen at the

Japanese yen due to an increasing preference

end of 2017. Chronologically, after fluctuating

for safe assets driven by concerns about a

due to a mix of effects, including interest rate

global economic slowdown.

hikes by the U.S. Federal Reserve and con-

14)

cerns about the proliferation of protectionism,
it turned downward starting in mid-May, in
line with the escalation of external uncertainties driven by the U.S.-China trade dispute.
After August, it then extended its decline,
driven by sluggish domestic employment indicators, reversing after mid-September to a
slight rise due to expectations of a domestic
Base Rate increase. The Treasury bond yield

14) In 2018, the U.S. dollar appreciated by 4.9 percent against the euro, while depreciating by 2.4 percent against the
yen.

2. Financial and Foreign Exchange Markets

160

1.2

II. Economic Trends

160

120

shifted to a decline repeatedly from mid-October on the effects of concerns about a slow-

Figure Ⅱ- 9. C orporate Bond Credit Spreads 1)
and Risk Premium2)

down in global economic growth, sluggish
Corporate bond (AA-) credit spread (left)

economic indicators in Korea, and a reduction
28

Corporate bond (A-) credit spread (right)

in the volume of Treasury bond issuance.

Corporate bond risk premium (right)

After fluctuating within a limited range, the
yield on 91-day Monetary Stabilization Bonds
turned positive starting in mid-September
due to expectations of a Base Rate hike.

(bp)(bp)
90

200

70

170

50

140

30

110

Figure Ⅱ- 8. M ajor Market Interest Rates and
Term-spread1)
3-year KTBs (left)

91-day MSBs (left)

3-year AA- corporate bonds (left)

Base rate (left)

Term spread (right)
(% per annum)

(%p)

3.0

2.0

10
2017.1

80
7

2018.1

7

Notes: 1) Y ields difference between 3-year corporate bonds and
3-year KTBs.
2) Y ields difference between 3-year A- corporate bonds and

2.5

1.5

3-year AA- corporate bonds.
Source: Korea Financial Investment Association.

2.0

1.0

Increase in Bank Lending and Deposit Rates

1.5

0.5

Interest rates on bank loans and deposits (a

1.0
2017.1

0.0

newly-taken basis) fluctuated within a lim7

2018.1

7

Note: 1) Yields difference between 3-year KTBs and Base Rate.
Sources: Korea Financial Investment Association, Bank of Korea.

ited range, later rising in the fourth quarter
because of the Base Rate hike. The rise in
lending rates, however, was limited due to
a decline in long-term market interest rates,

The corporate bond credit spread over the
Treasury bond yield narrowed, especially for
non-prime bonds, as demand for corporate
bonds remained steady due to the merits of
corporate bond interest rates.

resulting in a decrease in the spread between
bank lending and deposit rates.

Table Ⅱ- 15. B
 anks’ Weighted Average Interest
Rates on Loans and Deposits

the decline was relatively limited. The KOSPI
closed for the year at 2,041, down 17.3 percent

(Newly-taken basis)
(% per annum, %p)

2017

cline in U.S. stock prices, but the extent of

2018

Dec.(C) Mar. Jun. Sep. Dec.(D)

D-C

Loans to corporations

3.64 3.66 3.63 3.62 3.77 +0.13

Loans to households

3.61 3.69 3.72 3.62 3.61 0.00

Interest rates on
deposits(B)

1.81 1.85 1.87 1.84 2.05 +0.24

Loans-deposits
interest spread(A-B)

1.81 1.82 1.78 1.77 1.67 -0.14

along with the KOSPI, also under the influence of external risk factors. Accordingly, it
ended the year at 676, lower by 15.4 percent
than at the previous year-end.

Figure Ⅱ- 10. KOSPI and KOSDAQ Index
KOSPI (left)

KOSDAQ Index (right)

(1980.1.4.=100)
Source: Bank of Korea.

(1996.7.1.=1,000)

2,700

1,050

2,600
2,500

(2) Capital Markets

2,400

KOSPI Plunges

2,200

950

2,300

850

2,100

The Korea Composite Stock Price Index
(KOSPI) declined dramatically, mainly affected by external factors. Chronologically, it
recorded an all-time high of 2,598 on Jan. 29
as expectations for improvement in corporate

750

2,000
1,900

650

1,800
1,700
2017.1

550
7

2018.1

7

Source: KOSCOM.

performances continued at the beginning of
the year. It subsequently fell by a large margin
in February due to concerns about accelerated

(3) Deposits and Loans at Financial Institutions

interest rate hikes by the U.S. Federal Reserve
and a sharp decline in global stock prices.

Acceleration of the Increase of Bank Depos-

After rebounding during an easing of geopo-

it-taking

litical risks related to North Korea, it reversed
again to a sharp decline in May owing to the

Bank deposit-taking expanded its margin of

escalation of the U.S.-China trade dispute.

growth over 2017, led by time deposits. This

Entering the second half, stocks showed some

is mainly attributable to banks’ enhanced

fluctuation due to a series of external factors,

competiveness in deposit-taking in the wake

and then fell to their lowest level of the year

of rising interest rates for time deposits, and

at 1,996 on Oct. 29 due to intensified concerns

to the strengthening of efforts to raise funds

about the U.S.-China trade dispute and a

in order to manage the liquidity coverage ratio

plunge in global stock prices. In December,

(LCR), which is a Basel III indicator for the

the index fell again, affected by a sharp de-

short-term resilience of banks.
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3.62 3.67 3.65 3.61 3.72 +0.10

The KOSDAQ index also showed a decline

II. Economic Trends

Interest rates on
loans(A)

compared to the end of 2017.

In the case of deposit-taking by non-bank
financial institutions, the scale of growth

Table Ⅱ- 16. Deposits at Financial Institutions
(Changes in amounts during the period)

at asset management companies expanded

(trillion won)

compared to 2017 as capital inflow into stock30

2017

and bond-type funds increased, combined
with the continued large inflow into new

Bank accounts1)

2018
Year

Ⅰ

Ⅱ

Ⅲ

Ⅳ

79.5 91.6 14.5 37.6 13.3 26.3

funds. However, deposits into money market

Demand deposits

14.3

funds (MMFs) declined due to the redemp-

Time & savings
deposits

47.6 77.6 18.4 24.1 19.1 15.9

tion of financial instruments invested into
asset-backed commercial paper (ABCP) based

6.3 -5.1

7.5 -3.8

7.7

on Qatari banks’ time deposits.15) Meanwhile,

Transferable
deposits

19.7

the growth in deposit-taking by non-bank de-

Time deposits

28.8 72.2 16.4 20.0 24.7 11.0

pository institutions, such as credit cooperatives, sustained an upward trend as the merits
of their interest rates continued.

Marketable
instruments2)
Asset management
companies
MMFs

17.7

4.6

7.8

3.5

1.2

4.0

5.9 -2.0

27.9 53.8 24.9 18.9
-7.0

-7.7

7.9

-7.0

4.2

2.7

0.6

9.4

0.0 -14.0

-1.7

Stock-type funds

4.2

7.3

3.4

0.1

1.4

2.4

Bond-type funds

-8.6

6.4

-1.6

4.5

3.4

0.0

New funds3)

45.3 48.3 14.8 14.2 10.1

9.2

Mutual
savings banks
Credit cooperatives4)

6.9

8.6

1.6

2.0

44.6 39.7 10.0 10.0

2.1

2.9

8.2 11.5

Notes: 1) The figures exclude deposits from bank, government, and
non-residents.
2) CD, RP, cover bills, bank debentures.
3) D
 erivatives·real estate·indirect·special-asset·mixed-asset funds.
4) Mutual credits, community credit cooperatives, credit unions.
Sources: Bank of Korea, Korea Financial Investment Association.

15) The escalation of financial unrest in Turkey resulted in the spread of caution toward Qatari banks, which are highly
exposed to Turkish issues.

Expansion of Corporate Lending Amid a
Slowdown in Household Lending

Table Ⅱ- 17. Loans by Financial Institutions
(Changes in amounts during the period)
(trillion won)

The scale of increase in corporate lending
2017

expanded compared to 2017. The extent of
increase in corporate lending by banks exSMEs, SOHOs in particular, as bank lending
to large corporations shifted upward due to
the increased demand for working capital.

Banks

5.6
1.4

SMEs

44.0 39.8 12.7

7.7 15.2

4.2

Non-banks1)

Housing Finance Corporation, widened owing to the increase in leasehold deposit-based
housing transactions and the growing demand for funds related to intermediate payments for pre-sold apartments and entry into
new apartments, despite stricter regulations
on loans.16) In contrast, the extent of household
lending growth by non-bank depository institutions plunged, affected by tightened loan

6.9

41.8 43.6

1.8

2.3

9.5 12.2 11.3 10.6

100.3 74.4 17.1 22.0 18.0 17.3
43.3 52.4

8.2 12.8 14.2 17.2

Mortgage loans

21.6 30.1

4.6

6.0

8.6 10.8

Other loans

21.6 22.4

3.6

6.8

5.6

6.4

22.6

0.7

2.6

0.0

3.5

Non-bank depository
institutions3)

6.8

Mortgage loans

10.8 -3.9 -0.5 -0.8 -1.5 -1.1

Other loans

11.8 10.7

1.3

3.3

1.5

Other financial
institutions4)

34.4 15.2

8.2

6.6

3.7 -3.4

4.6

Notes: 1) Includes public loans and others. Based on loans by mutual
savings banks, credit unions, mutual credits, community
credit cooperatives and insurance companies.
2) Based on household credit statistics.
3) M utual savings banks, credit unions, mutual credits, community credit cooperatives, trusts, and postal savings.
4) Insurance companies, pension funds, specialized credit
financial companies, public financial institutions, etc.
Source: Bank of Korea, Financial Supervisory Service.

regulations, an increase in redemption of existing loans related to intermediate payments
of pre-sold apartments, and a slowdown in
local housing markets. Other financial institutions’ lending to households also saw the
extent of growth narrow due to a contraction
in the supply of policy mortgage loans by the
Korea Housing Finance Corporation.

16) After decreases in LTV and DTI ratios (the LTV cap fell from 60 percent to 40 percent and the DTI cap fell from 50
percent to 40 percent in speculative and overheated zones) according to the August 2 Measure for Stabilizing the
Housing Market, the new DTI ratio was adopted from January 31, 2018 and mortgage loans for multiple housing
owners were essentially prohibited in regulated areas under the September 13 Measure.
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cluding mortgage loans assigned to the Korea

Ⅳ

1.4

Deposit banks

growth in household lending by banks, ex-

Ⅲ

-3.7

stitutions also slightly expanded compared to

er scale of growth than in 2017. The extent of

Ⅱ

40.4 46.7 14.6 10.0 16.5

Household loans2)

Meanwhile, housing lending showed a low-

Ⅰ

Large corporations

Corporate lending by non-bank financial in2017.

Year

82.2 90.3 24.0 22.2 27.8 16.2

II. Economic Trends

panded over 2017, despite a decline in loans to

Corporate loans

2018

(4) Foreign Exchange Market

compared to the exchange rate of 949.2 at the
end of 2017 (based on the basic exchange rate

Year-on-year Rise in USD/KRW Exchange

set by KEB Hana Bank).

Rate
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The USD/KRW exchange rate fell to 1,054.2

Figure Ⅱ- 11. Korean Won Exchange Rates1)

won at the beginning of the year, affected by
a weakening of the U.S. dollar, the continued
growth of the Korean economy and the easing

KRW/USD (left)

KRW/100JPY (right)

(won/dollar)(won/100yen)
1,300

1,300

1,200

1,200

1,100

1,100

1,000

1,000

of North Korea-related risks, later remaining
stable after mid-April when the U.S. dollar appreciated. Entering June, however, it depreciated sharply owing to the strengthening of the
dollar, affected by growing expectations for a
differentiation of monetary policy stances between the U.S. dollar and other major currencies and by the exacerbation of the U.S.-China
trade dispute. In October, it rose to the 1,140won level, driven by an increase in U.S. Treasury bond yields and a plunge in global equity

900
2017.1

900
7

2018.1

7

Note: 1) U SD/KRW : Closing price in the Seoul Foreign Exchange
Market. JPY Quoted by KEB Hana Bank.
Sources: Bank of Korea, KEB Hana Bank.

prices. Although the volatility of international
financial markets, such as fluctuations in

The USD/KRW exchange rate showed sim-

global stock prices, continued to expand,

ilar movements in both intra-day and day-to-

the USD/KRW exchange rate showed stable

day volatilities as those in the previous year,

movement as financial markets in emerging

averaging 5.4 and 4.1 won, respectively, for the

market economies, which experienced a large

year as a whole, close to the 5.5 and 4.4 seen

adjustment in stock prices and currency values

in 2017.

throughout the year, became relatively stable.
At year-end 2018, the exchange rate stood at
1,115.7 won, so the Korean won was down
by 4.1 percent in value against the U.S. dollar
compared to the exchange rate of 1,070.5 won
seen at the end of 2017.
Meanwhile, the JPY/KRW exchange rate
(per 100 yen) rose as the yen appreciated due
to the growing preference for safe assets in
line with concerns about the U.S.-China trade
dispute and a slowdown in the global stock
market. At the end of 2018, the rate was 1,008.8
per 100 yen, so the Korean won was down by
5.9 percent in value against the Japanese yen

Figure Ⅱ- 12. KRW/USD Exchange Rate Volatility
Intra-day

Day-to-day

1)

percentage points compared to the end of
2017, combined with a decrease in Treasury
bond rates.

2)

(won)
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Figure Ⅱ- 13. Foreign Exchange Swap Rate and
Currency Swap Rate
Foreign exchange swap rate (3-month)
Currency swap rate (3-year)
(% per annum)
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Notes: 1) Averages of ‘the intra-day highest rate - intra-day lowest rate’
2) Averages of the absolute value of ‘the day closing rate - the
previous day closing rate’
Source: Bank of Korea.

Decline of Foreign Exchange Swap Rate,
Currency Swap Rate
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Sources: Bank of Korea, Korea Money Brokerage Corp., Tullet prebon
Money Brokerage Korea Ltd.

The foreign exchange swap rate17) with a
three-month maturity registered a negative
1.33 percent, 0.70 percentage points lower
than at the end of 2017, based on a widening
of the negative spread between domestic and
international interest rates in the wake of the
U.S. Federal Reserve’s continuous stance to
raise interest rates.
The currency swap rate18) with a three-year
maturity was at 1.14 percent, down by 0.43

17) A foreign exchange swap is a transaction through which two parties exchange different currencies at a certain
point in time at an agreed exchange rate. They then re-exchange the principals after a set period at the forward
exchange rate that was determined when the relevant contract was concluded. The foreign exchange swap rate is
expressed as the annualized rate (%) of the difference between the forward and spot exchange rates as against the
spot exchange rate: {(Forward exchange rate - Spot exchange rate) / Spot exchange rate}.
18) A currency swap resembles a foreign exchange swap in that two parties exchange different currencies and re-exchange the principals after a predetermined period of time. They differ, however, in that the period of maturity for
the former usually exceeds one year, that the parties to a currency swap exchange interest payments during the
contract period, and that the amount of principal exchanged through a currency swap is the same at the time of the
initial exchange and at maturity. The currency swap rate refers to the spread over LIBOR of the fixed interest rate on
the Korean won exchanged.
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1. Medium-term Strategies

years. In accordance with these priorities, all
departments establish and implement their
own key business plans for the corresponding

The Bank of Korea dedicates its utmost

fiscal year.

efforts to fulfilling its objectives of securing

The medium-term strategies in 2018 com-

price and financial stability, and to gaining the

prised of 9 strategic objectives in the major

public’s trust as the nation’s central bank. To

business areas, and 34 related strategic plans.

this end, since 2012 it has annually identified

The following sections outline the key tasks

and implemented a set of strategic priorities

and achievements of these strategic plans in

defining the operational objectives and priori-

the different business areas.

ties for the Bank as a whole over the next three
Table Ⅲ- 1. Medium-term Strategies in 2018
1

Enhancing the Effectiveness of Monetary and Credit Policies

6

Ensuring stable operation of the foreign exchange reserves

Heightening the effectiveness of the operation of policy instruments

Seeking effective investment strategies for responding to changes in the market environment

Heightening the effectiveness of inflation targeting operations
Building a system for the operation of monetary policy in accordance with changes in financial and economic conditions

Expanding capabilities of foreign exchange reserve operations
7

Establishing a stable currency supply and management system
appropriate to the changing currency supply and demand conditions

Strengthening communication for the seamless implementation
of monetary policy
2

Carrying Out Policies for Financial Stability Effectively

Analyzing and studying financial stability and strengthening external cooperation

3

Expanding research studies related to the currency issue system
and currency demand
8

Working to Promote Stability of the Financial and Foreign Exchange Markets

Improving the quality of the Bank’s public communication and
economic education

Working to promote stability of the financial and foreign exchange markets and enhancing their shock absorption capacities
Stepping up monitoring of trends in the financial and foreign
exchange markets and analysis of current issues related to them
4

5

Strengthening Public Communication and International Cooperation

Enhancing policy exchanges and cooperation with international
forums, international organizations and other central banks
9

Rationally Managing Organization and Human Resources

Ensuring the Safety and Efficiency of Payment and Settlement
Systems

Enhancing the efficiency of the organization’s operations and
increasing its accountability

Expanding the infrastructure of payment and settlement systems
to ensure financial stability

Enhancing the sophistication of risk management and strengthening crisis response capacity

Promoting payment and settlement innovation and development

Enhancing specialties and diversity of staff members

Strengthening the oversight and policy functions of payment and
settlement systems

Strengthening the performance- and ability-based human
resource management system

Strengthening Research Studies Related to Current Economic
Issues and Expanding Statistics

Rationally streamlining the compensation and welfare system

Enhancing the accuracy of economic analysis and forecasting
Searching out pathways to sustainable growth
Ensuring that new international statistical standards are applied
and take root stably
Developing and expanding statistics useful in economic forecasting and analysis
Strengthening research exchanges at home and abroad

Improving work infrastructure to ensure safe and effective
business performance
Systematically managing knowledge and information and stepping up information sharing
Expanding and upgrading IT services
Source: Bank of Korea
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Stepping up research studies on cutting-edge anti-counterfeiting
technologies for banknotes and strengthening the system for
sharing information on forged banknotes with other relevant
institutions

Checking financial stability conditions and strengthening related
communication

Actively participating in discussions on global financial regulation
and systemizing the gathering and use of foreign information

Enhancing the Efficient Supply and Reliability of Currency
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Supporting optimal monetary policy decision-making and upgrading the analysis of monetary policy effects

Heightening the Effectiveness of Foreign Exchange Reserve Operations

2. Monetary Policy

2018. The Bank set the inflation target from
2019 onward the same as the previous year’s
at 2.0 percent, based on the year-on-year rate

38

The Bank of Korea devotes its utmost ef-

of increase in consumer price inflation (CPI),

forts to the sound development of the na-

through a comprehensive consideration of the

tional economy by pursuing price stability

probable level of the medium- to long-term

and paying attention to financial stability as

inflation in the Korean economy and taking

well through the efficient establishment and

into consideration cases in major developed

implementation of monetary and credit poli-

countries.

cies. The Bank has selected inflation targeting

A notable feature of the inflation target as

as its operational framework for monetary

set this time is that the period of its applica-

policy, and even under its inflation-targeting

tion is no longer specified. This means that the

regime, policy decisions are made based upon

target level will be maintained as it is going

comprehensive consideration of issues such

forward as long as no reasons necessitating its

as economic growth and financial stability, in

change occur. With the application period not

addition to inflation conditions.

specified, as in major advanced countries, it

In order to effectively achieve its policy

is expected that the Korean system’s stability

objectives, the Bank of Korea determines

and credibility will be increased, and that ex-

the Base Rate and also operates lending and

pected inflation will become more firmly an-

deposit facilities, carries out open market op-

chored at the target level of 2.0 percent. Ulti-

erations, and utilizes the reserve requirement

mately, it is foreseen that a virtuous cycle will

system.

take root: heighten system stability → anchor
expected inflation → stabilize actual inflation

A. Inflation Target

→ boost the credibility of monetary policy.
One more characteristic of this recent set-

The Bank of Korea set a medium-term in-

ting of an inflation target is the fact that com-

flation target of 2.0 percent, based on the year-

munication with the public has been strength-

on-year rate of increase in consumer price

ened. The previous method -- explaining the

inflation (CPI) from 2016 to 2018. The Bank

Bank’s inflation targeting operations to the

has implemented monetary policy so as to

public based on a separate set of responsibili-

keep the inflation rate largely in line with its

ties19) -- was applied only in special conditions,

inflation target.

and as a result the opportunities for commu-

In addition, upon consultation with the

nication were limited.20) However, due to an

government, the Bank announced its “Infla-

expansion in oil price volatility and the possi-

tion Target for 2019 Onwards” on Dec. 26,

bility that the relationship between economic

19) This ensured that the responsibility for explaining inflation targeting operations to the public was executed through
press conferences with the Governor in cases where the consumer price inflation rate had been more than 0.5 percentage points above or below the target level for six consecutive months, and every three months subsequently in
cases where the divergence had persisted even after that.
20) There were just two instances when the conditions that required the exercising of a separate explanation were met,
and those were in July and October 2016.

activity and prices had weakened, uncertain-

dium-term horizon, all while paying close

ties as to inflation conditions and the future

attention to financial stability. 21) Through

forecasts had grown. As a consequence of this,

conducting monetary policy, the Bank closely

the need for strengthened communication

monitored domestic and overseas risk factors,

with the public rose even further. In consid-

such as changes in major central banks’ mon-

eration of these points, the Bank decided to:

etary policies, trade conditions with major

continue issuing the Monetary Policy Report,

economies, financial and economic conditions

a statutory report submitted to the National

in emerging countries, the trend of household

Assembly four times a year as before; have the

debt increasing, and geopolitical risks. In par-

Governor of Bank of Korea attend sessions of

ticular, in November it reduced the degree of

the National Assembly to answer questions

monetary policy accommodation, taking into

when requested; and, starting this year, addi-

account the possibility that the risks to finan-

tionally publish an inflation assessment twice

cial stability could increase due to the accu-

a year and provide explanations of that as-

mulation of household debt.22)

such as press conferences with the Governor.

first half of the year the Bank maintained the

Through these changes, from a separate ex-

Base Rate at 1.5 percent per annum. This pol-

planation method that had been infrequently

icy decision reflected the increase in external

exercised to a method of regular explanations,

uncertainties, such as the strengthening of

it is expected that the public’s degree of un-

trade protectionism and financial instability

derstanding of inflation conditions will be

in emerging countries, although the domestic

heightened. The Bank will review any needs

economy maintained a rate of growth at its

for improvements in the inflation targeting

potential level. In terms of inflation, inflation-

framework every two years, and publish and

ary pressure on the demand side remained

explain its results so as to enhance the quality

weak, although consumer prices rose to the

of communication from an institutional per-

mid-1 percent range owing to the increase in

spective.

prices for agricultural products.
During the second half of the year, the Bank

B. Base Rate

kept the Base Rate unchanged in consideration
of heightened risks at home and abroad, such

In 2018, the Bank of Korea maintained its

as increased financial instability in emerging

accommodative monetary policy stance so

countries following the U.S. Federal Reserve’s

that the recovery of economic growth would

rate hikes and sluggish domestic employment

continue and consumer price inflation would

conditions. In November, meanwhile, the

be stabilized at the target level over the me-

Bank raised the Base Rate by 0.25 percentage

21) For more information, see “Minutes of the Monetary Policy Board Meeting.”
22) Monetary Policy Board Meetings were held on a total of eight occasions in 2018, in January, February, April, May,
July, August, October and November. Minority comments by Board members were made at four meetings, in July,
August, October and November, with Lee Il Houng suggesting a 0.25 percentage point increase in July and August, Lee Il Houng and Koh Seung Beom suggesting a 0.25 percentage point increase in October, and Cho Dongchul and Shin Inseok recommending a freeze in November.
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Looking at this in more detail, during the
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sessment to the public through various means,

39

points to 1.75 percent per annum. This policy
decision was based on the forecast that the
domestic economy would continue to grow at
a rate that does not diverge significantly from

Figure Ⅲ- 1. Bank of Korea Base Rate
(% per annum)

(% per annum)

4

4

3

3

its potential level and that inflation would
fluctuate within the mid-to-high-1 percent
range despite the high prospect of uncertainty
at home and abroad. It was also considered

(March 12, 2015)
(November 30, 2018)

2

(June 9, 2016)

2

that, as household debt was increasing faster
than household income, the continuation of

(June 11, 2015)

1

sequently result in the widening of financial
40

imbalances and increase risks to financial stability.

1

(November 30, 2017)

accommodative financial conditions may sub0

0
2015

2016

2017

2018

Source: Bank of Korea.

Although the Bank raised the Base Rate
once in 2018, its monetary policy stance and

C. Lending and Deposit Facilities

general financial conditions still remained
accommodative, and played a positive role

The Bank of Korea offers lending and de-

in helping the domestic economy to main-

posit services to financial institutions as part

tain a pace of growth that did not diverge

of its role as a central bank responsible for

significantly from the potential growth rate.

monetary and credit policy. The Bank’s cur-

However, external risks, such as continued

rent credit businesses include the Bank-Inter-

policy-rate hikes by the U.S. Federal Reserve,

mediated Lending Support Facility, Liquidity

trade disputes between the U.S. and China,

Adjustment Loans and Intra-day Overdrafts,

and financial instability in emerging coun-

while its deposit businesses consist of Current

tries, increased uncertainty along the pro-

Account Deposits, Fund Adjustment Deposits

jected path of economic growth. The rate of

and Monetary Stabilization Account Deposits.

household debt growth slowed thanks to the

As of the end of 2018, the balance of the

effects of the government’s macroprudential

Bank’s won-denominated loans to financial

policy, as well as the Base Rate hike. However,

institutions stood at 14.0859 trillion won,

the risk of accumulated financial imbalances

down by 3.0996 trillion won compared to the

persisted as the increase in household debt

end of 2017.

outpaced that of income, and the exposure of
financial institutions to the real estate market
expanded.

Table Ⅲ- 2. Loans1) of Bank of Korea (As of year-end)
(hundred million won)

Outstanding

Change

Improving the Bank-Intermediated Lending Support Facility
The Bank of Korea operates the Bank-Inter-

2017

2018

Bank-intermediated
Lending Support Facility

171,855

140,859

-30,996

increase the effectiveness of financial support

Total

171,855

140,859

-30,996

for local small and medium-sized enterprises

mediated Lending Support Facility in order to

Note: 1) Exclude loans to government.

(SMEs) that suffer difficulties caused by corporate restructuring, and to help SMEs that

Source: Bank of Korea.

contribute to job creation.
First, from March to April the Bank pre-

deposits held totaled 134.0387 trillion won,

pared and implemented plans to provide fi-

21.5584 trillion won higher than at year-end

nancial support for SMEs in the Jeonbuk and

2017. Among them, won-denominated depos-

Gyeongnam regions, which faced difficulties

its had increased by 1.9795 trillion won, and

in raising funds due to GM Korea’s decision

deposits in foreign currencies by 19.5789 tril-

to close its factory in Gunsan, and due to re-

lion won.

structuring at both Sungdong Shipbuilding
& Marine Engineering and at STX Offshore
& Shipbuilding. In March, it was decided to

Table Ⅲ- 3. Deposits with Bank of Korea

utilize 40 billion won23) from the Bank-Inter-

(As of year-end)
(hundred million won)

Outstanding
2017
Financial institutions
Non-resident

1)

Foreign currency
deposits
Total

so as to strengthen support for SMEs in the
Change

Jeonbuk region that were suffering difficul-

668,368

688,163

19,795

ties stemming from GM Korea’s decision to

615,940

640,875

24,935

close its factory in Gunsan, and from Hyundai

52,428

47,287

-5,141

Heavy Industries’ shutdown of its shipyard

456,435

652,224

195,789

1,124,803 1,340,387

215,584

in Gunsan. 24) In addition, in April, it was
determined to utilize a further 30 billion
won25) from the Bank-Intermediated Lending

Note: 1) Won deposits of international organization, including the IMF.

Support Facility’s ceiling in order to enhance

Source: Bank of Korea.

support for SMEs in the Gyeongnam region
that were suffering due to the restructuring of
Sungdong Shipbuilding & Marine Engineer-

23) The funds were raised using 25 billion won from the reserves allocated to the Jeonbuk Branch by the Head Office
and then 15 billion won from the Jeonbuk Branch’s own funds.
24) With regard to new loans handled by financial institutions in relation to companies that were affected by GM Korea’s decision to close its Gunsan factory and those that supplied goods or services to Hyundai Heavy Industries’
shipyard in Gunsan for the past two years, it was decided that those financial institutions would receive support
equivalent to 25 percent of the loans at a low rate, 0.75 percent per annum.
25) The funds were raised using 20 billion won from the reserves allocated to the Gyeongnam Branch by the Head Office and then 10 billion won from the Gyeongnam Branch’s own funds.
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Won deposits

2018

mediated Lending Support Facility’s ceiling
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At the end of 2018, the volume of the Bank’s

ing and STX Offshore & Shipbuilding.26)

Trade Financing; 6 trillion won for the Support

In September, in order to enhance the ef-

Program for New Growth Engine Develop-

fectiveness of the Bank-Intermediated Lend-

ment and Job Creation; 11 trillion won for the

ing Support Facility for SMEs that contribute

Program for the Stabilization of SME Lending;

to job creation, the Bank restructured and

0.5 trillion won for the Support Program for

implemented its Support Program for New

Small-scale Businesses; and 5.9 trillion won

Growth Engine Development and Job Cre-

for the Support Program for Regional Enter-

ation that went into effect in November. The

prises. The facility’s interest rates range from

restructured program alleviated some of the

0.50 to 0.75 percent per annum, depending on

requirements that a company that contributed

the program.

to job creation27) faced when applying to the
program to receive support, and expanded the
42

scope of companies that were eligible for support.28) In addition, when calculating financial

Table Ⅲ- 4. Ceiling and Interest Rates by
Bank-intermediated Lending Support
Facility Program1)
(trillion won, % per annum)

institutions’ loan performance for candidates
Program

eligible for the Bank-Intermediated Lending

Ceiling

Interest rate

Support Facility, preferential treatment was

Trade Financing Support

1.5

0.50

given to the performance of loans that were

New Growth Engine Development
and Job Creation2)

6.0

0.50

11.0

0.50~0.75

0.5

0.50

5.9

0.75

25.04)

-

provided by financial institutions to companies that contribute to job creation.29) In November, as financial burdens carried by small
business owners escalated owing to sluggish
business conditions, the Bank decided to extend the temporary operation period of the

Stabilization of SME Lending3)
Small-scale Businesses
Regional Enterprises
Total
Notes: 1) As of the end of 2018.

2) T
 he Bank expanded and reorganized its Support Program

Support Program for Small-scale Businesses

for High-tech and Other Start-up SMEs, renaming it the

for one year, until November 2019.

Support Program for New Growth Engine Development and

The Bank currently operates the Bank-In-

Job Creation in September 2017.
3) S
 upport is provided by including the existing credit that

termediated Lending Support Facility with a

financial institutions had extended under the Support Pro-

ceiling of 25 trillion won as of the end of 2018:

4) Includes 0.1 trillion won for reserves that can be facilitated

1.5 trillion won for the Support Program for

gram for Facilities Investment.
as necessary.
Source: Bank of Korea.

26) With regard to new loans handled by financial institutions in relation to companies that had supplied goods or services to Sungdong Shipbuilding & Marine Engineering and STX Offshore & Shipbuilding over the past year, it was
decided that those financial institutions would receive support equivalent to 25 percent of the loans at a low rate,
0.75 percent per annum.
27) The eligibility requirements of “employing three or more regular workers” and “being in the first seven years of its
operation” that had been applied to the firms contributing to job creation were eliminated.
28) In addition to companies that received tax credits for youth employment, more companies became eligible for support, such as those that increased their total number of employees and those that converted temporary positions
to permanent positions.
29) Previously, with regard to loans given to companies that contribute to job creation, financial institutions were recognized to be handling twice the amount of the loan eligible for the Bank-Intermediated Lending Support Facility.
After the reform, it was decided to recognize three times the amount of the loan as the level eligible for support.

Figure Ⅲ- 2. B
 ank-Intermediated Lending Suppor t Facility Ceiling and Interest
Rates
Ceiling (left)

market operations.
Flexible Liquidity Adjustment

Interest rate (right)

(trillion won)
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(% per annum)
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In 2018, the scale of liquidity adjustment
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basis was 197.3 trillion won, down 3.7 trillion
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attributable mainly to an increase in reserve

15
10

1

demand caused by the significant growth in
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that reduced the scale of its operation of shortterm instruments for liquidity adjustment,
including reverse repos and MSA deposits.

D. Open Market Operations

Net reverse repos on an average outstanding balance basis, that is, reverse repos minus
repos, and the scale of MSA deposits on an

the Bank flexibly adjusted liquidity so as to

average outstanding balance basis decreased

maintain the call rate at the level of the Base

by 1.6 trillion won and 3.4 trillion won, re-

Rate set by the Monetary Policy Board, ap-

spectively, year-on-year in response to the

plying diverse measures for this purpose,

reduced scale of liquidity adjustment required.

including the issuance of MSBs, transactions

Meanwhile, the scale of issuance of MSBs

through repurchase agreements (RPs), and

on an average outstanding balance basis was

accepting term deposits in its Monetary Sta-

expanded by 1.3 trillion won year-on-year

bilization Account (MSA). In addition, the

considering the scale of MSBs that were due

Bank improved the fungible issuance system

to expire and steady investment demand by

of MSBs and the MSA bidding system in order

overseas investors.30)

to have effective control of liquidity and market-friendly operations. In addition, the Bank
reviewed its countermeasures in response to
uncertainties about the monetary policy of
the U.S. Federal Reserve, the potential exacerbation of the U.S.-China trade dispute, and
the potential spread of financial instability in
30) This was partly due to the base effect that the scale of MSBs in 2017 was significantly reduced (6.5 trillion won)
compared to 2016. This was due to a policy to reduce the amount of MSBs issued in the fourth quarter of 2016 in
response to bond market uncertainties. Also, the volume of short-term MSB issuance was reduced, based on concerns about the possibility of a Bank of Korea Base Rate hike in the fourth quarter of 2017.
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In its open market operations during 2018,
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2011

Source: Bank of Korea.

Therefore, the Bank responded in a direction

Figure Ⅲ- 3. T he Share in the Use of the Means
of Open Market Operations1)

Table Ⅲ- 5. The Scale of Liquidity Adjustment of
Open Market Operations
(Average basis)
(trillion won)

2018

2017

Year

Ⅰ

Ⅱ

Ⅲ

170.2 171.5 171.1 171.5 172.8 170.4

Repos net
outstanding
Reverse repos
Repos

44

MSAs

6.5

6.6

8.1

5.8
6.8

8.2

8.0

7.1

6.5

85.7

85.3

87.3

84.7

86.9

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

80%

60%

14.4

12.8

13.9

14.9

11.2

11.4

40%

14.4

12.8

13.9

14.9

11.2

11.4

20%

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

13.0

14.7

1)

16.4

2)

3)

15.2

-

-

12.8

9.5

Notes: 1) Includes 1-day Repo(1.8 trillion won) on January 11, 2017.
		 Includes 1-day Repo(1.4 trillion won) on May 10, 2017.
		 Includes 1-day Repo(3 trillion won) on September 6, 2017.
2) Includes 1-day Repo(0.4 trillion won) on February 7, 2018.
3) Includes 1-day Repo(0.4 trillion won) on April 11, 2018.
Source: Bank of Korea.

As a result, the proportion of liquidity control instruments accounted for by MSBs rose

Reverse repos (net)

MSAs
100%
6.3

Ⅳ

Scale of liquidity
201.0 197.3 199.7 201.6 196.9 191.3
adjustment required
MSBs

MSBs

0%

Note: 1) E xcluding negotiated transaction with Korea Finance Corporation(3.48 trillion won, issued in 2014 and redeemed in 2015)
and Korea Development Bank(3.45 trillion won, issued in
2015 and redeemed in 2016).
Source: Bank of Korea.

Systemic Improvement for Effective Liquidity Adjustment

from 84.7 percent in 2017 to 86.9 percent in
2018. On the other hand, the proportions of

In March 2018, the Bank expanded the fun-

net reverse repos and MSA deposits stood at

gible issuance period of MSBs with one-year

6.5 percent and 6.6 percent, respectively, in

maturities from one month to two months.31)

2018, down from 7.1 and 8.2 percent in 2017.

Starting in November, it made an early redemption of one-year items with remaining
maturities of four months. As a result, the
liquidity of one-year MSBs increased and
investment demand expanded as well. In
addition, the Bank improved MSA competitive bidding system in April to accept the bid
quantity in excess of predetermined issuance
quantity at successful bid rate to a certain
extent. Also, the method of determining a
successful bid rate was changed in a more
market-friendly manner, where they are decided based on the bidding results made by

31) With the extension of the fungible issuance period of MSBs with one-year maturities, the number of items issued
annually decreased from 12 to 6, and the scale of issuance per item doubled.

financial institutions, and the previous use of

the liquidity loosely by reducing the scale of

predetermined maximum bid rate (the upper

reverse repos and MSA deposits so as to en-

limit to the rates at which counterparties may

sure the effective supply and demand of funds

submit bids in the variable rate tenders) was

in the financial markets.

discontinued. Therefore, the Bank became
able to operate MSA deposits more flexibly in

E. Monetary Policy Communication

response to fluctuations in bidding demand by
financial institutions, allowing them to more
conveniently manage short-term funds.

The Bank of Korea continued its efforts to
strengthen its communication with market
participants and the public concerning its

Promotion of Stability in Financial Markets

monetary policies.
The Bank reformed the publishing system
of its Monetary Policy Report so as to en-

volatility greatly increased due to the escala-

hance the transparency and predictability of

tion of the U.S.-China trade dispute, continu-

monetary policy. It increased the frequency

ous uncertainties related to the monetary pol-

of the publication of its regular reports from

icy of the U.S. Federal Reserve, and the spread

two times a year to four times a year, 34) in-

of financial unrest in emerging economies. In

stead of cancelling the interim reports, which

response to this situation, the Bank inspected

were previously published twice a year. The

its countermeasures in response to concerns

number of press conference for the Monetary

regarding financial markets, including market

Policy Report also increased from two times a

stabilization measures for various crisis stag-

year to four times a year. In addition, the Bank

es, in relation to open market operations.

included an in-depth analysis of key events
related to the macroeconomic situation and fi-

flexibly applied diverse measures, considering

nancial stability in its Monetary Policy Report

the changes in financial market conditions,

in order to help market participants and the

including interest rates and stock prices. In

public better understand significant matters to

response to the rise in short-term interest

be considered in the decision-making process

rates caused by the redemption interruption

of monetary policy.

of some MMFs

in September and the sup-

Members of the Bank of Korea, including

ply-demand discrepancy in the money market

the Governor, interacted and communicated

at the end of the year, 33) the Bank managed

actively with figures from various areas of

32)

32) As Turkey's financial instability intensified, increased demand for the redemption of asset-backed commercial paper (ABCP) based on fixed deposits at the Qatari banks, which held stakes in a Turkish bank, led some MMFs to
suspend redemptions.
33) In general, there is a tendency for a supply-demand discrepancy in the money market at the end of the year due to
the collection of the government’s idle funds, increased redemption of MMFs by corporations, and due to an adjustment in the financial ratio by banks.
34) Whereas regular reports were submitted to the National Assembly upon approval by a resolution of the Monetary
Policy Board, with a subsequent press conference, interim reports were submitted to the National Assembly without having to be approved by a resolution of the Monetary Policy Board, with no press conference, and the volume
was about half of the regular report.

2. Monetary Policy

In its open market operations, the Bank
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Entering the second half of the year, market

Figure Ⅲ- 4. Monetary Policy Press Conference (March 19, 2018)
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Source: Bank of Korea.

society, including the National Assembly, the

stance concerning the direction of monetary

media, business, the financial industry and

policy through the Governor’s New Year’s

academia. The Bank’s representatives attended

Speech and Founding Anniversary Speech.

sessions of the National Assembly four times

In addition to all this, the Bank held confer-

in 2018 to present briefings on the Bank’s pol-

ences to which it invited leading figures from

icies and operations, as well as to give updates

various fields, including international orga-

on the current state of the economy and fi-

nizations, foreign central banks, academics

nancial markets, and to take part in extended

and economists, to discuss in-depth the role

Q&A sessions. The Bank also held Economic

of monetary policy and changes in financial

Rev iew Meetings and Financial Council

markets. It also participated in meetings of

Meetings with executives from companies and

international organizations and global con-

financial institutions to exchange views on

ferences to exchange views on various top-

trends and outlooks for financial markets and

ics, such as key global economic issues and

the economy at home and abroad, as well as

the current state and outlook of the Korean

monetary policy. Additionally, the Bank pro-

economy. Furthermore, the Bank made ef-

mulgated its stance on monetary policy and

forts toward expanding communication with

its perspectives on key issues facing financial

the general public through lectures aimed at

markets and the economy through the Gover-

corporate employees, academics and college

nor’s press conferences and other events, and

students.

continued its efforts to convey a consistent

Separately, the members of the Monetary

Figure Ⅲ- 5. Visit to Kia Motors’ Gwangju Plant by Members of the Monetary Policy Board (June 14, 2018)
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they engaged in in-depth discussions on glob-

a year for journalists from major domestic and

al economic conditions with executives from

foreign media outlets, to strengthen the com-

major central banks and leading figures from

munication of monetary policy, and they pre-

the financial sector, and engaged in various

sented briefings on the directions of monetary

other activities at the international level. Board

policy as well as the conditions of financial

members also participated in major confer-

markets and the economy. Board members

ences and seminars held in Korea, such as the

also made active efforts to help the public bet-

“2018 BOK International Conference” and the

ter understand monetary policy by hosting 24

“19th World Knowledge Forum” organized

seminars and speeches targeted at academics,

by the Maekyung Media Group, where they

corporate executives, teachers and college stu-

communicated actively with representatives

dents, in addition to interviews with the press,

from academia, government and various rele-

as necessary.

vant organizations.

Monetary Policy Board members partici-

Members of the Monetary Policy Board

pated as discussion panelists and speakers at

also visited major industrial facilities, such as

the “Annual International Journal of Central

Hyundai Heavy Industries and Kia Motors,

Banking Research Conference” held in Am-

and met with interested parties to discuss

sterdam on June 25 and 26, and at the “Finan-

topics relevant to the regional economy and

cial Risks and Safety Nets in Asia” conference

issues related to business conditions and the

held in Bali on Oct. 11. At these conferences,

competitiveness of major industries.

2. Monetary Policy

Policy Board held press conferences five times

III. Bank of Korea’s Conduct of Its Business

Source: Bank of Korea.

Table Ⅲ- 6. M ain Communication Activities by
Members of the Monetary Policy Board

Category

Major Participants

Meeting Cycle

Press conferences

Major press reporters
at home and abroad

5 times a year

Directors of economic
Academic activi- research institutes,
ties and lectures professors, and college
students

International
seminars

48

Executive members
of central banks and
leading figures from
international finance
circles

Executive members
Regional compa- of regional economic
nies conferences organizations and CEOs
of SMEs
Source: Bank of Korea.

Often

Often

Often

3. Efforts to Enhance Financial Stability

Meetings35) on a quarterly basis for the Monetary Policy Board to evaluate financial stability
conditions. In a bid to enhance the communication related to its Financial Stability

A. Analysis and Evaluation of Financial
Stability Conditions

Meetings, the Bank distributes a press release
and holds a press conference on the day of the
meeting, and following the June and Decem-

In order to ensure the faithful fulfillment of

ber meetings, it submits the Financial Stability

its duties related to financial stability, the Bank

Report36) to the National Assembly on the day

of Korea assessed financial stability conditions

of its deliberation and approval.
In 2018, the Bank concentrated its capabil-

continuous efforts to suggest policy measures.

ities on the evaluation of financial stability

The Bank worked to evaluate and analyze

conditions in certain parts of the financial

financial stability conditions in detail, while

sector, such as households, corporations and

also developing an integrated stress test mod-

asset markets, the assessment of the financial

el for the entire financial sector to strengthen

system’s resilience to internal and external

the assessment of robustness of the financial

impulses, and to an analysis of potential risks

system in response to changes in domestic

resulting from changes in domestic and over-

and overseas conditions. Meanwhile, the Bank

seas environments, including the expansion of

strengthened its research on current financial

fintech.
In the first half of 2018, the Bank assessed

tial policies more effectively. The Bank also

households’ abilities to repay their debts in

carried out joint inspections of financial insti-

terms of income by estimating the increases

tutions to facilitate its identification of system-

in the burden of the interest-to-income ratio

ic vulnerabilities, and participated actively in

on vulnerable borrowers 37) and non-vulner-

domestic and international policy discussions

able borrowers in light of different scenarios

on financial stability.

concerning lending rate increases. In addition,
the Bank examined the risks that emerged in

Enhancement of Financial Stability Con-

the financial sector due to a drop in leasehold

dition Evaluation

deposit prices in consideration of the financial conditions of lessor households, and the

As part of efforts to strengthen its capacity

characteristics of loans made for the payment

to evaluate financial stability, since 2017 the

of leasehold deposits. The Bank examined the

Bank has been holding Financial Stability

state of marginal firms,38) whose interest ex-

35) The Bank of Korea holds Financial Stability Meetings, and regular meetings of the Monetary Policy Board, in March,
June, September and December to evaluate macro-financial stability conditions.
36) “The Bank of Korea shall at least twice a year compile reports on the implementation of its monetary and credit
policies and reports on the status of the nation’s macro-financial stability, and submit them to the National Assembly.” (Article 96 (1), Bank of Korea Act)
37) The term “vulnerable borrowers” refers to multiple debtors, individuals who received loans from more than three
financial institutions, and borrowers with low credit or low incomes.

3. Efforts to Enhance Financial Stability

stability issues to implement its macropruden-
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in Korea in a comprehensive way and made

penses outweighed their operating profit, by

potential risks from a financial stability stand-

sector and company size, and extensively an-

point, with consideration for the rapidly-in-

alyzed the phenomena where marginal firms

creasing housing prices in the area. The Bank

were unable to return to normalcy for a long

developed an integrated stress test model for

period of time. The Bank meanwhile exam-

the entire financial sector to reflect the pos-

ined the current state of the domestic fintech

sibility of risk transmission across financial

market that is leading financial innovation

sectors in the event of macro risks, while also

and assessed the fintech-related financial sta-

assessing the resilience of the overall financial

bility risks, all while developing a stress test

system.

model for non-bank financial institutions and
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evaluating non-bank financial institutions’

Implementation of Research on Financial

resilience to macroeconomics and financial

Stability

fluctuations.
In the second half of 2018, with regard to

To enhance its effective implementation of

household debt, the Bank evaluated borrow-

macroprudential policies, the Bank of Korea is

ers’ income and distribution by their credit

committed to identifying a variety of research

rating, along with the scale and characteristics

subjects and conducting related research. In

of the debt held by vulnerable borrowers, and

2018, the Bank collaborated with experts on

examined future increases in household debt

the Korean economy to conduct five joint re-

from multiple aspects. Taking into account the

search projects on topics including the impact

pressure of rising market rates influenced by

of economic fluctuations on the credit supply

the normalization of monetary policy in major

portfolios of financial institutions, and ways

countries, the Bank also examined house-

to utilize big data to create early warning and

holds’ overall ability to repay their debts, as

policy measures, all while also collaborating

well as potential risks based on the level of

with experts affiliated with international

burden of principal redemption on borrowers.

organizations and overseas central banks to

Moreover, the Bank conducted a comprehen-

carry out joint studies on topics such as in-

sive assessment of the soundness of loans to

ternational financial linkages, the optimized

self-employed business owners, which have

combination of capital and liquidity regula-

been steadily increasing. It also examined

tions, and the effects of fintech on financial

the possibility that marginal companies with

market structures.

limited long-term prospects, and firms that
are vulnerable in terms of financial sound-

Implementation of Joint Examinations to

ness, will become risk factors to the financial

Detect Potential Risks

system, and suggested policy responses. The
Bank examined housing market trends and

To allow the early detection of risk factors

causes behind the upswing in housing prices

inherent in the financial system, the Bank of

in the Seoul Metropolitan Area and evaluated

Korea conducted joint examinations and reg-

38) The term “marginal firms” refers to companies whose interest coverage ratio [(operating profit/expenses for interest)
x 100] has stood at below the 100-percent mark for three consecutive years.

ular monitoring of financial institutions, the-

The Bank of Korea actively carried out

matic examinations and risk examinations of

regular monitoring activities with regard to

individual banks, while striving to strengthen

the management and risk factors of financial

information exchanges with supervisory au-

institutions. It conducted onsite interviews to

thorities across Korea and overseas, and com-

evaluate the business operations of self-em-

munication with financial institutions.

ployed business owners, and financial compa-

The Bank conducted three thematic exam-

nies’ assessment of the credit risks of self-em-

inations of domestic banks in 2018 through

ployed business owners, and also performed

which it evaluated the conditions of major

a risk assessment survey of banks’ executives

banks’ lending to households and corpora-

and securities companies’ analysts to achieve

tions, and local banks’ lending patterns. The

a future-oriented and qualitative assessment

thematic examination of banks’ household

of the potential risks facing domestic banks.

tation of household debt control measures,

examinations of financial institutions to gov-

and evaluated the changes in borrowers’

ernment institutions and to the Financial

burden of debt redemption and their ability to

Supervisory Service as reference points when

repay their debts. The thematic examination

formulating related policies. It also held work-

of banks’ loans to corporations assessed the

shops with regulators responsible for joint

current situation and key characteristics of

examinations, as well as ad hoc conferences,

marginal firms and examined banks’ efforts

thereby reinforcing its cooperation with regu-

at risk management and the restructuring of

latory authorities. It devoted extensive efforts

marginal companies. The thematic examina-

to ensure better communication with the

tion of local bank’s lending patterns examined

financial institutions concerned by providing

changes in business operations, potential

the examination findings and holding meet-

risks, and operation of the Support Program

ings of department heads responsible for the

for Regional Enterprises. Besides the thematic

internal inspection of financial institutions.

examinations of domestic banks, the Bank

In addition, in April 2018 the Bank revised

conducted two risk examinations of individual

the Provision of Cooperation on Data in Ac-

banks to evaluate business management tech-

cordance with Article 94 of the Bank of Korea

niques, loan handling, risk factors, cyber-risk

Act, etc., 39) as part of its efforts to facilitate

countermeasures, and compliance with the

information exchange and business coordi-

Bank’s regulations.

nation with central banks and supervisory
authorities in major countries.

Table Ⅲ- 7. Bank of Korea’s On-site Joint
Examination

Discussions of Domestic, International
(number)

Thematic
examination
General
examination

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

3

5

3

4

3

Financial Stability
The Bank of Korea actively participated in
discussions at international standard-set-

4

Source: Bank of Korea.

2

3

2

2

ting bodies with regard to the legislation and
revision of financial regulations in order to
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The Bank provided the findings of its joint
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lending examined trends after the implemen-

enhance the stability of the global financial

major foreign banks operating in Korea, and

system. As a member-institution of the Finan-

their recovery and resolution plans for emer-

cial Stability Board (FSB) and the Basel Com-

gencies. The Bank shared information about

mittee on Banking Supervision (BCBS),

the

the supervision and examination of operation-

Bank contributed to assessing the effects of

al resilience and risks involving information

financial regulatory reforms, monitoring their

and communication technology (ICT) through

implementation, and drawing up measures to

meetings with those in charge of operational

respond to new risks. The Bank also endeav-

risks at central banks and supervisory author-

ored to conduct research

ities in major countries.

40)

41)

42)
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on issues concern-

ing international financial regulations in order

Domestically, the Bank shared information

to smoothly implement the globally-agreed

about key current issues regarding financial

upon financial regulations in Korea.

stability with the government and related

The Bank participated in the discussions

financial agencies, and explored joint mea-

about financial stability in the Asia-Pacific

sures to address these issues. It continually

region as a member-institution of the FSB

monitored household debt through meetings

Regional Consultative Group for Asia and of

of its Household Debt Task Force, while also

the Executives Meeting of East Asia & Pacific

participating in the Consultative Group for

Central Banks (EMEAP) Working Group on

Managing Household Debt in order to com-

Banking Supervision (WGBS). It also main-

prehensively examine related risks and devise

tains close cooperation with the Financial Ser-

necessary countermeasures in concert with

vices Commission, the Financial Supervisory

the government. Moreover, it made efforts

Service and other concerned institutions by

to preemptively identify systemic risk factors

discussing key issues related to global finan-

facing non-bank financial institutions, whose

cial stability.

significance is increasing in the financial

Furthermore, the Bank actively took part in
the Supervisory College

system, by participating in the Non-Bank

hosted by super-

Macroprudential Management Taskforce.44) It

visory authorities in major countries, where

also took part in the Macroeconomic Finance

it discussed changes and the performance of

Meeting,45) to examine the trends and risk

global management strategies, corporate gov-

factors in domestic and overseas economic,

ernance, and operational risk management at

financial and foreign exchange markets, and

43)

39) The Bank established a new article, Article 4, in accordance with which information received from overseas central
banks or financial supervisory authorities shall be provided to the Ministry of Economy and Finance, the Financial
Services Commission and other related agencies with prior written consent from the receiving institutions.
40) The Bank of Korea takes part in the FSB general meeting, three working groups of the Standing Committee on Assessment of Vulnerability (SCAV), and 11 working groups of the BCBS.
41) With the completion of most of the global financial regulatory reforms, the FSB and the BCBS turned their attention toward the assessment of the effects of regulatory reforms, the monitoring of their implementation and the
strengthening of supervision.
42) Most notably, the Bank analyzed the effects of climate change risks on financial stability and published the BOK
Issue Note (Climate Change and Financial Stability, 2018-Vol.6).
43) A supervisory college is a consultative group for information sharing and supervisory cooperation in which financial
officials from home and host countries participate to effectively regulate and supervise global financial institutions.

discussed countermeasures in cooperation

conditions in the foreign exchange sector. As

with the government and other financial

the foreign currency Liquidity Coverage Ratio

agencies. Finally, it also consulted with the

(LCR) was revised upward,48) the Bank closely

financial institutions concerned to ensure

monitored the foreign currency liquidity of

proper application of the countercyclical cap-

banks, while also continuing its efforts to as-

ital buffer regulations

in accordance with

sess potential risks in the sector and improve

the private credit and the macroeconomic and

the effectiveness of related policies through

financial conditions in Korea.

inspections of foreign exchange banks and

46)

foreign currency brokers.

B. Macroprudential Policies for the Foreign Exchange Sector

With the aim of relieving the administrative
burden on financial institutions to an extent
that ensures the effectiveness of restricting
the purpose of foreign currency loans, and

flows resulting from weakening investment

to reduce unnecessary transaction costs, the

confidence due to global risk factors, the Bank

Bank modified related regulations in July 2018

of Korea devoted its policy-related capabilities

in a manner that alleviates the procedure that

to increasing macroprudential stability in the

required the attestation of the actual demand

foreign exchange sector.

for foreign currency loans and allows discrep-

In 2018, the Bank focused on the stable operation of macroprudential policies

47)

in the

ancies between credit banks and remittance
banks.

foreign exchange sector, based on its analysis of global risk factors and its evaluation of

members comprising of experts from the Bank of Korea, the Financial Services Commission, the Financial Supervisory Service, the Korea Institute of Finance, the Korea Insurance Research Institute and the Korea Capital Market
Institute.
45) T his consultative body was created in July 2012, with members comprising of deputies from five agencies, the
Bank of Korea, the Ministry of Economy and Finance, the Financial Services Commission, the Financial Supervisory Service and the Korea Deposit Insurance Corporation. Its regular and ad hoc meetings are chaired by the Vice
Minister of Economy and Finance.
46) The countercyclical capital buffer regulations consist of dynamic capital requirements that enhance the resilience
of the banking system and alleviate the procyclicality of the credit supply by requiring the accumulation of additional capital during booms and utilizing it for loss compensation and provision of loanable funds during crises. The
countercyclical capital buffer regulations were introduced and implemented in 2016. Through consultations with
the Ministry of Economy and Finance, the Bank of Korea and other related institutions, the Korea Financial Services
Commission sets the countercyclical capital buffer rate, generally between 0.0 and 2.5 percent, on a quarterly basis.
47) The macroprudential policies include the macroprudential stability levies system in the foreign exchange sector, the
more stringent management of foreign currency lending, the regulation of foreign exchange derivatives positions,
and the regulation of foreign currency liquidity.
48) In January 2017, the Foreign Currency Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR = High-quality liquid foreign currency assets
/ Foreign currency net cash outflows for next 30 days) was officially introduced as a regulatory tool, and the regulation ratio has been revised upward according to three phases. Commercial banks: 60 percent in 2017 → 70 percent in 2018 → 80 percent after 2019. Specialized banks (Industrial Bank of Korea, NH Bank and Suhyup Bank):
40 percent in 2017 → 60 percent in 2018 → 80 percent after 2019).
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44) The taskforce was established in September 2018 under the purview of the Financial Services Commission with
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Mindful of the possibility of rapid capital

C. E xpansion of Multilayered Financial
Safety Nets

Korea and China with the funds of the currency swap agreement with the People’s Bank
of China (PBC), the Bank continued its efforts

Signing New Currency Swap Agreement

to encourage the utilization of the won for

with Switzerland

trade settlements and to solidify the institutional foundation of the currency swap agree-

The Bank of Korea strengthened its efforts

ment.

to conclude currency swap agreements with
central banks as a means of extending its

Initiative to Strengthen Functions of Fi-

multilayered financial safety nets. As a result,

nancial Safety Nets Across the Region

in February 2018 it concluded a new curren-
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cy swap agreement with the Swiss National

The Bank of Korea also strives to strengthen

Bank, a key currency country, following one

financial safety nets across the region. In par-

with the Bank of Canada in November 2017.

ticular, the Bank takes the lead in the overall

The amount of the 3-year currency swap

review of the Chiang Mai Initiative Multilater-

agreement with the Swiss National Bank is

alization (CMIM)49) Agreement,50) which refers

10 billion Swiss francs, or 11.2 trillion won

to the multilateral currency swap agreement

(approximately 10.6 billion dollars). The agree-

among the ASEAN+3 member countries. The

ment is subject to extension if agreed upon

Bank also drew up the CMIM’s final revision51)

by both parties. The sovereign credit rating of

as it was the central bank of a co-chair coun-

Switzerland, traditionally considered a finan-

try of the ASEAN+3 Finance Ministers’ and

cial and economic powerhouse, has been set

Central Bank Governors’ Meeting. The main

at the highest level of AAA by all three major

contents of the revision are to strengthen the

global credit rating agencies. The country is

CMIM liquidity provision system by abolish-

among the six key currency countries belong-

ing the maximum duration of financial sup-

ing to a standing network of bilateral swap

port, expand the application of credit exposure

lines among six central banks in advanced

conditions, enhance cooperation with the IMF,

countries. The currency swap agreement

and improve external communication. This

with Switzerland provided an opportunity

revision of the CMIM Agreement is expected

to strengthen Korea’s multilayered financial

to significantly increase the effectiveness of

safety nets by expanding the safety backstop

the CMIM as a financial safety net across the

in the foreign exchange sectorial.

region and contribute to strengthening the

By supporting trade settlements between

responsibilities of the financial beneficiaries.

49) In order to overcome the shortcomings of the bilateral swap agreement under the CMI and enhance its capacity to
respond to emergencies, the ASEAN+3 countries strengthened their financial support system across the region in
March 2010 by establishing the CMIM through the multilateralization of the CMI.
50) T his revision of the CMIM Agreement is being implemented as part of the first periodic review to overhaul the
agreement.
51) Following the final approval in the Finance Ministers’ and Central Bank Governors’ meeting of the ASEAN+3 economies in May 2019, the final revision of the CMIM Agreement will take effect following the signature process of each
respective country.

Table Ⅲ- 8. Current Status of Korea’s Currency
Swap Agreements (As of the end of 2018)

Type

Counterparty
Canada

Switzerland

China

Maximum amount Most recent date of
Maturity
(U.S. dollar basis1) ) signing and extension
No maximum
amount
10 billion CHF/
11.2 trillion KRW
(about 10.6 billion
USD)
360 billion CNY/
64 trillion KRW
(about 56 billion
USD)
115 trillion IDR/
10.7 trillion KRW

Malaysia

U.S. dollar
swaps

CMIM

(about 4.7 billion
USD)
20 billion AED/
5.8 trillion KRW
(about 5.4 billion
USD)
38.4 billion
dollars2)

stability in financial markets by activating its
emergency response system for each case of
financial turbulence in Korea and abroad, in

Feb. 2018

Mar. 2021

order to conduct more stringent monitoring
of the movements of price variables, such as
interest rates, stock prices and exchange rates,

Oct. 2017

Oct. 2020

and of the flows of investment in Korean securities by overseas investors.
During times when the volatility of price
variables in the domestic and overseas fi-

Mar. 2017

Mar. 2020

nancial markets increased, for example due
to uncertainties associated with the North
Korea-U.S. Summit (May to June), a sharp

Feb. 2017

Feb. 2020

decline in stock prices in the wake of concerns
over the U.S.-China trade dispute (October
to December), and the U.S. Federal Reserve’s
policy rate hikes (March, June, September and

Jan. 2017

Jan. 2020

December), the Bank convened meetings of its
Monetary and Financial Action Taskforce,52) as

Oct. 2013

Discussion
of extension
underway

well as its emergency Financial and Economic
Conditions Review and Executive Meetings,
led by the Governor, and monitored the situation in the domestic or international financial

Jul. 2014

-

Notes: 1) Based on the exchange rates when the initial currency swap
agreements or their extensions were concluded.
2) T
 he total amount of CMIM is 240 billion dollars, and Korea's
contribution and the maximum amounts that it can be
drawn are 38.4 billion dollars each (16 percent).

markets and reviewed measures against instances of market instability. It also put efforts
into preventing the excessive spread of market
anxieties by strengthening its communication
with market participants.

Source: Bank of Korea.

52) The Task Force consists of the Senior Deputy Governor, the Deputy Governors in charge of monetary policy and
international affairs, and the heads of the relevant departments. It carries out comprehensive evaluations of the
financial and foreign exchange markets during times of domestic or foreign financial unrest.
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3. Efforts to Enhance Financial Stability

UAE

15 billion MYR/
5 trillion KRW

Unspecified

The Bank of Korea worked to maintain
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Local Indonesia
(about 10 billion
currency
USD)
swaps
10 billion AUD/
9 trillion KRW
Australia
(about 7.7 billion
USD)

Nov. 2017

D. Activation of Emergency Response
to Financial Instability

4. Currency Issuance

creased the most by 9.4 percent, while 10,000won notes decreased by 4.5 percent, continuing the trend where 10,000-won banknotes

As the sole agency with the authority to

are being replaced with 50,000-won notes.

issue legal tender, banknotes and coins, in
Korea, the Bank of Korea is tasked with providing the public with currency services necessary for its economic activities. The Bank

Table Ⅲ- 9. B
 anknotes and Coins Issued, Withdrawn and Outstanding by Denomination1)
(hundred million won)

worked to ensure a stable currency supply
in response to currency demand, while also
issuing three new Korean National Parks
Commemorative Coins series. In addition, the
56

Bank strove to prevent counterfeit or forged
banknotes from entering into circulation
through a variety of media channels, including new publications, with the aim of creating
an environment in which the public can use
currency with a sense of confidence and security. The Bank also continually withdrew
and destroyed damaged notes to maintain
the cleanliness of the currency in circulation.

Banknotes2)

(9.4)

50,000-won

250,267

168,779

81,488

947,268

10,000-won

97,280

104,414

-7,134

151,472 (-4.5)

5,000-won

3,329

3,229

101

1,000-won

3,877

3,696

180

15,977

(1.1)

436

252

183

25,060

(0.7)

355,188

280,370

74,818 1,153,895

(6.9)

Coins2)
Total

13,937

(0.7)

Notes: 1) Figures in parentheses refer to percentage changes compared with the end of the previous year.
2) Includes banknotes with denominations of 500 won or
lower, coins with denominations of 5 won or lower, and

It also facilitated the effective performance of
its currency issuance and circulation duties

2018
End of 2018
WithNet
Issuance
drawal Issuance Outstanding
(A)
(B)
(A-B)
354,752 280,118
74,635 1,128,835 (7.1)

commemorative banknotes and coins.
Source: Bank of Korea.

in cooperation with financial institutions, the
Korea Minting, Security Printing & ID Card

The KOMSCO produced and supplied 796.2

Operating Corporation (KOMSCO) and other

million banknotes and coins to the Bank,

relevant institutions.

which is 28.0 percent fewer than in 2017. The
number of banknotes rose by 7.4 percent, ow-

A. Issuance

ing primarily to the increase in 50,000-won
notes, while the number of coins minted fell

Responding to Currency Demand

by 70.8 percent, mainly due to 500-won and
100-won coins being considerably withdrawn

In 2018, the Bank of Korea issued new

from circulation. The total value of produced

currency amounting to a total value of 35.5

currency amounted to 14.5 trillion won, up by

trillion won, while withdrawing 28.0 trillion

25.1 percent due to the increase in 50,000-won

won in currency for removal from circulation.

notes.

Consequently, as of year-end 2018, the value
of currency in circulation totaled 115.3 trillion
won, higher by 6.9 percent than the value at
the end of 2017. By denomination, the amount
of 50,000-won banknotes in circulation in-

Table Ⅲ- 10. Production of Banknotes and Coins1)

Number
(millions)
Banknotes2)
Coins2)
Total

2017

2018

605.0
(-21.9)

650.0
(7.4)

Value
(hundred million won)
2017

2018

115,350
(-42.5)

145,000
(25.7)

500.1
(-18.3)

146.2
(-70.8)

841
(-17.9)

338
(-59.8)

1,105.1
(-20.3)

796.2
(-28.0)

116,191
(-42.4)

145,338
(25.1)

Notes: 1) Figures in parentheses refer to percentage changes compared with previous year.
2) Excludes commemorative banknotes and coins.
Source: Bank of Korea.

B. Circulation
Strengthening Publicity to Deter Counterfeits
The Bank of Korea conducted a variety of
promotional campaigns to deter the production and circulation of counterfeit currency
by utilizing public advertisements posted and
broadcast in shelters at bus stops, inside subway trains, movie theaters, on various social
media channels and smartphone applications.
The Bank also hosted its fifth UCC Currency Protection Campaign Contest, granting
awards to eight out of a total 65 videos submitted to the competition. Rewards were also

With the aim of widely publicizing the ex-

given out twice, in the first and second halves

quisite natural environment of Korea and the

of 2018, to 11 police stations and to one citi-

future value of ecological preservation, the

zen that had played vital roles in the arrest of

Bank issued a series of Korean National Parks

counterfeiters.
The total number of counterfeits discovered

motifs based on Deogyusan, Mudeungsan

in 2018 was 605 notes, decreased by 1,052

and Hallyeohaesang national parks. This

from the 1,657 notes found in 2017, which

series of coins will be issued over a period of

marked the lowest level since 1998. Moreover,

seven years starting in 2017, with motifs even-

the number of counterfeits found per million

tually featuring all 22 national parks in Korea.

banknotes was 0.1, a sharp decline compared
to the 0.3 notes in 2017.

Figure Ⅲ- 6. Korean National Parks Commemorative Coins
Type

Design
(Obverse)

Figure Ⅲ- 7. Counterfeit Banknotes Detected

Character
(Reverse)

50,000 won

5,000 won

10,000 won

1,000 won

(Number)

Silver
30,000-won
(Deogyusan)

(Number)

2,000

2,000
1,657

·Silver 99.9%
Silver
30,000-won
(Mudeungsan)

1,500

1,500

1,378

·Diameter 32㎜
·Weight 14.0g

1,000

1,000
605

Silver
30,000-won
(Hallyeohaesang)

500

500

0
Source: Bank of Korea.

0
2016

Source: Bank of Korea.

2017

2018
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Commemorative Coins on Oct. 4, with three
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Issuance of Commemorative Coins
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Figure Ⅲ- 8. Winners of UCC Currency Protection Campaign Contest Aimed at Younger Generations
(October 11, 2018, Seoul)
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Source: Bank of Korea.

Better Currency Use by the Public

billion won in value, up by 1.02 billion won
from the 4.60 billion won seen in 2017.53) The

The Bank of Korea endeavored to improve

Bank made active use of PCs and mobile ap-

the overall integrity of circulated currency by

plications to broadcast video advertisements

identifying and destroying damaged notes

promoting the clean use of currency through

that were unfit for reuse, among the currency

the utilization of a Smart Media Representa-

withdrawn from financial institutions or indi-

tive (SMR), together with continuous promo-

viduals. During 2018, a total of 626.55 million

tions designed to mitigate the preference for

notes, valued at 4.26 trillion won, were identi-

new banknotes by the public. The Bank also

fied as damaged and subsequently destroyed.

produced a new booklet about the exchange of

By currency type, the destructions comprised

damaged banknotes and distributed it among

of 589.99 million banknotes valued at 4.25

financial institutions.

trillion won, and 36.56 million coins valued
at 2.32 billion won. The amount of currency
turned in during the year by individuals for
exchange due to severe damage totaled 5.63

53) For more details about the lifespan of banknotes, please refer to Box III-1 Estimating Banknotes Circulation Lifespan in 2018.

Figure Ⅲ- 9. Destruction of Banknotes and Coins
Value (left)

Number (right)

(trillion won)

(100 millions)

5

8
4.3
7
3.1

6

6.0

2

cooperation with the Korean National Police
& ID Card Operating Corporation, and the
National Forensic Service through frequent

3
6.3

The Bank of Korea continued to step up its
Agency, the Korea Minting, Security Printing

3.8

4

C. Domestic and International Cooperation

exchanges and sharing of information on
trends and characteristics of counterfeit de-

5.5

5

1

tection. It published Bank of Korea and Counterfeit Deterrence Avengers, a promotional

0

4
2016

2017

2018

Source: Bank of Korea.

booklet designed to deter the circulation of
counterfeit money, by collaborating with reand financial institutions. The Bank also an-

Facilitating Coin Circulation

alyzed the current methods and standard of
counterfeit production by examining counter-

In collaboration with the Korea Federation
of Banks, the Korean Federation of Commu-

feit notes provided by the Prosecutors’ Office
after investigations and trials.
The Bank also participated in conferences

Union Federation of Korea, the Korea Feder-

held across the global banking sector, includ-

ation of Savings Banks, and Korea Post, the

ing the biennial World Banknote Summit and

Bank of Korea implemented its Nationwide

the Banknote Conference, and the Mint Di-

Coin Exchange Campaign at nearly 20,000 fi-

rectors Conference held in April in Korea, in

nancial institution branches across the nation

order to expand its network with other central

throughout the month of May. Through this

banks and minting bodies, while sharing ma-

campaign, the Bank exchanged 249.1 million

jor issues concerning recent developments in

coins (worth 34.6 billion won), which equaled

counterfeit deterrence instruments, as well as

around 65.5 percent of the total amount of

currency and issuance systems.

coins issued in 2018. The Bank also provided
340,000 small money boxes to support the
coin-collecting campaigns of social welfare
organizations and local governments, which
returned around 700 million won in collected
coins into reuse and promoted coin circulation.

4. Currency Issuance

nity Credit Cooperatives, the National Credit
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lated institutions, and distributed it to schools
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more frequently for transactions,55) while 10,000-

Box III-1.

won banknotes last longer compared to lower-value notes since 10,000-won banknotes are
utilized as a means of store of value, in addition

Estimating Banknote Circulation Lifespan in 2018

to their transactional purpose. In the case of
50,000-won banknotes, insufficient time has
passed since their first issuance in June 2009,

60

In general, the lifespan of a banknote refers to

which has made it difficult to accurately estimate

the period from the issuance of new banknotes

their lifespan. Nonetheless, in general, 50,000-

to the withdrawal of those notes too damaged

won banknotes are estimated to circulate longer

to be used any more. The lifespan of a banknote

than 10,000-won notes.

generally depends on the paper quality, the

The comparison between the estimated re-

banknote’s usage behavior and frequency of

sults from 2018 and those from 2011 showed

use. The lifespan of a banknote can be extended

that the lifespans of 1,000-won and 5,000-

with strengthened durability of banknote paper,

won banknotes increased by 14 months and

improvements in banknote usage behavior, or in

three months, respectively. These increases in

the less frequent use of banknotes for payments

banknote lifespan are believed to be attributed

and settlements.

largely to a drop in banknote use owing to the
facilitation of non-cash means of payment, including credit cards, debit cards and easy pay-

Figure Ⅲ- 10. Lifespan of a Banknote

ment services, and to the improvement of the

Delivery of new Issuance of new
notes
notes

Withdrawal of Discarding of
damaged notes damaged notes

Storage of new
notes

Storage of
damaged notes

public’s banknote usage behavior on the back of
the Bank’s advertisements promoting the proper
use of banknotes.

Lifespan of a banknote

Source: Bank of Korea.

Table Ⅲ- 11. Comparison of Estimated Banknote
Lifespans in 2011, 2018
(months)

The findings of a sample survey54) on the estimation of banknote lifespan by currency denom-

Banknote
denomination

20111)
(A)

2018
(B)

Change
(B-A)

ination indicated that 1,000-won banknotes were

52

+14

1,000 KRW

38

estimated to circulate for 52 months, 5,000-

5,000 KRW

40

43

+3

won banknotes for 43 months, and 10,000-

10,000 KRW

-

121

-

won banknotes for 121 months. The lifespans
of 1,000-won and 5,000-won banknotes are
shorter than that for 10,000-won notes because

Note: 1) T he values of the banknote lifespans in 2011 were adjusted
for accurate comparison with 2018.
Source: Bank of Korea.

1,000-won and 5,000-won banknotes are used
54) A
 fter a sampling of banknotes, the lifespans of the samples were tracked to estimate their circulation periods.
55) According to the Results From the Survey About the Use of Payment Instruments 2017 by the Bank’s Payment &
Settlement Systems Department, individuals make cash payments for 76.7 percent of all purchases of products
and services worth less than 10,000 won.

Meanwhile, the lifespans of both Korea’s lowest
denomination (1,000 won) and middle denomination (10,000 won) banknotes were found to be
longer than their counterparts in major countries.

Figure Ⅲ- 11. Comparison of Banknote Lifespans
in Major Countries
(months)

Lowest denomination

Middle denomination

Country or
Region
Lifespan
(Denomination)
U.S. (1 USD)

Country or
Region
(Denomination)

70 U.S. (20 USD)

Eurozone (5 EUR)

17 Eurozone (20 EUR)

UK (5 GBP)

24 UK (20 GBP)

Lifespan

95
19
113

18 Japan (5,000 JPY)

18

Australia (5 AUD)

68 Australia (20 AUD)

134

Mexico (20 MXN)

42 Mexico (200 MXN)

Korea (1,000 KRW)

52 Korea (10,000 KRW)

Source: Websites of central banks.

47
121
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Japan (1,000 JPY)
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4. Currency Issuance

5. Payment and Settlement
Business

Figure Ⅲ- 12. BOK-Wire+ Funds Transfer Values
(Daily average)
Securities settlement funds
Call transaction funds

The Bank of Korea operates BOK-Wire+,

Foreign exchange settlement funds
Net settlement funds

a real-time gross settlement (RTGS) system

Transfers between BOK and participants1)

that processes large-value funds transfers,
while providing intraday liquidity support
to financial institutions suffering temporary
shortages of settlement liquidity, as a means
to encourage the smooth settlement of funds
through this system. The Bank also oversees
62

Others
(trillion won)

400

350

323.0

300
250
200

as a whole, and works to improve their op-

150

erating processes in an effort to ensure their

100

safety and efficiency.56) In addition, it strives

50

to strengthen cooperation with international

0

tlement.

340.7

299.8
272.3

14.8
16.9
18.4
31.4

79.4

77.0

350
300

78.2

75.1

the domestic payment and settlement systems

organizations in the field of payment and set-

(trillion won)

400

14.5
16.8
19.3
27.7

15.9
18.1
15.9
23.5

15.3
16.9
19.3
27.2
167.3

187.9

250
200
150
100

143.2
115.6

50
0

2015

2016

2017

2018

Note: 1) Includes payments on government and public bond transactions, Treasury funds transfers, and BOK loans.
Source: Bank of Korea.

A. Operation of BOK-Wire+
Intraday Liquidity Support
Continued Increase in the Amounts of Securities Settlement Fund Transfers

In order to prevent the spread of settlement risks across BOK-Wire+ as a whole due

During 2018, the average daily volume and

to settlement delays and gridlock caused by

value of Korean won funds transfers through

participants’ temporary liquidity shortages,

BOK-Wire+ totaled 17,962 transactions and

the Bank of Korea supplied BOK-Wire+ par-

341 trillion won, increases over the previous

ticipants with settlement funds to cover tem-

year of 8.7 percent and 5.5 percent, respec-

porary intraday liquidity shortages. In 2018,

tively. By type of settlement fund, the amount

the amount of the Bank’s intraday liquidity

of funds for call transactions and foreign ex-

provision averaged 2,476.4 billion won per

change settlement funds declined while secu-

day, up by 4.3 percent from 2017. The amount

rities settlement funds increased significantly,

of intraday overdraft provision57) averaged a

centering around inter-institution repo trans-

daily 328.5 billion won, up by 3.2 percent from

actions. Consequently, securities settlement

the previous year, while that of intraday RP58)

accounted for 55.2 percent of all Korean won

was a daily average of 2,147.9 billion won, up

funds settled in 2018, up from 51.8 percent in

by 4.5 percent for 2017.

2017.
56) This refers to the central bank’s responsibility to conduct monitoring and regular or ad hoc assessments to enhance safety and efficiency in the payment and settlement systems, as well as to implement improvements in the
systems as needed.

settlement systems in accordance with the

Table Ⅲ- 12. Supply of Intraday Liquidity

Principles for Financial Market Infrastructures

(Daily average)
(billion won, %)

%Change2)

(PFMI),60) etc.,61) and recommends improvement measures to address any gaps or short-

2016

2017

2018

380.2

318.2

328.5

+3.2

ments of BOK-Wire+ and the retail payment

Intraday Repo 2,449.8

2,055.9

2,147.9

+4.5

systems 62) operated by the Korea Financial

Total

2,374.1

2,476.4

+4.3

Telecommunications and Clearings Institute

comings. In 2018, the Bank conducted assess-

Intraday
Overdrafts1)

2,830.0

Note: 1) Based on average net intraday overdraft balance obtained
after subtracting the balances of the deposit accounts used
exclusively for settlement from the daily overdraft amounts.
2) A percentage change from 2017 to 2018.
Source: Bank of Korea.

(KFTC). Assessment results indicated that
BOK-Wire+ was in compliance with most of
the requirements and international standards,
including the PFMI, but that also there was a
need to partially improve business resilience

B. Oversight and Risk Management

and operational risk management. In the case

Assessment of Financial Market Infra-

settlement systems among the retail payment

structures

systems operated by the KFTC, the assessments showed that the systems were in obser-

To improve the safety and efficiency of the

vance of most of the principles of the PFMI,

domestic financial market infrastructures

but that some improvements were needed in

(FMIs),

the Bank of Korea conducts assess-

terms of a comprehensive risk-management

ments of systemically important payment and

framework and operational risk management.

59)

jective of addressing temporary intraday liquidity shortages.
58) To shift the settlement through BOK-Wire+ of funds for securities transactions to an earlier time, and to mitigate
the concentration of settlement around the closing time, a system for intraday liquidity support through the use of
repo-type instruments was established under Article 81-2 (Support to Settle Temporary Shortages) of the Bank of
Korea Act on Feb. 20, 2012, targeting the Korea Exchange and financial investment companies.
59) F
 MIs refer to multilateral systems used by economic entities for purposes of making regular payments and clearing,
or settling or recording financial transactions. They consist of systemically important payment systems (PS), central
counterparties (CCPs), central securities depositories (CSDs), securities settlement systems (SSSes), and trade
repositories (TRs).
60) The PFMI are the international standards for payment and settlement systems that were set and published in April
2012 by the Committee on Payments and Market Infrastructures (CPMI) of the BIS in partnership with the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO). The PFMI were established in response to major issues
that had emerged due to the global financial crisis regarding the need for structural reforms of the over-the-counter
derivatives markets and the strengthening of international standards for the operation of financial market infrastructures.
61) As supplementary guidelines for the PFMI, the CPMI-IOSCO has enacted additional international standards including the Guidance on Cyber Resilience for Financial Market Infrastructures in June 2016, Recovery of Financial
Market Infrastructures in July 2017, and Resilience of Central Counterparties (CCPs): Further guidance on the PFMI
in July 2017.
62) Among retail payment systems operated by the KFTC, the Check Clearing System, the Interbank Funds Transfer
System, and the Electronic Banking System are designated as systemically important payment and settlement systems subject to the Bank’s oversight.

5. Payment and Settlement Business

57) This refers to credit provided to banks by the Bank of Korea on the condition of intraday redemption, with the ob-
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of the systemically important payment and

63

Joint Examinations of Payment and Set-

the issuance of a central bank digital curren-

tlement Activities of Financial Institutions

cy (CBDC). In response, in January the Bank
of Korea organized a “Virtual Currency and

64

To review the appropriateness of financial

CBDC Joint Research Taskforce,” made up of

institutions’ payment and settlement activ-

members from related department, and con-

ities, the Bank of Korea and the Financial

ducted research on crypto-assets and CBDC.

Supervisory Service conducted joint examina-

First, the Bank published a report titled

tions during 2018 of two domestic banks and

Crypto-Assets and Central Banks in July,

three financial investment companies.

which contains details of domestic and in-

The results of the examinations showed that

ternational discussions on the economic and

the domestic banks were properly managing

legal characteristics of crypto-assets and their

their payments and settlements, including

effects on payment and settlement systems.

control of their intraday liquidity. However, as

Another publication titled Central Bank Dig-

the two banks were found not to be in strict

ital Currency was also released in January

compliance with the guidelines 63) that were

2019, which focuses on the basic concept of

established by the BOK to reduce settlement li-

CBDC, implementation methods, and effects

quidity for BOK-Wire+ participants, they were

on central banks’ responsibilities and obliga-

advised to take steps to ensure complete com-

tions. The Bank plans to continue relevant re-

pliance with the guidelines. Furthermore, some

search while closely monitoring the develop-

of the companies that saw significant increases

ment of related distributed ledger technology,

in their borrowings over a short period of time

current conditions of crypto-assets markets,

due to their failure to establish limits on short-

and other central banks’ responses to CBDC.

term borrowings, such as inter-institutional relimits to control settlement liquidity.

C. E nhancement of Payment and Settlement Systems

Conducting Research on Crypto-Assets

Reform of the Net Settlement Risk Man-

and Central Bank Digital Currencies

agement System

pos, were advised to set short-term borrowing

A surge in the price and the number of

In order to manage credit risks in accor-

transactions of Bitcoins spurred a rising global

dance with international standards64) (PFMI),

interest in crypto-assets since the second half

the Bank of Korea reformed the net settlement

of 2017. In addition, some central banks and

risk management system in December. First,

international organizations actively discussed

the Bank decided to raise the collateral-to-net

63) As a means to reduce the settlement liquidity of BOK Wire+ participants, the Bank of Korea recommends the input
of more than 60 percent of intraday general funds transfers and funds transfers in the call transaction system be
the general payment order in which debits and credits are offset between participants.
64) The Principles for Financial Market Infrastructures (PFMI) require an FMI to maintain financial resources sufficient to
cover its credit exposure to each participant. (Principle 4. Credit risk: An FMI should effectively measure, monitor
and manage its credit exposures to participants and those arising from its payment, clearing, and settlement processes. An FMI should maintain sufficient financial resources to cover its credit exposure to each participant fully
with a high degree of confidence.)

debit cap ratio for guaranteeing net settle-

50 percent of the total collateral amount.

ments from 50 percent to 100 percent, and as
banks need time to prepare for this change,
the BOK will increase the ratio gradually from
2019 to 2022.

Table Ⅲ- 14. S
 cope of Securities Eligible for Use
as Collateral for Guaranteeing Net
Settlements

Before change
Table Ⅲ- 13. Schedule for Raising the Collateralto-Net-Debit Cap Ratio
(%)

Current1)
50

Aug. 1,2019 Aug. 1, 2020 Aug. 1, 2021 Aug. 1, 2022
70

80

90

100

Note: 1) T he ratio was raised to 50 percent from 30 percent in August

∙Bonds issued or
guaranteed by the
government
∙BOK Monetary
Stabilization Bonds

-

on banks that were required to raise collater-

Dec. 20, 2018

65
Aug. 1, 2019

Note: 1) T he temporary designation of KHF MBS as eligible for use as
collateral for BOK loans was terminated as scheduled at the
end of 2018.
Source: Bank of Korea.

The Bank of Korea added the following securities as eligible for use as collateral: mort-

Implementation of Mobile Payment Ser-

gage-backed securities (KHF MBS) issued

vice Project

industrial financial bonds issued by the Ko-

As part of efforts to reduce the social costs

rea Development Bank (KDB bonds), small

associated with payments and settlements and

and medium business financial bonds issued

to enhance convenience for financial consum-

by the Industrial Bank of Korea (IBK bonds),

ers, the Committee on Financial Informatiza-

export-import financial debentures issued by

tion Promotion of the Bank of Korea, which is

the Korea Export and Import Bank (KEXIM

chaired by a Senior Deputy Governor of the

bonds), and securities temporarily designated

Bank, decided in July to implement a bank

as eligible for use as collateral in case of emer-

account-based mobile debit payment service

gency by the Governor of the Bank of Korea.

project in collaboration with the banking sec-

However, to prevent an overreliance on the

tor. This established the related technology

newly added eligible securities and to mitigate

standards 66) and advanced the building of a

any liquidity risk,

service platform.

65)

the proportion of these

newly-added eligible securities was limited to

65) For securities designated as eligible for use as collateral to guarantee net settlements, the BOK made sure that
existing securities continue to account for a fixed proportion of the total amount of eligible securities, as existing
securities are also used as collateral for BOK loans in cases of emergency.

5. Payment and Settlement Business

by the Korea Housing Finance Corporation,
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Furthermore, to relieve the burden placed

scope of securities eligible for use as collateral.

No change

∙K DB bonds, IBK
bonds, and KEXIM
∙Bonds temporarily
designated by Bank
of Korea governor in
case of emergency

2016.

cap ratio, the Bank of Korea expanded the

Effective date

∙K HF MBS (temporar- ∙KHF MBS
ily allowed until the (permanently
end of 2018)
allowed1))

Source: Bank of Korea.

al due to a hike in the collateral-to-net debit

After change

D. International Cooperation
Since 2016, the Bank of Korea has served as
the chair of the Executives’ Meeting of East
Asia-Pacific Central Banks (EMEAP) Working
Group on Payments and Market Infrastructures (WGPMI). Thanks to the BOK’s excellent management of the working group, it
was decided that the Bank would serve as the
Chair of the WGPMI for another two years
starting in 2018.
As a member of the Bank for International
66

Settlements (BIS) Committee on Payments
and Market Infrastructures (CPMI), an international body that sets international standards
for payments and settlements, the Bank successively organized international conferences
regarding payment and settlement systems,
including regular meetings of the BIS CPMI
and a joint conference for CPMI-registered
central banks. Furthermore, the Bank actively
participated in major research67) and working-level discussions to exchange information, all while taking part in the peer review
process involved with PFMI implementation
among its central bank counterparts in 19 major countries.
The Bank also continued its cooperation
with central banks in developing countries,
by sharing its experiences in the development
and operation of Korea’s payment and settlement systems, and offering policy-related
advice as requested through its various training programs for central bank staff from developing countries in the Asia-Pacific region,
including Laos and Cambodia.

66) They refer to standards on mobile payment means (QR code) and on host card emulation (HCE), which permits a
mobile device to work as a payment card.
67) These included reviewing the implementations of international standards such as the PFMI and publication of CBDC-related reports.

6. Foreign Exchange and International Cooperation Affairs

market and appropriate countermeasures at
many meetings, including those of its Monetary and Financial Task Force.68) Meanwhile,
when market volatility greatly expanded fol-

A. Foreign Exchange Affairs

lowing the domestic and international equity
price dives in October and amid the reversal

The Bank of Korea continues to enhance its

of policy rates in Korea and the U.S. in March,

emergency response capacity by strengthen-

the Bank endeavored to ease market anxieties

ing its monitoring activities to identify global

by enhancing communication through such

risk factors. It is also set to disclose the details

measures as announcing its intention to im-

of market stabilization measures to increase

plement market stabilization policies where

the transparency of foreign exchange policies,

necessary in accordance with the emergency

while devoting efforts to settle the FX Global

response plan.

Code in Korea and to improve the system for
Enhancing Transparency of Foreign Exchange Policy
Strengthening the Monitoring of Global
Risk Factors and Enhancing the Capacity
for Emergency Responses

In cooperation with the Ministry of Economy and Finance, the Bank of Korea established its Plan to Increase Transparency of
the Foreign Exchange Policy in May 2018 and

expand volatility in international financial

decided to announce the details of market sta-

markets, including the normalization of

bilization measures in phases starting at the

monetary policy by the U.S. Federal Reserve,

end of March 2019. The decision to announce

political instability in the euro area, financial

the market stabilization measures was made

anxieties in some emerging economies, and

based on the results of the Bank’s in-depth as-

the U.S.-China trade dispute, the Bank of

sessment of the growth of the Korean foreign

Korea continued its efforts to strengthen its

exchange market, improvements in external

monitoring capacity and maintain stability

soundness, recommendations from the inter-

in the domestic foreign exchange market. In

national community, such as the International

particular, at times when concerns about the

Monetary Fund, and cases in other countries.

simultaneous decline of the global stock mar-

The details were scheduled to be announced

kets grew with market instability caused by

in March and September 2019 as semiannual

the U.S. Federal Reserve’s rate increase, the

material and as quarterly material from De-

Bank examined the reactions in the global fi-

cember 2019 onward. Increased transparency

nancial markets and discussed the subsequent

in foreign exchange policy is expected to con-

impacts on the domestic foreign exchange

tribute to reducing possible misunderstand-

68) These included seven meetings of the Monetary and Financial Task Force (related to the meetings of the FOMC of
the U.S. Federal Reserve, to a slump in U.S. stock markets, to the breakdown of the North Korea-U.S. summit, etc.)
and two financial and economic conditions review meetings (related to the March and September meetings of the
FOMC of the U.S. Federal Reserve).
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In response to overseas risk factors that
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foreign exchange transactions.

67

ings about the operation of foreign exchange

part in the GFXC to evaluate the code and to

policy and to raising the reliability of the

discuss progress of the Working Group and

policy, thereby improving the stability of the

future plans.

foreign exchange market in the medium- to
long-term.

Improving Foreign Exchange Transaction
System

Commitment to the FX Global Code
In cooperation with the government, the

68

The Bank of Korea has completed internal

Bank of Korea implemented measures to im-

inspections for compliance with the FX Global

prove the foreign exchange transaction sys-

Code69) and announced a Statement of Com-

tem through such means as relaxing relevant

mitment to the FX Global Code on its website

regulations in a bid to support the creation of

in May 2018. The content of the statement

innovative services in the foreign exchange

includes its commitment to advocating and

sector, including remittances and exchange

complying with the FX Global Code and im-

businesses, and to enhance convenience for

plementing the required internal procedures.

consumers. Specifically, during 2018 the Bank

The Bank also continued to implement fol-

worked to ameliorate the foreign exchange

low-up measures to successfully establish the

system by actively participating in the Foreign

code in Korea. For example, in collaboration

Exchange Regulation Reform TF and other

with the Seoul Foreign Exchange Committee

relevant meetings for regulatory reform, which

(FXC), the Bank distributed a Korean trans-

were organized by the Ministry of Economy

lation of the FX Global Code to market par-

and Finance, and made a range of active pro-

ticipants, established a Public Register of the

posals, such as the elimination of barriers in

Statement of Commitment to the FX Global

the foreign exchange sector,70) an expansion

Code for domestic FX market participants on

of transactions that are exempt from the obli-

its website, and linked the Public Register to

gation of prior report,71) making adjustments

the Global Index of the Global Foreign Ex-

at institutions so that they report same-type

change Committee (GFXC) to enhance inter-

foreign exchange transactions,72) and the

national linkages. Furthermore, the Bank took

adoption of a prevention and tracking system

69) As a member of the Foreign Exchange Working Group that operates under the BIS, the Bank of Korea took part in
the establishment of the FX Global Code. This global code of conduct for foreign exchange trading activities was
designed in response to foreign exchange market misconduct, including a foreign-exchange manipulation scandal
in the London market, with the aim of promoting effective market functions by restoring trust and heightening integrity in markets. The FX Global Code was declared on May 25, 2017.
70) The Bank allowed securities companies and credit-card companies to operate small-value overseas remittance
businesses and lifted the existing remittance limit for such small-value overseas remittance service providers.
71) Standardized transactions, such as a domestic resident’s small-value lease of overseas real estate and a tax refund
company’s third-party payment, were exempted from the obligation of prior report.
72) This includes the transfer of a report to the Bank of Korea on the won-denominated currency capital transactions
between non-domestic residents (which was to be reported to the Ministry of Economy and Finance before) and
transfer of the reports from the Bank of Korea to foreign exchange banks on the domestic resident’s borrowing
under the name of the overseas local firm and on the acquisition of overseas real estate by the domestic resident
whose purpose is to stay in the country for less than two years.

to fight illegal foreign exchange transactions,73)
all of which are taking effect in 2019.

Table Ⅲ- 15. Composition of Foreign Exchange
Reserves (As of year-end)
(million USD)

B. Reserve Management
The Bank of Korea manages the national

2016
Foreign exchange
reserves

2018(B) Change(B-A)

371,102 389,267 403,694

14,428

361,701 379,477 393,332

13,856

foreign exchange reserves, which comprise

Foreign exchange

of the country’s external payment reserve

SDR

assets of last resort, based on the principle of

Reserve position in IMF

1,727

enhancing profitability while placing its top

Gold

4,795

priority on securing safety and liquidity. In or-

2017(A)

2,878

3,374

3,427

52

1,621

2,140

519

4,795

4,795

0

Source: Bank of Korea.

der to preserve the value of its invested assets,
the Bank places tight restrictions on investing

Tranching Reserve Assets

in assets with high credit risks, of which the
The Bank maintains a high level of liquidity

change reserves into the short-term liquidity

by investing its foreign exchange reserves in

tranche and the investment tranche, in ac-

assets that can be promptly liquidated in glob-

cordance with its purposes for holding them.

al financial markets. It meanwhile also en-

The investment tranche is divided into the

deavors to enhance profitability, considering

internally managed tranche and the externally

the holding costs of foreign exchange reserves.

managed tranche.

Size, Composition of Foreign Exchange

principally in short-term financial instru-

Reserves

ments, such as U.S. Treasury bills and depos-

The short-term liquidity tranche is invested

its, since they incur minimal transaction costs
As of the end of 2018, South Korea’s foreign

and can be liquidated immediately for timely

exchange reserves totaled 403.7 billion dollars,

responses to frequent demands for foreign ex-

higher by 14.4 billion dollars than that at the

change at the Bank.

end of the previous year. The country’s foreign

In order to obtain stable profits while

exchange holdings, which include securities

maintaining a high level of liquidity, the

and deposits and account for the majority of

Bank invests its internally-managed invest-

the foreign exchange reserves, amounted to

ment tranche in bonds, such as government

393.3 billion dollars, up by 13.9 billion dollars

bonds, agency bonds, corporate bonds and

from the previous year-end. Its Special Draw-

Asset-Backed Securities (ABSes), denomi-

ing Rights (SDRs) and IMF position recorded

nated in major foreign currencies. Although

3.4 billion dollars and 2.1 billion dollars, re-

the Bank of Korea operates the short-term

spectively, while it held 4.8 billion dollars in

liquidity tranche and the internally-managed

gold, the same level as the end of 2017.

investment tranche separately, in cases where

73) The system enables tracking and management regarding the implementation of items reported to the Bank of Korea and the identification of forgeries.
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The Bank of Korea separates its foreign ex-
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principal and interest may not be recovered.

69

70

the balance of the short-term liquidity tranche

tranche, while decreasing the size of the

shows significant change in its size owing to

investment tranche. As for the currency com-

flows in and out of the foreign exchange re-

position, the Bank increased its holdings of

serves, the Bank transfers foreign exchange

U.S. dollar-denominated assets owing to the

reserves swiftly between the two tranches in

expectations of a strong dollar based upon the

order to appropriately maintain the size of the

robust growth of the U.S. economy and the

short-term liquidity tranche.

U.S. Federal Reserve’s rate hikes in 2018. Ac-

The externally managed investment tranche

cordingly, as of year-end 2018, the U.S. dollar

is entrusted to the Korea Investment Corpora-

accounted for 69.8 percent of the Bank’s re-

tion (KIC) and to renowned international asset

serve assets, 1.7 percentage points more than

management companies, comprising of stocks

that at the end of 2017.

as well as bonds, to enhance profitability by

In terms of asset classes, the Bank allocated

using their market expertise and through the

more of its assets to government bonds in re-

diversification effect. It is mostly composed of

sponse to prolonged uncertainty in the global

bonds with high credit ratings and listed blue-

financial markets, taking account of govern-

chip stocks, and thus can be liquidated without

ment bonds’ high level of safety and the large

any difficulty when needed.

market size. In contrast, the Bank reduced

74)

At the end of 2018, 5.3 percent of the Bank’s

the share of its holdings of stocks and other

foreign exchange reserves were managed in

bonds, such as agency bonds, corporate bonds

the short-term liquidity tranche, 76.4 percent

and ABSes.

in the internally managed investment tranche,
and 18.3 percent in the externally managed
investment tranche.
Proactive Responses to Expanded Volatility in International Financial Markets
In 2018, the decline in global liquidity following the monetary policy normalizations
by central banks in major countries, together
with the U.S.-China trade dispute and financial market anxieties in some emerging economies, resulted in higher market volatility. In
response, the Bank of Korea focused on maintaining a sufficient level of safety and liquidity
of its foreign reserves.
With regard to the tranches, the Bank increased the size of the short-term liquidity

74) For further details about the composition of externally managed investment tranche, please refer to Box III -2 Current Status of External Management of Reserve Assets.

Table Ⅲ- 16. Percentage Shares in Foreign Assets1)
(As of year-end)
(%, %p)

2016

2017(A)

2018(B) Change(B-A)

quidity costs75) of its holdings so as to respond
more effectively to financial crises, and also by
performing stress tests for various hypothetical crises.

1. By purpose
Short-term liquidity
tranche

enhancing a new method of estimating the li-

4.7

3.2

5.3

2.1

In addition, the Bank conducted a detailed
safety examination of the Society Worldwide
Interbank Financial Telecommunication

Investment tranche
Internally managed

77.3

77.7

76.4

-1.3

(SWIFT) system and evaluated its response

Externally managed

18.0

19.1

18.3

-0.8

plan for each emergency situation, while con-

2. By currency

ducting recovery drills on a regular basis, all

U.S. dollars

70.3

68.1

69.8

1.7

in order to ensure preemptive responses to

Others

29.7

31.9

30.2

-1.7

various disasters or financial crises.

3. By asset class
Deposits

6.8

5.0

-1.8

36.9

37.5

42.9

5.4

Agency bonds

21.0

19.2

18.0

-1.2

Corporate bonds

14.8

14.7

13.7

-1.0

ABS

13.1

13.2

12.8

-0.4

7.7

8.6

7.6

-1.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

-

Securities
Government bonds

Equity
Total

Note: 1) T his table is a break-down of the “foreign exchange” item in
<Table Ⅲ-15> owned by Bank of Korea.

change Reserve Management
In response to the expansion of the size
of its foreign exchange reserves, the Bank of
Korea improved the efficiency of its overall
reserves management system by, for example,
putting into place a partial realignment of
the organizational structure of the Reserves
Management Group and expanding the asset
range of reserves entrusted to domestic finan-

Strengthening Risk Management of Foreign Exchange Reserves

cial institutions.
As the foreign exchange reserves had increased to more than 400 billion dollars, asset

The Bank of Korea reinforced its means of

allocation and risk management became more

risk management while carrying out inspec-

significant. In this regard, the Bank restruc-

tions of its IT and settlement systems together

tured the Reserves Management Group to

with periodic emergency management drills,

better ensure checks and balances between

to strengthen the management of various

sub-divisions of the organization.76) The Re-

risks in its overall reserves management sys-

serve Management Strateg y Division has

tem.

been reorganized in an effort to strengthen

In terms of risk management, the Bank

the middle office, while the Investment Man-

upgraded its risk management system by

agement Division, the front office, now incor-

75) Liquidity costs refer to transaction costs expected to be required for liquidating foreign exchange reserves through
sales conducted under normal circumstances or during financial crises.
76) For further details on the organizational restructuring, please refer to Section 1 of Chapter IV “Restructuring of the
Reserve Management Group.”
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Source: Bank of Korea.
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Figure Ⅲ- 13. C
 apacity Buildling Program for the 2018 Bank of Korea Knowledge Partnership Program
with the State Bank of Vietnam (September 12, 2018)

72

Source: Bank of Korea.

porates both top-down and bottom-up strat-

Strengthening International Cooperation

egy. The front office, nonetheless, handles the

for Foreign Exchange Reserves Manage-

two strategies separately, just as Investment

ment

Management Division I and II did before. The
Bank also hired the new head of the risk man-

The Bank of Korea improved its internation-

agement team through an open recruitment

al cooperation by discussing foreign exchange

process to gain more expertise in risk man-

reserve management issues with international

agement.

organizations and central banks overseas, as

Furthermore, the Bank initiated transac-

well as by providing central banks in emerg-

tions of foreign currency-denominated bonds

ing economies with education and training, as

with domestic securities companies in a bid to

opportunities to learn from the Bank’s expe-

diversify its trading partners and to promote

riences with foreign exchange reserves man-

the development of the domestic financial

agement.

market, all while increasing the volume of

During 2018, the Bank of Korea held work-

transactions to help domestic securities com-

shops with the Central Bank of the Republic

panies become the Bank’s trading partners as

of Turkey and Bank Indonesia to discuss the

soon as possible.77)

composition of and management systems for

77) In 2017, the Bank of Korea implemented procedures to select domestic securities companies to be its trading partners for foreign currency-denominated bonds, and commenced relevant transactions in 2018.

their foreign exchange reserves and to share
its investment experiences with them. The
Bank also exchanged opinions as part of the
World Bank’s advisory program, focusing on
major current trends in investment strategies.
In addition, it actively participated in meetings
hosted by international organizations, such
as workshops organized by the BIS on foreign
reserves management in Asia and at high-level forums hosted by the World Bank.
In the same year, the Bank of Korea also
conducted training programs for working-level staff from the central banks of many different countries, including Cambodia, Costa
an increasing number of requests in 2018 for
training in foreign exchange reserves management.

III. Bank of Korea’s Conduct of Its Business

Rica, Brazil and Vietnam, all in response to

73

6. Foreign Exchange and International Cooperation Affairs

The externally-managed investment tranche

Box III-2.

is composed of bond funds, equity funds and
hybrid funds. Bond funds consist of the funds
invested in advanced countries’ government

External Management of Foreign Exchange Reserve Assets

bonds, blue-chip corporate bonds, ABSes, and
Inflation-Indexed Bonds (IIBs), and also include
the Asian Bond Fund (ABF).78) Equity funds are

74

The Bank of Korea partially entrusts the

mostly composed of stocks in advanced coun-

management of foreign exchange reserves to

tries, but also include Chinese stocks. Hybrid

international asset management companies and

funds manage both bonds and equity, and

to the Korea Investment Corporation (KIC). The

include funds managed by the KIC, the Global

external management is a means, on one hand,

Tactical Asset Allocation Fund (GTAA),79) and

to benefit from the investment strategies and

the Balancing Fund.80) As of year-end 2018, the

experiences accumulated by the management

externally-managed investment tranche is com-

companies and strengthen the Bank’s capacity

prised of 21 bond funds, 22 equity funds and 4

to manage its own reserves, and on the other

hybrid funds.

hand, to diversify investment products and management strategies to achieve higher profitability.
Over the past 10 years, the externally-man-

Figure Ⅲ- 14. C
 omposition of Funds in the
Externally-managed Investment
Tranche1) (As of the end of 2018)

aged investment tranche of the Bank of Korea
has accounted for 14 to 19 percent of the Bank’s
total foreign exchange reserve assets, and as of
the end of 2018, its share stood at 18.3 percent.

Table Ⅲ- 17. P
 ercentage Shares of the Externallymanaged Investment Tranche in Foreign
Assets1) (As of year-end)
(%)

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
14.1 14.3 15.8 16.7 15.3 15.2 15.5 18.0 19.1 18.3
Note: 1) T his table is a break-down of the “foreign exchange” item in
<Table Ⅲ-15> owned by Bank of Korea.
Source: Bank of Korea.

Notes: 1) The numbers in parentheses refer to the number of funds.
2) H
 ybrid-type bond funds that invest in advanced countries’
government bonds, blue-chip corporate bonds, ABSes, etc.
Source: Bank of Korea

Meanwhile, the Bank entrusts the management of some of its foreign exchange reserves
to the KIC in accordance with the Korea Investment Corporation Act. As of the end of 2018, the
amount in principal alone of the foreign exchange
reserves entrusted to the KIC stood at 25 billion
dollars.

78) This is a fund launched by the East Asia-Pacific Central Banks (EMEAP) group with the aim of developing Asian
bond markets. It invests in Asian sovereign and quasi-sovereign bonds in eight EMEAP economies.
79) This is a fund that invests in both bonds and equity, and makes a profit by adjusting the weights between bonds
and stocks.
80) T
 his fund is used to adjust the shares of asset classes in the externally-managed investment tranche.

Furthermore, the Bank has been using domestic asset management companies as external
managers for some of its foreign exchange reserves in order to boost the development of the
domestic asset management industry. Up until
2018, domestic external managers were limited
to managing Chinese stocks only, but the scope
of their investments is expected to expand, for
example, to include advanced countries’ stocks,
as their capacity for managing such assets has
significantly improved due to an increase in domestic investors’ interest and investment in foreign securities.
75
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C. International Cooperation

Active Participation in Global Policy Coordination

The Bank of Korea continued to actively
carry out bilateral and multilateral global co-

The Bank of Korea participated actively

operation in order to respond effectively to

in global discussions on policy coordina-

changes in the financial and economic envi-

tion within international organizations and

ronment since the global financial crisis and

consultative bodies, and therein actively ex-

to fulfill Korea’s responsibilities in line with its

pressed Korea’s positions while contributing

elevated international status.

to the formulation of policy responses to cur-

The Bank endeavored to boost global policy

76

rent global financial issues.

coordination within international financial

Together with the Korean government, the

circles and to promote both Korea’s national

Bank participated in G20 meetings of finance

interests and the international common good

ministers and central bank governors (on four

by participating actively in meetings of inter-

occasions) and those of deputy finance min-

national organizations and consultative bod-

isters and central bank deputy governors (on

ies, such as the G20, the IMF and the BIS. In

three occasions). In the meetings, the Bank

particular, as Governor Lee Juyeol was elected

evaluated risk factors facing the world econ-

as a member of the BIS Board of Directors, the

omy, such as trade tensions and capital out-

roles of the Bank have expanded even further

flows from emerging economies. In addition,

within international financial circles.

It also

the Bank also discussed issues in the global

played a leading role in the activities and dis-

financial system such as an inclusive, fair and

cussions of Asia-Pacific regional consultative

sustainable Future of Work, a roadmap to

bodies, including the ASEAN+3, SEACEN

develop infrastructure as investment assets,

and EMEAP.

strengthening the global financial safety net

81)

In addition, the Bank worked to deepen

and global financial governance reform, and

and improve its cooperation with developing

assessed the implementation of global fi-

countries across the region. In particular,

nancial regulatory reform and its impacts. In

it shared its diverse policy implementation

addition, the Bank participated actively in dis-

experiences in accordance with the needs of

cussions on issues such as global imbalances,

developing countries by expanding its Knowl-

the impact of technological advancements in

edge Partnership Program, designed to pro-

the financial sector, and financial inclusion.

vide comprehensive policy advice to central

The Bank also took active part in discus-

banks in developing countries, and by provid-

sions during IMF and World Bank meetings

ing training programs for central bank staff in

(on two occasions) and at BIS central bank

those countries.

governors’ meetings (on five occasions), all related to the world economic outlook, to world
financial stability conditions, to global financial and economic issues and policy tasks, and

81) For further details on the appointment of Governor Lee Juyeol as a director of the BIS, please refer to Box III-3 Appointment of Governor Lee Juyeol as BIS Board Member.

to aid to low-income countries. Through these

ships among regional member countries.

meetings, the Bank strove to reflect Korea’s

First of all, the Bank worked to enhance

positions concerning the international finan-

cooperation among ASEAN+3 member coun-

cial policy coordination process.

tries in the monetary and financial spheres.
In particular, the Bank not only took the lead

Table Ⅲ- 18. Main Themes of International Forums
(2018)

Forums

Main themes

G20 Finance Ministers’ and Central
Bank Governors’
Meetings (March and
July, Buenos Aires
/ April, Washington,
D.C. / October, Bali)

Risk factors facing the world
economy, the global financial
system, a roadmap to develop infrastructure as investment assets,
financial inclusion, technological
advancement in the finance sector,
international taxes, Compact With
Africa, etc.

Bimonthly BIS
Meetings (January,
March, May, June,
September, November, Basel)

Global financial and economic
issues and policy agenda, etc.

Source: Bank of Korea.

but also enhanced the capabilities of the
ASEAN+3 Macroeconomic Research Office
(AMRO), 82) a regional macroeconomic research institute, and promoted the effective
management thereof. The Bank also attended
the annual Tripartite Central Bank Governors’
Meeting83) between Korea, China and Japan,
and exchanged opinions on the financial and
economic trends in each country, as well as
the current status and challenges facing fintech, thereby enhancing the relevant understanding among the central banks of Seoul,
Beijing and Tokyo.
While serving a term as chair of the Working Group on Payment and Settlement Systems under EMEAP, the Bank took a leading
role in joint research related to digital innova-

Strengthening Regional Financial Coop-

well as in the amendment of the agreement

eration

for the management of the Working Group’s
subgroups. In addition, while serving as a

The Bank of Korea actively participated in

member of the EXCO Advisory Committee

discussions on current financial and econom-

(EAC) of SEACEN, the Bank engaged actively

ic issues at international organizations and

in the overall decision-making concerning

consultative bodies across the Asia-Pacific,

management of the SEACEN Centre.

including among the ASEAN+3, EMEAP),
SEACEN and the AIIB, as well as participating in the various activities of their affiliated
working groups, and also worked accordingly
to strengthen financial cooperative relation82) The ASEAN+3 countries established the ASEAN+3 Macroeconomic Research Office in April 2011 based on the
CMIM Agreement, and subsequently strengthened the regional monitoring system by officially converting AMRO to
an international organization in February 2016.
83) The central banks of Korea, China and Japan have taken turns hosting this meeting annually since 2009. In 2018,
the People’s Bank of China hosted the meeting in Tianjin from Nov. 23 to 24.
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tion in the payment and settlement sector, as
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IMF and World Bank
World economic outlook, global fiGroup Meetings
nancial stability conditions, global
(April, Washington,
policy agenda, etc.
D.C. / October, Bali)

in the amendment of the CMIM agreement,

Table Ⅲ- 19. Main Themes of Asia-Pacific
Regional Forums (2018)

Forums

Main themes

Regional and global
21st ASEAN+3 Finance
financial and economic
Ministers’ and Central Bank trends, directions to amend
Governors’ Meeting (May, the CMIM Agreement to
Manila)
enhance the provision of
financing.

78

Potential risk factors in
each country’s economic
18th Trilateral Finance
and financial markets,
Ministers’ and Central Bank
plans for financial coopGovernors’ Meeting (May,
eration between the three
Manila)
countries within the region,
etc.
23rd Executives’ Meeting of Impacts of global factors
EMEAP Governors’ Meeting on monetary policies within
(August, Manila)
the region, etc.
7th Executives’ Meeting
of EMEAP Governors /
Financial Supervisory Organization Heads’ Meeting
(August, Manila)

Impacts of the development
of fintech on the financial
system, financial cycle and
macroprudential policy, etc.

10th Tripartite Governors’
Meeting among People’s
Bank of China, Bank of
Japan and Bank of Korea
(November, Tianjin)

Each country’s financial
and economic trend, current status and challenges
of fintech, etc.

54th SEACEN Governors’
Conference (December,
Colombo)

 onetary policies in the
M
rapidly-changing environment, etc.

Source: Bank of Korea.

Further Sharing of Policy Experiences
with Developing Country Central Banks

network with financial institutions in Korea.
First of all, the Bank expanded the scope of
activities for its Knowledge Partnership Program (KPP),84) and enhanced the program implementation method to maximize efficiency.
The Bank of Korea continued to conduct the
program with its 2017 KPP partner countries,
such as Laos, Vietnam, Cambodia, Mongolia
and Nepal, in order to form close ties with
central banks in those countries. The Bank
also expanded its technical assistance to developing countries across the region by adding
Sri Lanka to its list of KPP partner countries.

Table Ⅲ- 20. BOK-Knowledge Partnership
Program (KPP) (2018)

Country

Main topic

Lao P.D.R.

Enactment of Payment and Settlement Systems Regulations under National Payment
System Law

Vietnam

Risk Management in Foreign Exchange
Reserves Management, including Risk Mapping

Cambodia

Macroeconomic and Financial Linkages:
Analysis and Implications

Mongolia

Financial Stability: Institutional Aspects and
Implications of Macro-prudential Policy

Nepal
Sri Lanka

Payment and Settlement Systems Development
Financial Market Development: Public Debt
Management

Source: Bank of Korea.

By sharing our policy implementation expe-

With regard to the program’s management,

riences and providing technical assistance, the

the Bank sought the participation of spe-

Bank of Korea cemented friendly and coop-

cialized institutions in Korea with extensive

erative relationships with central banks from

experience in carrying out cooperative devel-

across the developing world, all while contrib-

opment projects to conduct joint research with

uting to enabling the central banks to form a

central banks of the KPP Partner Countries

84) The BOK-KPP is a policy advisory and technical support program designed to share the Bank’s business knowledge, policy implementation experiences, and Korea’s experiences in developing its financial system and infrastructure with central banks in developing countries.

and to provide broader capacity-building
training for working-level staff, with the aim
to enhance their understanding of program
subjects and cultivate the business capabilities of central bank employees. The Bank also
encouraged its advice to be reflected in the
actual policymaking processes of those countries through policy-related conversations
with high-ranking executives from the KPP
Partner Countries’ central banks as well as
promotional activities conducted with the help
of local press and financial institutions.
Furthermore, at the request of the Bank
of Lao P.D.R., which signed an MOU for exBank conducted a short-term training pro-

Issues and dates

Numbers of participants

Foreign Exchange Reserve
Management (March 6-9)

9 participants,
6 countries

Monetary Policy
(April 17-20)

18 participants,
9 countries

Economic Statistics
(June 19-22)

9 participants,
8 countries

Internal Management
(September 4-7)

17 participants,
12 countries

Financial Stability
(October 23-26)

16 participants,
6 countries

Payment and Settlement
Systems (November 13-16)

16 participants,
10 countries

Source: Bank of Korea.

gram in Laos under the theme of the promotion of small and medium-sized businesses.

Expansion of Subscriptions and Contri-

It also invited employees from the Bank of

butions to International Financial Institu-

the Lao P.D.R. and the Nepal Rastra Bank

tions

to Korea to provide training related to BOK
During 2018, the Bank of Korea paid a total

strengthening the cooperative relationship

of 377 million dollars (355 million dollars in

among central banks.

subscriptions, 22 million dollars in contribu-

The Bank also conducted six Central Bank-

tions) at the government’s request for sub-

ing Study Programs (CBSPs) encompassing

scriptions and contributions to international

monetary policy, financial stability, foreign

financial institutions and consultative bodies

exchange reserve management, economic sta-

in accordance with the Act on the Measures

tistics, payment and settlement systems, and

for the Admission to International Financial

internal management. This year’s attendees

Institutions. As a consequence, its subscrip-

included 85 staff members from 16 central

tions and contributions to international finan-

banks in developing countries. The Bank also

cial institutions totaled 16.5 billion dollars as

provided short-term study programs to 258

of the end of 2018. The reasons behind this

visitors from foreign central banks and gov-

increase in subscriptions and contributions in

ernment agencies.

2018 included a subscription to participate in
the 18th Replenishment of the International
Development Association (IDA), and a subscription related to the founding of the Asian
Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB).

6. Foreign Exchange and International Cooperation Affairs

payment and settlement systems, thereby
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change and cooperation with the Bank, the

Table Ⅲ- 21. Central Banking Study Program
(CBSP) (2018)

Table Ⅲ- 22. Total Subscriptions and Contributions to International Financial
Institutions (As of year-end)

Table Ⅲ- 23. Loans to IMF (As of year-end)
(million SDR)

(million USD)

Subscriptions
IMF
IBRD
IDA
ADB

2018(B)

Change(B-A)

15,191

15,545

354

11,861

11,861

0

263

263

0

1,693

1,840

147

293

293

0

AfDB·AfDF

439

473

34

AIIB

449

598

149

Other
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2017(A)

Contributions

193

217

24

933

955

22

IMF

72

72

0

IBRD

34

34

0

ADB·ADF

605

627

22

IDB·MIF

161

161

0

IIC

40

40

0

Other

21

21

0

16,124

16,501

377

Total

2017(A)

In 2018
Loan

Repayment

2018(B) Change(B-A)

NAB

397

0

137

260

-137

PRGT

22

65

1

86

64

Total

419

65

138

346

-73

Source: Bank of Korea.

Source: Bank of Korea.

Meanwhile, as of year-end 2018, the Bank’s
total loans to the IMF amounted to 346 million SDRs. These loans included 260 million
SDRs in lending through the New Arrangements to Borrow (NAB), and loans of 86 million SDRs through the borrowing agreement
of the Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust
(PRGT).85) While the loans through the PRGT
borrowing agreement had increased by 64
million SDRs compared to the previous year,
the total loan volume in 2018 was 73 million
SDRs lower, in line with the IMF’s repayment
of 137 million SDRs of the loan through the
NAB.

85) This is an agreement between the IMF and individual countries that is designed to arrange concessional financing
for Low Income Countries (LICs). Korea signed the agreement in 2011, and made its first loan to this fund in 2013.

Box III-3.

Table Ⅲ- 24. Composition of the BIS Board of
Directors1)

Appointment of Governor Lee Juyeol as
BIS Board Member
Ex-officio

Governor Lee Juyeol of the Bank of Korea
was elected as a new member of the BIS Board
of Directors during a regular meeting at BIS
headquarters in Basel, Switzerland, on Nov. 11,
2018. Governor Lee was appointed for a three-

Member

Number of
directors

Term

Central bank governors of Belgium,
France, Germany,
Italy, the United Kingdom and the United
States of America

6

Term of
serving as
a Governor

1

Three
years
(Consecutive term
possible)

11

Three
years
(Consecutive term
possible)

Governor of the FedAppointed eral Reserve Bank of
New York

year term, which started in January 2019.
The BIS Board of Directors is the de facto top
decides medium- to long-term strategies and

Elected2)

policy directions and discusses current international economic and financial issues. The Board
may have up to 18 directors,86) including six
ex-officio directors, one appointed director, and
up to 11 elected directors.

81

Notes: 1) As of January 2019
2) E
 lected from among governors of the member countries’
central banks, excluding the ex-officio directors, by a twothirds majority vote of the Board
Source: BIS

bers of the Economic Consultative Committee,
proposing agenda topics for discussions at the
Global Economy Meeting87) and at BIS committees, and providing recommendations to the
Global Economic Meeting on the appointment
of Chairs of the committees.
This was the first time for a governor from the
South Korean central bank to be elected to the
position of BIS director since the country officially joined the BIS in 1997. This result can be seen
as international recognition of Korea’s growing

86) The BIS held an Extraordinary General Meeting on Nov. 7, 2016, and amended the Statutes of the Bank of International Settlement to decrease the number of appointed directors (from six to one) and to increase the number of
elected directors (from nine to 11), and the amendment was to come into effect starting on Jan. 1, 2019.
87) A bimonthly meeting where central bank governors from the 30 major BIS member countries participate. At the
meeting, the governors discuss international economic trends and global financial and economic issues, while providing guidance to various BIS committees on international finance and payment & settlement.

6. Foreign Exchange and International Cooperation Affairs

In particular, the directors also serve as mem-
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decision-making organization of the BIS, which

Central bank governors of Sweden, the
Netherlands, Switzerland, Japan, Canada,
the ECB, Mexico,
China, Brazil, India,
and South Korea

international stature, Governor Lee Juyeol’s contributions to the bimonthly BIS meetings, and
to his active participation in discussions about
major issues since 2014.
Membership on the BIS Board of Directors
created an opportunity to lead discussions
about international financial issues and significantly expanded cooperation channels to
discuss directly and whenever needed with central banks of major countries issues of mutual
interests or current issues, either in-person or by
phone.
82
Figure Ⅲ- 15. B
 IS General Manager’s Visit to
Korea1) (Nov. 20, 2018)

Note: 1) Agustin Carstens, the General Manager of the BIS, visited the
Bank of Korea to give a briefing on the overall tasks of the BIS
Board of Directors immediately after Governor Lee’s election
as a new member of the BIS Board.
Source: Bank of Korea

7. R esearch and Statistical
Compilation

From the domestic perspective, the Bank
performed an analysis of the real economy,
including consumption and investment in
order to accurately assess the domestic econ-

A. Research Activities

omy at a time when domestic and overseas
risk factors increase uncertainties concerning

The Bank of Korea carries out extensive re-

growth paths. With regard to consumption,

search in order to support the establishment

the Bank assessed causes behind changes in

and enforcement of effective monetary and

service consumption,88) while examining the

credit policies. These research efforts include

background of the rapid increase in overseas

a wide range of topics, such as growth, infla-

consumption and evaluating the resulting

tion, employment, currency, finance and the

economic impacts.89) In the case of facilities

global economy. The Bank publishes its find-

investment, which has undergone an adjust-

ings through various reports and papers.

ment since the second quarter of 2018, the

(1) Head Office Research Activities

the examination of sectoral conditions.90) Taking into account the expanding roles of public

Analysis of Key Pending Issues in the Korean

finance in economic recovery, the Bank ex-

Economy

amined the underlying trend of fiscal policies,
and estimated the effects of fiscal activities on

During 2018, the Bank of Korea most-

economic growth.91)
The Bank conducted an in-depth analysis of

pending economic issues on analyzing the

the effects of the on-going structural changes

consequences of key external risk factors. The

in the Korean economy on the real economy,

Bank analyzed the impacts of the global rise

and explored potential policy directions. First

of protectionism and the U.S.-China trade

of all, it analyzed the background of the de-

dispute on the Korean economy through trade

cline in the underlying trend of exports’ spill-

and uncertainty channels, and assessed the

over effects on domestic demand, and sug-

possibility of a hard landing for the Chinese

gested policy directions to boost employment

economy by examining trends in the Chinese

and investment through exports.92) Moreover,

real estate market. The Bank also investigated

amid the significant expansion of online

the future sustainability of global economic

transactions, the Bank analyzed the effects of

growth based on an analysis of global con-

this trend on the real economy, including em-

sumption, investment and policy conditions.

ployment and inflation, and sought to derive

88) E xamination and Assessment of Factors Causing Service Consumption Changes (Economic Outlook Report, July
2018)
89) Factors of Changes in Overseas Consumption and Their Economic Effects (BOK Issue Note, March 2018)
90) E
 valuation of Future Facilities Investment Conditions (Economic Outlook Report, October 2018)
91) T he Recent Fiscal Policies (Monetary Policy Report, July 2018); Calculation of Fiscal Impact Measure for Korea
(Monthly Bulletin, September 2018)
92) The Effects of Exports on Domestic Demand (Monthly Bulletin, July 2018)
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ly focused its research activities related to
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Bank predicted its recovery timing based upon

83

related policy implications.93)

changes in the internal and external envi-

In relation to the labor market, the Bank ex-

ronments, including the strengthening of the

amined employment conditions and forecast

global value chain, the increased volatility of

employment prospects, taking into account

global oil prices and the decrease in the trend

the sluggish employment environment where

growth rate. The Bank also published its Eco-

growth in the number of employed workers

nomic Outlook Report on a quarterly basis

contracted sharply. In addition, it suggested

as part of its efforts to share its forecasts with

effective policy measures to increase female

economic agents.

participation in economic activity and to nar-

In terms of medium- to long-term research,

row the gender-based wage gap by searching

the Bank selected employment issues as a

for measures to expand married women’s

key focus of efforts and performed a variety

participation in economic activities.

It also

of research. After the completion of each re-

examined factors behind the change in the la-

search project, the Bank published the results

bor force participation rate with a focus on the

in its BOK Working Papers. It also published

prime-age workers group of 30- to 54-year-

a research paper series titled The Change in

old males, and sought to derive related policy

Employment Structure and Policy Tasks as a

implications.

compilation of 14 research papers. This was

94)

84

95)

With regard to prices, the Bank examined

distributed to the government, the National

the potential weakening of underlying infla-

Assembly, research centers and other rele-

tionary pressures and their potential future

vant institutions for reference in formulating

directions by monitoring the trends of core in-

related policies and conducting follow-up

flation and analyzing personal service prices.

academic research. In addition, the Bank

It also conducted research on other pending

released extensive in-depth research results

issues such as the assessment of the macro-

on a wide range of issues such as the Fourth

economic effects of administered prices.

Industrial Revolution and Korea’s capacity for

Meanwhile, the Bank continued its efforts to

innovation, the dynamic analysis of inventory

establish the infrastructure needed to ensure

investments and economic fluctuations, the

the improved accuracy of identifying current

relationship between the reputation of central

business cycle phase and the economic out-

banks and inflation-unemployment, foreign

look. Most notably, it secured new monitoring

exchange reserves and bank loans, and the

indicators such as foreigners’ credit card sales

effects of monetary policies on capital flows.

and online purchase data, strengthening its
capability to assess economic situations based
on its monitoring activities. The Bank of Korea Dynamic Stochastic General Equilibrium
(BOKDSGE) model was upgraded to reflect
93) Effects of the Expansion of Online Transactions and Their Implications (BOK Issue Note, December 2018)
94) A nalysis of Policies to Increase Married Woman’s Participation in Economic Activities (Monthly Bulletin, August
2018)
95) Assessment of Change in the Labor Force Participation Rate: A Focus on the Key Male Workforce Age Group (BOK
Issue Note, December 2018)

Figure Ⅲ- 16. 2018 BOK International Conference (June 4~5, 2018, Seoul)
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Expansion of the Global Research Network

academic institutions and international orga-

and Exchanges

nizations participated in thesis presentations

In order to increase both its international

roles of monetary policies, which have been

cooperation and its own internal research

actively discussed since the financial crisis,

capabilities, the Bank of Korea also devoted

were examined from multiple perspectives,

extensive efforts to helping expand the global

and in-depth discussions took place on future

research network overall.

challenges and measures to overcome them.

Most notably, the Bank hosted its Bank of

The Bank hosted an international workshop

Korea International Conference 2018 at the

in mid-September on “Central Bank Macro

beginning of June, on the theme of “The Role

Modeling and Forecasting after the Crisis.”

of Monetary Policy: Present and Future.” At

The workshop was attended by experts on

this conference, renowned scholars

macro models from the Bank of Korea, other

96)

from

96) Participants included Stanford University Professor Robert E. Hall and former Governor of the Bank of Japan Masaaki Shirakawa, each of whom delivered keynote speeches. The conference was attended by renowned scholars
including New York University Professor Thomas J. Sargent, Columbia University Professor Martin Uribe, University
of Minnesota Professor Ellen McGrattan, and London School of Economics and Political Science Professor Ricardo Reis, and key figures from central banks and international organizations, such as Executive Vice President of
the Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis Christopher J. Waller, Deputy Director of the IMF Giovanni Dell'Ariccia and
Head of Monetary Policy at the BIS Andrew Filardo.
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and policy-related general discussions. The
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Source: Bank of Korea.

key central banks and international organiza-

themes such as productivity, macro-prudence

tions. They discussed challenges and possible

and the effectiveness of monetary policies.

responses in terms of economic forecasts and

Such joint research activities have improved

policy analysis models following the global

the Bank’s research capacities related to press-

financial crisis.

ing economic issues at home and abroad, and

In early November, the Bank held a conference titled “Asia-Pacific Fixed Income Mar-

have steadily strengthened its global research
network.

kets: Evolving Structure, Participation and
Pricing” jointly with the Bank of International

Boosting Internal Joint Research Activities

Settlements (BIS). At the conference, research
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papers were presented in regard to the effects

In an effort to carry out its research activ-

of the change in global risk appetite on capital

ities more systematically and efficiently, and

flows in emerging countries, determinants of

to promote the pursuit of research on a bank-

the rate of return in the Treasury bond mar-

wide level, the Bank of Korea encouraged

ket, and benchmark bonds in the Asian bond

collaborative research involving different di-

market, alongside active policy discussions on

visions within the organization. To this end it

tasks for the development of the bond market

convened four research committee meetings99)

in the Asia-Pacific region.97)

during the year for the overall coordination of

The Bank co-hosted a second joint research
workshop

Bank research activities. Key research themes

with the U.S. Federal Reserve in

were identified, and progress was monitored

New York in September and another work-

of ongoing domestic and overseas joint re-

shop in Korea with the Institute for Monetary

search activities, along with research activities

and Economic Studies from the Bank of Japan

involving different divisions of the Bank. The

in December, at which they provided oppor-

Bank also worked to enhance quality stan-

tunities for participants to present research

dards for its research by, for example, dividing

papers and to take part in discussions on a

up its research areas based on more specified

variety of topics. The Bank also conducted ac-

topics, and inviting specialists from the rele-

tive partnership studies with employees from

vant divisions to be participants.

98)

international organizations, including the IMF
and professors from overseas universities, on

97) Agustin Carstens, General Manager of the BIS, Hyun Song Shin, Head of Research at the BIS, and Benoit Mojon,
Head of Economic Analysis at the BIS, participated in the conference. It was attended by Head of Research of
Deutsche Bundesbank Emanuel Monch as the keynote speaker, as well as MIT Professor Ricardo Caballero, Johns
Hopkins University Professor Gregori Duffee, Cornell University Professor David Ng, and Yonsei University Professor and former Member of the Monetary Policy Board Hahm Joon-Ho, in addition to policymakers from overseas
central banks including the U.S. Federal Reserve, the Bank of Japan, the Hong Kong Monetary Authority, the Bank
of Thailand and the Reserve Bank of India.
98) The Bank agreed to hold a joint research workshop with the U.S. Federal Reserve and the Institute for Monetary
and Economic Studies at the Bank of Japan and alternate as the host on an annual basis starting in 2017.
99) The research committee meetings are attended by the Chairperson (the BOK’s Senior Deputy Governor), the Vice
Chair (the Director General of the BOK Economic Research Institute) and 10 operating committee members (from
major departments at the BOK).

(2) R e s e a r c h A c t i v i t i e s by R e g i o n a l
Branches

For each region, the regional branches compile a range of survey statistics, such as the
Business Survey Index (BSI), the Consumer

The functions of the Bank of Korea’s region-

Survey Index (CSI), data on loans and de-

al branches include the monitoring of finan-

posits at financial institutions, and financial

cial and economic conditions, the compilation

statements from corporations. These are all

of diverse statistics, and the analysis of major

essential for understanding the state of re-

issues related to Korea’s various regional

gional economies and for policy-making by

economies. All of this is needed by the Head

the regional governments.

Office for the establishment of its monetary
and credit policies and for pursuing financial

Analysis of Major Issues Facing Regional

stability, in addition to helping the regional

Economies

economies achieve steady growth. The reThe Bank’s regional branches examined the

cooperation on research with their respective

main vulnerabilities hampering sustainable

communities by hosting seminars and forums

and stable economic growth in their local

on major issues associated with regional econ-

economies. Following in-depth research on

omies.

pressing regional economic issues, they suggested pertinent policy alternatives.

Monitoring Regional Economies

The regional branches provided their respective communities with reports on risk
factors facing their regional economies, such
as rapidly-rising housing prices, slumps in the

institutions across their regions. They par-

self-employed business sector, and increasing

ticipate in publishing the quarterly Regional

household debt, as well as with the results of

Economic Report, which contains the results

in-depth research on changes in the struc-

of this monitoring and related analyses, to

tures of local industries and employment,

provide the Head Office with relevant infor-

which were undertaken from a long-term per-

mation needed to implement its monetary and

spective.100)

credit policies. The regional branches have

The regional branches were also active in

also strengthened their monitoring of major

conducting joint research projects with ex-

industries, which include major manufactur-

ternal experts in response to diverse local

ing industries, such as IT and automobiles,

research demands,101) selections of which were

as well as service industries, that are closely

included in its Collection of Papers from the

linked to the national economy, and include

Regional Branches of Bank of Korea. Each

the monitoring results in the Field Report sec-

edition of the compilation included not only

tion of the Regional Economic Report.

research papers meeting the needs of the local

100) In 2018, the Bank’s regional branches conducted 78 independent research projects.
101) In 2018, the regional branches carried out 55 joint research projects with external experts, and two outsourced
research projects.
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The Bank’s regional branches conduct indepth monitoring of corporations and related
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gional branches also make efforts to promote

88

communities concerned, but also those carry-

tiveness in response to changes in internal

ing significance for the national economy as a

and external economic conditions, such as the

whole. The 2018 volume (Vol. 8) contains pa-

exacerbation of protectionism and the Fourth

pers such as The Fourth Industrial Revolution

Industrial Revolution. Through these semi-

and Strategies for Advancement of Industrial

nars, they attempted to contribute to the for-

Structure in Daegu and North Gyeongsang

mulation of strategies and policies for securing

Province, The Analysis of the Effects of the

the sustainable growth of their regional econ-

Increase in the Elderly Population’s Economic

omies. As part of the operation of the Select

Activities on Youth Employment in Gwangju

Area Research Program,103) regional branches

and South Jeolla Province, and The Assess-

held seminars on the regional economies

ment of Innovation Capabilities and Improve-

of Andong and Gumi (Daegu-Gyeongbuk

ment Plans for the Economy of Gangwon

branch), Hadang (Mokpo branch) and Wonju

Province.

(Gangwon branch), at which they suggested

In addition, the regional branches compiled
the data from research and analysis performed

measures for economic stimulation tailored to
the regions concerned.

by regional branches through independent

The regional branches also hosted numer-

surveys or joint research on population aging,

ous Regional Economy Forums104) at which

which is one of the pending issues facing the

participants discussed current issues and pol-

Korean economy, to publish the Impact of

icy tasks for regional economic revitalization,

Population Aging on Regional Economies and

especially with a focus on creating new jobs in

Policy Tasks as reference material in imple-

the region and fostering SMEs. These forums

menting related policies.

served as venues for sharing knowledge and
information on related topics, and for increas-

Strengthening Research Exchanges with Re-

ing communication with local residents.

gional Communities

(3) Research Activities at Overseas RepThe Bank of Korea’s regional branches host-

resentative Offices

ed a number of seminars and forums jointly
with pertinent institutions, universities and

The Bank of Korea’s overseas representative

local governments on topics related to growth

offices endeavored to analyze and conduct

strategies for the regional economies and

research on the economies in their respec-

strengthening the competitiveness of their key

tive jurisdictions, and to provide the Head

local industries.

Office with timely information gathered

The Bank’s regional branches were active

through exchanges with the host countries’

in hosting seminars on regional economies102)

central banks, international organizations,

for improving regional economic competi-

and finance and economics experts. They also

102) In 2018, the regional branches held 30 seminars on regional economies.
103) This program targets areas within the regional branches’ jurisdictions that merit special attention as administrative
and economic hubs or those with specific needs for research, monitoring and cooperation. As of the end of 2018,
12 regional branches were operating the Select Area Research Program, targeting 15 selected areas.
104) In 2018, the regional branches hosted 20 Regional Economy Forums.

worked to identify current trends in policy and

conducting research into data preprocessing

research by expanding their local networks

methods with external experts, too. The Bank

through, for example, hosting seminars105)

also facilitated statistical cooperation with

with other central banks and experts on inter-

international organizations, academia and the

national financial markets.

government.

The Bank of Korea’s overseas representative
offices also held workshops106) on economic
and financial trends and key issues in their respective jurisdictions as a means of enhancing
their understandings of global economic is-

Table Ⅲ- 25. National Statistics Compiled by
Bank of Korea

Category

sues and strengthening their capacities to lead
discussions in exchanges with their foreign
counterparts.

As a key agency involved in the compilation of national statistics, the Bank of Korea
generates 18 approved sets of statistics, including traditional monetary and financial
statistics such as currency, liquidity, interest
rates on deposits and loans, and household
credit. The approved statistics also include five
Product (GDP), Input-Output (I-O) Tables,
National Balance Sheet (B/S), Flow of Funds,
and Balance of Payments (BOP) -- and other
statistics, such as International Investment

Price index

Monetary and Financial Statistics
Survey of Household Finance and
Living Conditions2)
Producer Price Index (PPI), Export and
Import Price Indices (EPI and IPI)

Corporation
statistics

Financial Statement Analysis

Economic
sentiment

Business Survey Index (BSI), Consumer
Survey Index (CSI), Economic Sentiment
Index (ESI)

Financial stability

Loan Officer Survey on Financial
Institution Lending

Payment and
settlement

Statistics on Payments and Settlements

Others

Survey of Financial Literacy Competencies3)

Notes: 1) Jointly with Statistics Korea.

Position (IIP), Producer Price Index (PPI), Ex-

2) J ointly with Statistics Korea and the Financial Supervisory

port and Import Price Indices (EPI and IPI),

3) J ointly with the Financial Supervisory Service.

Financial Statement Analysis (FAS), Business

Service.
Source: Bank of Korea.

Survey Index (BSI) and Consumer Survey
Index (CSI). The Bank also expanded its data
concerning credit cards and news articles in
order to utilize big data as part of the basis for
its compilation of official statistics, all while

105) In 2018, the Bank’s overseas representative offices held 23 seminars.
106) The Representative Office in Hong Kong held a workshop in January and the New York Representative Office
held one in July, in which employees from neighboring overseas representative offices and people from the relative departments at the Head Office participated.
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main national accounts -- Gross Domestic

Money and
finance
Household and
micro statistics

Gross Domestic Product (GDP), Balance of Payments (BOP), Input-Output
(I-O), Flow of Funds, National Balance
Sheet (B/S)1),International Investment
Position (IIP), External Assets in Debt
Instruments and Debt.
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B. Compilation of Statistics

National
accounts

Description

Figure Ⅲ- 17. 2018 Joint Forum by the Korean Statistical Society-Bank of Korea (October 5, 2018, Seoul)
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Source: Bank of Korea.

Improvement and Expansion of Statistics

conform with the 10th revision of the Korean
Standard Industrial Classification process, the

In response to increasing demand for the

Bank reorganized the types of business for

compilation of statistics that reflect changes

annual Financial Statement Analysis and for

in economic conditions, including production

statistics on loans by industry.

technology and industry structure, the Bank

The Bank strove to capture rapidly-chang-

of Korea has updated the reference year of its

ing economic conditions and improve the

national accounts from 2010 to 2015 in order

timeliness of its statistics by beginning to

to better ensure a proper reflection of perti-

compile quarterly production and income ac-

nent realities in national income statistics, as

counts by institutional sectors as well as a De-

well as to improve their timeliness and policy

tailed Flow of Funds (From-Whom-to-Whom

use. The Bank also developed the Analysis

Tables).

System for Household Debt DB in January

Meanwhile, the Bank also sought to rede-

to improve the utilization of the Household

sign the base sample in its Business Survey

Debt Database. It was established to satisfy

Index (BSI) and Customer Survey Index (CSI)

the need for microanalysis related to financial

in an effort to better reflect pertinent realities.

stability, and the Bank announced relevant in-

With regard to the BSI, the Bank restructured

formation through its Monthly Bulletin.107) To

its sample by basing firms that reported their

107) Understanding and Utilization of the Household Debt Database (Monthly Bulletin, September 2018)

Figure Ⅲ- 18. 6th OECD World Forum (November 27~29, 2018, Incheon)
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corporate tax in 2016 as population, conduct-

sonal information protection through to the

ed a pilot survey, and announced new sam-

utilization of the Household Debt DB.
The Bank hosted a seminar under the

reorganized the sample for the CSI by reflecting

theme of “Measuring Well-being” at the sixth

the 2015 Population and Housing Census, con-

OECD Forum, which was jointly hosted by

ducted a pilot test, and announced a new statis-

the OECD and Statistics Korea in Songdo,

tics compilation starting in October.

Incheon, between Nov. 27 and 29. At the seminar, the Bank introduced its research results

Strengthening of Domestic and Interna-

concerning the measurement of the value of

tional Statistical Cooperation

human resources and free digital services.
Meanwhile, the Bank sought to forge clos-

The Bank of Korea held the 2018 Korean

er cooperative relationships with domestic

Statistical Society-BOK Joint Forum in Oc-

statistics-related institutions, such as hosting

tober on the topic of “Data Science and Eco-

the Statistics Cooperation Meeting in collab-

nomic Statistics.” During this forum, domestic

oration with Statistics Korea. It also held a

academics and other experts engaged in in-

meeting with directors from statistics depart-

depth discussions on recent issues in relation

ments at the IMF and the OECD in November

to data analysis and utilization ranging from

at which participants shared their common

machine learning in the era of a data-based

interests regarding statistics. The Bank par-

economy and statistical techniques for per-

ticipated in international meetings and work-

7. Research and Statistical Compilation

pling-based statistics starting in June. The Bank
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Source: Bank of Korea.

ing-group workshops hosted by major international organizations and central banks in
key countries where it discussed measures for
the stable establishment and implementation
of new international standards for statistics,
including the implementation of DGI-2,108)
while expanding relevant networks.
Improvement of Economic Statistics Services
The Bank of Korea published the ninth
92

edition of Easy Guide to Economic Indexes,
which reflected up-to-date financial and economic situations, including big data and the
digital economy. For readers’ convenience,
examples of the use of economic indexes in
everyday life and explanatory cartoons were
introduced, and more visual elements were
enhanced throughout the booklet. Throughout the year, the Bank provided 85 Lectures
on Economic Statistics Indexes at universities
and public institutions as channels for the
promotion of its economic statistics and for
the enhancement of public understanding of
economic statistics.
The Bank also opened an “Economic Statistics” page in the main menu of its official website and uploaded related content there. It also
made efforts to heighten user convenience by,
for example, promoting a system reconstruction project with the aim of improving the
functions of its Economic Statistics System
(ECOS).

108) The Data Gaps Initiative, launched at the G20 summit in London in 2009, refers to an international statistics development and improvement project being led by major international organizations, including the BIS and the ECB,
as well as G20 member countries, under the leadership of the IMF and the FSB. The first phase of the Data Gaps
Initiative (DGI-1), on CDS, structuralization and non-bank financial institutions’ cross-border exposure, was carried
out from 2010 to 2015. The second phase (DGI-2), on derivative products, overseas direct investment and the
sharing of statistics, has been in progress since 2016 and is scheduled to be completed in 2021.

8. Treasury and Securities
Business

ing a request by a designated official to transfer Treasury funds, the Bank disburses them
into the accounts of the creditors concerned at
the financial institutions on a real-time basis.

A. Treasury Business

In 2018, the amount of Treasury funds paid
through creditors’ accounts increased by 60

The Bank of Korea, as the bank of the gov-

trillion won from the previous year to register

ernment, is tasked with the management

at 667 trillion won. The Bank also makes pay-

of the receipt and disbursement of Treasury

ments using the government’s idle funds and

funds, and extends credit to the government.

funds for the redemption of treasury bonds

The Bank holds Treasury funds, such as na-

from the Government Deposits.

tional taxes, as Government Deposits, disburses funds from this account based on the
government’s needs, and provides temporary

Table Ⅲ- 26. Receipts and Disbursements of
Treasury Funds
(trillion won)

ment faces a fiscal shortage. In order to ensure
the effective processing of Treasury funds, the
Bank of Korea has also established and currently operates the Treasury Network.
Receipt and Disbursement of Treasury
Funds

2017(A) 2018(B) Change(B-A)

Total receipts
Receipts through
treasury agencies
Receipts through
Government Deposits1)

366

399

438

39

1,210 1,240 1,391

151

Total disbursement
Disbursement through
creditor accounts
Disbursement through
Government Deposits1)

583

607

667

60

978 1,015

1,141

126

revenues are processed by the Bank of Korea,

Note: 1) Includes transfers between government accounts.

treasury agencies, the Post Office, and other

Source: Bank of Korea.

agencies designated for such purposes.109) In
2018, national treasury receipts through all

Current Status of Treasury Agencies

treasury agencies totaled 438 trillion won, an
increase of 39 trillion won from the previous

To enhance taxpayers’ convenience, the

year, mainly due to an increase in tax reve-

Bank of Korea designates branches of finan-

nues, such as income tax and corporate tax.

cial institutions that meet certain require-

The Bank also deposits the government’s idle

ments as treasury agencies to be entrusted

funds and funds from the issuance of treasury

with the business of receiving taxes and other

bonds into its Government Deposits.

government revenues. Depending on the type

Most payments of Treasury funds are car-

of contract, treasury agencies are classified

ried out via real-time electronic transfers

into Type A, which are designated directly by

through the Treasury Network. Upon receiv-

the Bank of Korea, such as branches of banks,

109) The Korea Financial Telecommunications and Clearings Institute (KFTC) has been designated as an agency with
the authority to receive Treasury funds through credit cards since 2008.

8. Treasury and Securities Business

Receipts from taxes and other government

2016
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loans to the government when the govern-
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and Type B, which are designated indirectly as

Operation of the Treasury Network

agencies by their federations, such as branches

94

of the National Agricultural Cooperative Fed-

In order to carry out tasks related to Trea-

eration, the National Federation of Fisheries

sury funds, the Bank has established and

Cooperatives, the National Forestry Cooper-

operated the Treasury Network since 2003,

atives Federation, the National Credit Union

which links the Bank of Korea’s computer

Federation of Korea, the Korean Federation of

systems with the government’s Digital Bud-

Community Credit Cooperatives, and the Ko-

get and Accounting System (dBrain), and the

rea Federation of Savings Banks. As of the end

computer systems of financial institutions

of 2018, there were 17,052 treasury agencies,

and the Korea Financial Telecommunications

up by 86 from the end of 2017.

and Clearings Institute (KFTC). By making

National treasur y receipts via treasur y

the majority of Treasury fund payments via

agencies totaled 423 trillion won during 2018,

real-time electronic transfers through the

up by 52 trillion won from 2017, owing to the

Treasury Network, the Bank facilitates the

buoyancy in receipts of national taxes. With

rapid operation of fiscal funds. By handling a

regard to types of agencies, national treasury

massive volume of data, for example, on the

receipts via treasury agency Type A branches

receipt of Treasury funds and refunds of na-

stood at 405 trillion won, accounting for 96

tional taxes, in a batch process at a fixed time

percent of the total.

once a day, it also works to enhance the system’s efficiency.

Table Ⅲ- 27. S
 tatus of Treasury Agencies1) and
Receipts Value
(number, trillion won)

2017(A)

2018(B)

Change(B-A)

Treasury agencies
6,912(22) 6,894(22)
type A 2)
Number Treasury agencies
10,054 (6) 10,158 (6)
type B3)
Total

16,966(22) 17,052(22)

Treasury agencies
type A 2)
Receipts Treasury agencies
value
type B3)
Total

-18(–)

With the aim of heightening the stability of
its treasury business operations through the
Treasury Network, the Bank has conducted
simulation-based training for organizations
included in the Treasury Network on 10 occasions in 2018. In particular, it examined

104(–)

whether treasury business operations can be

86(–)

conducted through alternative media, such as

354

405

52

email or the Disaster Recovery Center,110) in

17

17

0

computer systems. The Bank has also been

371

423

52

conducting simulation-based training for

Notes: 1) Figures in parentheses are numbers of institutions.
2) D
 esignated directly by the Bank of Korea; banks and federations of cooperative.
3) D
 esignated indirectly as agencies by their federations; nonbank financial companies.
Source: Bank of Korea.

the event of a failure of financial institutions’

manual operation since 2017.
There were a total of 383,400 cases per day
of receipts and disbursement of Treasury
funds through the Treasury Network in 2018,
amounting to a total of 17.1 trillion won in
monetary value, comprising respective increases of 1.5 and 10.3 percent over the previ-

110) This is a backup computer system to handle treasury business operations in the event of emergencies leading to
failures of the main systems.

ous year. It was primarily due to an increase

In 2018, the Bank provided 1.1 trillion won

in the government’s operation of its idle funds

on an average balance basis in loans to the

as well as expanded Treasury funds disburse-

government, down by 0.3 trillion won com-

ment with an increase in tax revenues.

pared to 2017. On a cumulative basis, the
bank’s loans to the government also fell by
7.0 trillion won, from 8.0 trillion to 1.0 trillion

Table Ⅲ- 28. Treasury Network Transactions
(Daily average)
(thousands, trillion won, %)

2017
Real-time electronic
transfers
Number

Change(%)

43.9

5.3

File transfers

335.8

339.5

1.1

Treasury receipts

302.6

304.3

0.6

33.2

35.2

6.0

377.6

383.4

1.5

13.6

15.0

10.3

Total
Real-time electronic
transfers

government demand for temporary loans in
line with the continued trend of fiscal account
surpluses mainly caused by increased national
tax revenues.
Table Ⅲ- 30. Loans to the Government
(trillion won)

2015

File transfers

1.9

2.1

10.5

Average
balance

Treasury receipts

1.6

1.8

12.5

Total

National tax refunds

0.3

0.3

0.0

15.5

17.1

10.3

Total

2016

2017(A)

2018(B) Change(B-A)

3.2

1.5

1.4

1.1

-0.3

66.0

11.7

8.0

1.0

-7.0

Source: Bank of Korea.

B. Securities Business

Source: Bank of Korea.

Ceilings on Temporary Loans to the Government

To facilitate the effective operation of its
monetary and credit policies, the Bank of Ko-

The Bank of Korea sets and manages a ceil-

buys, sells and lends government and public

ing on its credit to the government, based on

bonds. The Bank is also entrusted by the gov-

resolutions of the Monetary Policy Board. The

ernment with the authority to issue, redeem

ceiling for 2018 was set at 40 trillion won, the

and register treasury bonds and bills. In addi-

same amount as the previous year.

tion, it provides securities custody services for
foreign central banks and international finan-

Table Ⅲ- 29. C
 eilings on Loans to the Government

2017(A)
Treasury Single
Account
Public Capital
Management Fund
Special Account for
Grain Management
Total

(billion won)

A total amount of 97.4 trillion won in trea-

2018(B) Change(B-A)

sury bonds111) were issued through competitive

30,000

30,000

-

8,000

8,000

-

2,000

2,000

-

40,000

40,000

-

Source: Bank of Korea.

cial institutions.

auction, while a total of 77.1 trillion won were
redeemed. As a result, as of year-end 2018, the
value of treasury bonds in circulation totaled
567 trillion won, an increase of 20.3 trillion
won from the year-end 2017, when it stood at
546.7 trillion won. In particular, as the volume

111) Treasury bonds are government bonds issued for the purposes of receipts or disbursements of medium- and
long-term government funds.

8. Treasury and Securities Business

rea issues Monetary Stabilization Bonds and
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41.7

National tax refunds

Value

2018

won. This was attributable to a slowdown in

of long-term bond issuance increased for fi-

Meanwhile, like many central banks in

nancing medium- to long-term government

major countries,113) the Bank of Korea pro-

funds, the value of treasury bonds in circu-

vides securities custody services to support

lation with 20-, 30- and 50-year maturities

investment in Korean bonds by foreign central

increased.

banks and international financial institutions.
As of the end of 2018, the Bank had entered

Table Ⅲ- 31. Issuance and Redemption of Treasury Bonds
(billion won)

2018
End of 2017
End of 2018
outstanding Issuance Redemp- Net Issu- outstanding
(A)
tion(B) ance(A-B)

96

Treasury
bonds

546,715

97,406

77,077

20,329 567,044

3-year

51,059

19,505

23,367

-3,862

5-year

109,518

19,870

25,150

-5,280 104,238

10-year1) 209,004

23,566

28,060

-4,494 204,510

47,197

(inflationlinked)

10,497

940

2,049

20-year

108,253

9,751

500

30-year

67,562

22,589

-

22,589

90,151

50-year

1,319

2,125

-

2,125

3,444

-1,109

9,388

into securities custody agreements with five
foreign central banks and one international
financial institution, and provides services
including the safekeeping of securities, settlement of the securities and funds involved
in securities transactions, receipts of principal
and interest, and management of transactions.
It has also participated in international conferences114) for central banks that provide securities custody services in order to strengthen
international cooperation.

9,251 117,504

Note: 1) Includes inflation-linked treasury bonds
Source: Bank of Korea.

With regard to treasury bills,112) a total value
of 2 trillion won was issued through competitive biddings in 2018, the entire amount of
which was redeemed by the end of the year.
Table Ⅲ- 32. Issuance and Redemption of Treasury Bills

Table Ⅲ- 33. Securities Custody Services of BOK

Eligible
institution

Eligible
securities

Main service

Foreign
government,
foreign central
bank, international financial
institution

Korea Treasury Bond,
Treasury Bill,
Monetary
Stabilization
Bond

Securities settlement
and payment, safekeeping, cash account
management, withholding income tax,
reporting, and etc

Source: Bank of Korea.

(billion won)

2015

2016

2017

2018

Issuance

37,510

Redemption

37,510

20,940

7,940

2,000

20,940

7,940

2,000

Source: Bank of Korea.

112) Treasury bills are short-term bonds that the government issues to secure financing from the markets and to compensate for temporary shortages caused by seasonal factors throughout the fiscal year.
113) Central banks that provide securities custody services for foreign central banks and international financial institutions include the U.S. Federal Reserve Bank of New York (FRB NY), the European Central Bank (ECB), the Bank of
England (BOE), the Bank of Japan (BOJ), the People’s Bank of China (PBC), the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA),
la Banque de France (BDF), the Deutsche Bundesbank (DBB), the Bank of Canada (BOC) and De Nederlandsche
Bank (DNB).
114) International forums for central banks in major countries that provide securities custody services and the BIS have
been held regularly every year since 2013.

C. Fund Management
Under the Bank of Korea Act and other
related legislation, the Bank operates and

Table Ⅲ- 34. F
 eatures of BOK’s Government
Fund Management Business

Fund’s
name

manages various funds, including the Pub-

Established in 1994 in order to integrate and
manage surplus funds and to efficiently manage
the issuance and redemption of Treasury Bonds.
The Fund is comprised of Omnibus Account,
Treasury Loan Account, and Loan Account.

lic Capital Management Fund, the Fund for
Repayment of Public Funds, and the Saving
Bounty Fund for Encouraging Lump-Sum
Savings of Farming and Fishing Households.
Specifically, to fulfill its fund operation and
management duties, which are entrusted
by the government, the Bank carries out the
collection of revenues, payment of disbursements, and accounting related to these tasks.

Objective of establishment and
major features

· Loan Account manages the withdrawal and
redemption of financing loans introduced
under public agreements with international
cooperation organizations, foreign governments, or foreign corporations.
Founded in 2003 in order to facilitate the
redemption of debts incurred, in financial
restructuring, by the Korea Deposit Insurance
Corporation and the Korea Asset Management
Corporation.

Saving
Bounty
Fund for
Lump-Sum
Savings of
Farming
and Fishing
Households

Set up in 1986 in order to pay savings bounty
to the farmers and fishermen participated in
the lump-sum savings program for farming and
fishing households.
The Fund raises funds through the contribution
from the Bank of Korea and the government
each year and pays the saving bounty to the
lump-sum savings program participants at
the redemption of principal and interest of the
savings.

Source: Bank of Korea.

8. Treasury and Securities Business

Fund for
Repayment The Fund had contributed a total of 49 trillion
won to the Fund for Redemption of Deposit
of Public
Insurance Fund Bonds and the Non-performing
Funds
Loan Resolution Fund 2003 through 2006 and
with this regard it is scheduled to redeem all of
its obligations by 2027 through funds transferred from the General Account and the surplus
in tax accounts.
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· Omnibus Account raises funds through the
issuance of Treasury Bonds, placements from
other funds and utilizes them for the redemption of principal and interest on Treasury
Public
Bonds and for the deposit to other accounts
Capital
or funds, including the General Account and
Managethe Fund for Repayment of Public Funds.
ment Fund
· Treasury Loan Account manages the lending and
collection of funds necessary for improving national welfare and supporting major industries.

The Omnibus Account of the Public Capital
Management Fund raised 159.9 trillion won

Table Ⅲ- 35. Fund Raising (Operation) Amount
(billion won)

during 2018 through the issuance of Treasury
bonds, receipts of principal and interest on
deposits, which was paid in redemptions of

2018(B)

Change(B-A)

Public capital
management fund

principal and interest on treasury bonds and

Omnibus account

181,272

159,873

-21,399

deposited into the General Account and the

Treasury loan
account

1,697

656

-1,041

Loan account

Foreign Exchange Stabilization Fund. The

256

221

-35

Fund for repayment
of Public funds

15,894

3,427

-12,467

83

83

0

raised 0.2 trillion won through receipts of

Saving bounty fund
for lump-sum savings of farming and
fishing households

principal and interest on deposits, etc., which

Source: Bank of Korea.

Treasury Loan Account raised 0.7 trillion won
through receipts of principal and interest payments on loans, which was extended in loans
for national projects, etc. The Loan Account
98

2017(A)

was transferred to the General Account.
The Fund for the Repayment of Public

Meanwhile, in order to enhance the profit-

Funds raised 3.4 trillion won, partly in trans-

ability of the three funds, the Bank invested its

fers from Public Capital Management Fund

temporary idle funds into short-term financial

deposits, which was used for the redemption

products, such as those in the Money Market

of debts.

Deposit Account (MMDA) and the RP.

The Savings Bounty Fund for Encouraging
Lump-Sum Savings of Farming and Fishing
Households raised a total of 83 billion won
over the year, including 41.5 billion won from
the government and 41.5 billion won from
the Bank, which was used to provide savings
bounties to farmers and fishermen officially
registered as Lump-Sum Savings of Farming
and Fishing Households.115) As of the end of
2018, the total number of subscribers was
276,000 households, down by 19,000 households compared to the end of 2017.

115) The Savings Bounty Fund for Encouraging Lump-Sum Savings of Farming and Fishing Households provides payments of additional interest at rates ranging from 0.9 to 1.5 percent per year (and 3.0 to 4.8 percent per year for
low-income bracket households) as the savings bounty to savers at maturity.

9. External Communications

issues, such as changes in employ ment
structure and crypto-assets, as well as major
operations of the Bank of Korea, including

The Bank of Korea has been strengthening

monetary policy and financial stability. The

its communications with the public by diver-

Bank also worked steadily to solicit a wide

sifying its communication channels so as to

range of opinions from the general public and

enhance public understanding of and trust for

external experts on its major reports, including

it as the central bank of the country. In partic-

the Annual Report and Regional Economic

ular, the Bank strove to expand the quantity

Report, and reflected the opinions received in

and quality of its opportunities to communi-

its policy-making and operational implemen-

cate with the public by, for example, hosting

tation. It also did the same with regard to its

events allowing broad participation including

major policies, such as the Base Rate adjust-

a User Created Content (UCC) contest and ex-

ment.
In addition to these efforts, the Bank hosted

In addition, the Bank took active part in activ-

a variety of events that served as opportu-

ities, including volunteer work, that fulfill its

nities to enhance communications with the

social responsibility role as the central bank.

public. In 2018 the “Video UCC Contest for

In addition, it operated online and offline

Easily Understandable Economy-related Sto-

economic educational programs to promote

ries” was hosted for middle- and high-school

financial literacy among the general public.

students for the first time, and six winners
were selected from among the 202 received

A. Expansion of Public Communication

entries. In addition, the Bank hosted its “Bank
of Korea Storytelling Competition” to convey
touching and meaningful episodes or person-

communicate actively with the public by uti-

al experiences related to the Bank in the form

lizing a range of communication channels,

of short stories. The annual “Monetary Policy

including the publication and distribution of

Challenge”116) was also held to encourage

research materials, holding various confer-

college students to discuss pending economic

ences and events, operating its official website

issues from a creative perspective, and to help

and social media accounts, and operating the

enhance their understanding of monetary

Bank of Korea Money Museum.

policy. In particular, the Bank strove to lessen

The Bank published 399 periodicals and

the burden on participants and strengthen

issued 339 press releases and press reference

the transparency and fairness of the judging

materials during 2018, including its Monthly

process by making discussion stage shorter

Statistics Bulletin, BOK Working Paper and

and providing more feedback to teams that

Global Economy Focus. These publications

advanced to the finals. The “Monetary Policy

discuss research and analysis on current

Workshop” was also held to share opinions on

116) This competition has been held since 2003 in order to provide college students with a venue for experiencing a
simulated monetary policy decision-making process. In 2018, a total of 352 college students participated, in 88
teams from 56 universities nationwide.

9. External Communications

The Bank of Korea has been striving to
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panding its online communication channels.

Figure Ⅲ- 19. Monetary Policy Challenge (August 14, 2018)

100

Source: Bank of Korea.

local and global financial and economic issues

(YouTube, Facebook, etc.) at the homepage of

with academia and expand their interest in

its website to diversify its channels for deliver-

and understanding of the policies and opera-

ing information.117)

tions of the Bank.
The Bank of Korea strengthened its online
communications in an effort to address the

Table Ⅲ- 36. Visitors to the BOK’s Main Website
(thousand persons)

evolution of the media environment and to
ensure extensive sharing of information and
real-time communication. First, the Bank
combined its 14 websites, which had been
operated separately, into a single integrated

Visitors

2016

2017

20181)

2,477

2,454

2,861

Note: 1) The integrated website launched on May 16, 2018.
Source: Bank of Korea.

website for the purpose of enhancing user

On its official Facebook profile, the Bank

convenience. In addition, a menu redesign

hosted quizzes on topics such as “Basic De-

strengthened website users’ accessibility to in-

tection of Counterfeit Banknotes” and “2018

formation, and enhanced information delivery

Issuance of National Park Commemorative

by expanding the utilization of visual materi-

Coins” to attract public attention to its op-

als, such as images and videos. The Bank also

erations. The Bank also posted infographics

linked its social media profiles or accounts

explaining key press releases through its

117) For more information about the changes made at the website, please refer to Box III-4 Launch of the Bank of Korea’s Integrated Website.

Figure Ⅲ- 20. Art Collection of Bank of Korea
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seum hosted 264,000 visitors in 2018. It exhib-

disseminate information about pending Bank

ited about 80 ancient and medieval currencies,

operations, and added relevant video clips of

including the first coins of Korea, China and

such things as press conferences concerning

Japan and money widely used in trade in an

Monetary Policy Decisions, Bank of Korea

exhibition titled “Flows of Ancient Money in

Friday Lectures, the BOK International Con-

Korea, China and Japan,” and renovated the

ference, etc., on its YouTube channel.

museum’s exhibition facilities by, for example,
reorganizing the exhibition spaces in the Cur-

Table Ⅲ- 37. Social Media Operated by BOK1)

Kakao
YouTube Facebook Twitter Flickr
Story
July, August, August, August, October,
Inception
2013
2014
2014
2014
2014
Posts
724
1,261 1,092 1,476
893
(number)
Note: 1) As of year-end.
Source: Bank of Korea.

rency Gallery and improving the environment
of the exhibition area on the second floor.

Table Ⅲ- 38. Visitors to the Bank of Korea Money
Museum1)
(thousand persons)

Visitors

2016

2017

2018

277

255

264

Note: 1) Includes regional branches’ money exhibition hall.

The Bank operates the Bank of Korea Money

Source: Bank of Korea.

Museum as a means to enhance public awareness of currency and monetary economics

In an effort to support the artistic commu-

through experience-based education. The mu-

nity, the Bank has steadily collected artworks

9. External Communications

Facebook profile and Twitter feed to publicly
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Source: Bank of Korea.

Figure Ⅲ- 21. Community Service of Bank of Korea (December 15, 2018)
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Source: Bank of Korea.

since its foundation, and since the launch
of the Bank of Korea Gallery in 2002, these

Table Ⅲ- 39. Number of Complaints Received
and Processed1)

works have been on display for the public in

(times)

a variety of feature exhibitions. In 2018, the

2016

2017

2018

gallery held a feature exhibition titled “Art

Acceptance

1,098

1,277

1,234

Collection of Bank of Korea,” in which it in-

Settlement

1,098

1,277

1,234

troduced 89 major works included in “From
Bank of Korea Art Collection: 100 Artworks
by 100 Artists” on three occasions, each with
a seasonal theme.

Note: 1) S ubject to change, due to the ex-post registration of complaints on the complaint processing ledger.
Source: Bank of Korea.

Beyond these efforts, the Bank's staff took

The Bank of Korea also strove to allevi-

part in activities that contributed to society to

ate public inconvenience through polite and

help fulfill the Bank’s social responsibilities as

prompt responses to questions and complaints

the central bank. The first Saturday of every

related to its operations, including its foreign

month is designated as "Voluntary Service

exchange reviews, currency supply and mone-

Day" on which staff from the Bank participate

tary policy.

in a free lunch program and nursing home
visits. Besides, staff frequently fundraise to
help children from single-parent households
and senior citizens who live alone, and visit
social welfare facilities.

In addition, the search function of the web-

Box III-4.

site was enhanced in order to help users easily
access data within the integrated site through
external search portals.

Launch of the Bank of Korea’s Integrated
Website

The Bank plans to dedicate its full effort toward the stable operation of the integrated site
in order to maximize the effects of the improve-

As part of efforts to redesign its website, the

ment in its public services.

Bank of Korea combined its former 14 websites,

Furthermore, in order to improve user con-

which had operated separately according to

venience, the Bank continues to improve and

specific purposes, such as economic education,

supplement the integrated website by adding

the Bank of Korea Money Museum, the Eco-

content such as video clips in line with the latest

nomic Research Institute, etc., into an integrated

trends and strengthening its feedback functions.
103

website that opened on May 16, 2018. This
sites depending on the type of information they

Figure Ⅲ- 22. Homepage of the BOK’s Integrated
Website

wished to obtain, and instead provided access
to most of the Bank’s data through one integrated portal.
The integrated website was designed with a
focus on providing a user-centered menu system
and layout so that users can find the information
they want as easily as possible from among the

9. External Communications

vast volume of information stored at the website.
In particular, the topics that are accessed most
frequently by users, such as economic education and the Bank of Korea Money Museum,
are placed in locations with convenient access
from the main menu of the homepage, thereby
strengthening the information’s accessibility.
In addition, the utilization of visual materials,
including images and videos, was expanded to
improve the delivery of information. Publications
are displayed as images, and the Media Center
was established to provide various video materials, such as press conferences, all in one place.
In addition, the Bank’s social media accounts,
such as Twitter, YouTube and Facebook, are
now linked on the main page to allow users to
access information provided on the Bank’s website through various channels.
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no longer required users to visit different web-

Source: Bank of Korea.

B. Economic and Financial Education

The Bank also provided an economic lecture
about recent economic trends and outlook for

104

The Bank of Korea devoted efforts to effec-

member companies of the Korean Chamber of

tively delivering its diverse range of economic

Commerce and Industry in the first and sec-

education programs to the general public, as

ond half of the year.

a means of fostering rational decision-making

The Bank efficiently operated a variety of

capacities and improving understanding of

on-site economic education programs in addi-

the Bank of Korea’s major policies.

tion to the aforementioned courses. The pro-

With regard to its provision of on-site eco-

grams, such as “The Economic Lectures for

nomic education, the Bank held its “The Bank

Youth” and “The Economy Camps for Youth,”

of Korea Friday Lecture” on a weekly basis,

were designed to provide teenagers with di-

consisting of a lecture about the economy

rect education about the economy. Indirect ed-

targeting college students and the general

ucational programs, such as “The Economics

public with a focus on timely economic issues.

Education Volunteers Program”118) and “The

In addition, the Bank expanded its economics

Economy Training Courses for Teachers,”

tutoring sessions at universities and at the

were provided as well. As part of efforts to

Korean Chamber of Commerce and Industry

promote financial inclusion119) among vulner-

with a focus on professional fields where the

able social groups, the Bank has also partici-

specialist knowledge and practical experiences

pated actively in economic education activities

of the Bank’s staff can be utilized. In the case

of the relevant authorities to support North

of its lectures at universities, “Special Lectures

Korean refugees in adapting to life in a market

on Management and Economics” and “Un-

economy system. Due to these efforts, in 2018

derstanding the Economy” were also estab-

a total of 67,920 people participated in on-site

lished as regular courses during the academic

educational courses provided by the Bank, at

year at Seoul National University of Science

1,336 events.

and Technology. Also, a lecture series titled
“Policy and Market Study” was launched at
the Graduate School of Economics of Yonsei

Table Ⅲ- 40. On-site Economic Education
Performance
(times, persons)

University in the first semester, and “Economics and Financial Life” at Gyeongin National
University of Education in the second semester. In addition, “Central Banking” was newly
established as a regular course for students at
regional universities, including the Cheongju
University and the University of Suwon, in an
effort led by regional branches of the Bank.

Youths
General Public
Total

2016

2017

2018

703
(34,106)
812
(45,249)
1,515
(79,355)

748
(31,483)
703
(37,680)
1,451
(69,163)

749
(33,659)
587
(34,261)
1,336
(67,920)

Note: Figures in parentheses refer to the number of persons.
Source: Bank of Korea.

118) Introduced in April 2013 as a means of meeting the increasing social demand for economic education, this new
program selects qualified college students to teach courses about the economy at the K-12 level.
119) This refers to all relevant activities aimed at improving financial understanding and access to financial services
across all segments of society, including financially-underprivileged groups, such as multicultural families and
North Korean refugees.

The Bank also endeavored to develop eco-

proving the quality of economic education, as

nomic educational materials and to expand

they were reflected in “The Economy Training

related content. It produced the content for the

Course for Teachers,” for example. In addition,

composite component, the e-learning videos,

in order to identify the level of financial litera-

for a range of economic educational books,

cy among Korean adults, the Bank jointly con-

and for “The Bank of Korea Friday Lecture”

ducted the “2018 National Financial Literacy

videos, all in order to help the public better

Survey” alongside the Financial Supervisory

understand the economy. In particular, the

Service, in accordance with the 2018 guideline

content for the composite component was

set by the OECD International Network on

produced using techniques such as drama and

Financial Education (INFE),121) and actively

computer graphics to keep pace with changes

participated in related international discus-

in the media environment, with each theme

sions held by the OECD INFE.

following closely the Bank of Korea’s main
policies. As for the economic educational textFinancial Terms that explains common economic and financial terms, and Basic Financial Tips in Life that offers a guide to financial
matters in everyday life.120) The outdated Economics Education website was reorganized
and integrated into the new main website.
Such efforts strengthened the foundation that
helps people to acquire economic knowledge
place.
Meanwhile, the Bank strengthened internal
and external cooperation in order to carry out
effective economic education for the public.
It launched “The Bank of Korea Economics
Education Forum,” comprised of economics
education experts, including professors in the
field of economic education and researchers
from research institutes, and was held twice
last year. The suggestions gathered through
the forums contributed significantly to im-

120) For more information on the materials developed, please refer to Box III-5 Development of Economic Education
Materials and Content.
121) Established in May 2008, the OECD International Network on Financial Education (INFE) is a specialized agency
under the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) for the purposes of exchanging
information between countries and developing international standards and best practices related to financial and
economic education.
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in a systematic manner, regardless of time or
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books, the Bank published 700 Economic and

105

To strengthen its online economics education-

Box III-5.

al features, the Bank produced online economic
educational content, such as the contents of
the composite component and the e-learning

Development of Economic Education
Materials and Content

videos, and posted them to the Bank of Korea's
official website and to its YouTube channel. In
particular, among the contents of the composite
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The Bank of Korea worked to develop eco-

component, the Bank produced “Useful Facts

nomic education materials and content in order

on Payment and Settlement That Are Useful

to expand economic education and financial

to Know,” which was composed in a way that

competency.

reflected both drama and computer graphics.

First, the Bank published two economics text-

Meanwhile, the e-learning videos, such as “Mon-

books to enhance the public’s understanding on

ey History Since the Foundation of the Bank of

the economy and finance. 700 Economic and

Korea,” “Impact of Exchange Rates on Imports

Financial Terms explains the latest economic

and Exports” and “Crypto-assets and the Cen-

and financial terms in the form of a dictionary

tral Bank,” were produced, featuring combi-

that aims to help readers understand the major

nations of data screens and lecture videos. In

policies of the Bank of Korea and financial and

addition, 47 videos of “The Bank of Korea Friday

economic conditions in Korea and abroad. As

Lecture” series were posted to the Bank of Ko-

a revision to Financial Life Guidelines for the

rea’s website and to its YouTube channel.

Public, which was published previously, Basic

In the future, the Bank plans to continually

Financial Tips in Life contains detailed explana-

expand its provision of economic educational

tions about financial common sense, asset and

material appropriate for the general public by

liability management, and later life planning, all

continuously producing diverse online econom-

of which are essential aspects for the public to

ics educational material and content, in keeping

secure a foundation that could help them gain

with the changing media landscape.

financial independence. These books were
published in print. They can also be accessed in
digital format on the Bank of Korea’s website.

Figure Ⅲ- 24. "Useful Facts on Payment and Settlement That Are Useful to Know"

Figure Ⅲ- 23. 700 Economic and Financial Terms
(left), Basic Financial Tips in Life (right)

Source: Bank of Korea.

Source: Bank of Korea.

Figure Ⅲ- 25. "Money History Since the Foundation of Bank of Korea"

Source: Bank of Korea.
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Ⅳ
Management Status

1. Organization Management

111

2. Financial Status
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1. Organization Management

Restructuring the Reserve Management

During 2018, the Bank of Korea undertook a

The Bank of Korea strove for proper control

partial realignment of its organization in order

and balance among Investment Strategies

to respond to changing circumstances, such

(middle), Investment Management (front) and

as the implementation of the project to build

Management Support (back) in the reserve

a next-generation accounting and settlement

management sector, all while restructuring

system, the enhancement of the efficiency of

the Reserve Management Group in July 2018

its foreign reserve management system, and

to enhance the efficiency of its organizational

the need for research into crypto-assets.

structure.

Group

First of all, the Bank established the Reserve

A. Organizational Structure

Planning Division within the Investment
Strategy Department, which had previously

Est ablishing a Ta sk for ce to Build a

operated directly under the Director of the Re-

Next-generation Accounting and Settle-

serve Management Group. This strengthened

ment System

the Bank’s management strategies and risk
management capabilities in response to the

eration System Development Taskforce to

of investment products. In addition, the Bank

ensure the smooth and effective implementa-

consolidated Reserve Investment Divisions I

tion of the Next-generation Accounting and

and II into a single Reserve Investment Divi-

Settlement System Project, which in 2018

sion so as to induce synergy effects through

entered into the main phase of its establish-

the expanded sharing of management in-

ment. The taskforce is composed of a general

formation and the application of consistent

management team, which is responsible for

investment strategies. Through this reorgani-

the overall management of system-building

zation, the Reserve Management Group was

and infrastructure-related tasks, and a devel-

realigned into 10 teams across 3 divisions: the

opment team, which focuses on the system.

Reserve Management Strategy Division, the

The taskforce will operate from January 2018

Reserve Investment Division and the Reserve

until September 2020, when the project will

Management Support Division.

be complete.
In addition, the Bank abolished the New
Accounting Information System Development

Strengthening Research on Digital Innovation, Crypto-assets

Team and the IT Services Team, both of which
belonged to the Information Technology De-

To focus on the study of crypto-assets, in-

partment, in order to promote the efficient

cluding Bitcoins, which have become a key

management of its IT organization.

issue since 2017, the Bank established its Virtual Currency Research Section within the
e-Finance Division of the Payment & Settlement Systems Department in January 2018.

1. Organization Management

growth in foreign reserves and diversification
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The Bank of Korea launched its Next-gen-
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The section formed a taskforce composed of

Team within the Human Resources & Admin-

specialists from relevant divisions to conduct

istration Department. Meanwhile, the Human

research on crypto-assets and central bank

Resources Team retained its responsibility for

digital currencies (CBDCs) and to carry out

human resources management tasks, such as

monitoring, surveys, research and internal

compliance, services and duties, and evalua-

and external cooperation related to digital fi-

tions.

nancial innovation.

B. Organization Management Methods
Strengthening International Cooperation
Delegation of Work-related Authority to
Since the International Affairs Department

Lower-ranking Positions

was launched in January 2017, the Bank has

112

experienced more opportunities to partici-

As part of efforts to improve its business

pate in international meetings and has had a

management, the Bank of Korea delegated

significant increase in financial cooperation

work-related authority to lower-ranking staff

tasks, such as currency swaps, thereby ex-

across the entire Bank. In April 2018, relevant

panding its roles and responsibilities. Accord-

departments started discussions on the matter

ingly, the Bank established the International

and in June, it was decided to delegate approx-

Cooperation Division within the International

imately 60 work-related tasks from executives

Affairs Department to ensure the efficient

and department heads to lower-ranking po-

management of the organization. The new-

sitions, mainly in the internal business man-

ly-established division was assigned full re-

agement sector. This decision was reflected in

sponsibility for the Bank’s international coop-

an amendment of the applicable regulations

eration tasks, with its International Relations

in July 2018.

Team responsible for holding events involving

Furthermore, the Bank decided to take ad-

employees from overseas central banks, op-

ditional measures to enhance work efficiency

erating the various visiting partnership pro-

and productivity by, for example, reducing

grams provided by the BOK, and running its

and streamlining its approval procedures and

Knowledge Partnership Program Team that

in-person briefings.

provides technical assistance to developing
counties.

Strengthening Operational Risk Management

Restructuring HR
The Bank of Korea manages operational
The Bank of Korea created the position

risks122) using the Three Lines of Defense

of Human Resources Management Officer

(3LoD) model. Each department (branch)

directly under the Deputy Governor in May

as the “first line of defense” appoints as its

2018 to assume full responsibility for human

operational risk manager a Deputy Director

resources and administrative affairs, such as

General under whose supervision risk man-

recruitment and promotions, which had been

agement activities are carried out to identify

previously handled by the Human Resources

and prevent potential risks in advance, and

to ensure the capacity for a rapid response in

ed annually to reflect changes in domestic and

case of an emergency. As the “second line of

overseas working conditions and incidents

defense,” the centralized unit established in

within and outside of the Bank.124)

the Planning & Coordination Department

Every year, each department at the Bank of

handles Bank-wide Operational Risks and

Korea implements a Risk and Control Self-As-

Business Continuity Management through

sessment (RCSA) based on the Risk Register,

monitoring, planning and coordinating of

so as to identify and prevent various poten-

the relevant operations. In addition, the Au-

tial risks that could arise in their operational

dit Department, the “third line of defense,”

processes, while examining the relevant risks

performs the role of assuring the adequacy of

through monitoring and analysis of incidents

risk management and internal controls at the

occurring within and outside the Bank.

levels of the first and second lines of defense
through internal audits.

The Bank also participated actively in the
International Operational R isk Working
Group (IORWG)125) to share experiences and
best practices related to operational risks and

Figure Ⅳ- 1. Operational Risk Management
Structure of Bank of Korea

business continuity management with central
banks of various member countries.

Notification

Governor
Report

Meanwhile, the Bank of Korea frequently

Auditor

Headquarters
Report
Regional Branches
Overseas Representative
Offices
Support
(1st line of defense)

Report

Report

Planning &
Coordination Dept.
(2 line of defense)
nd

Audit
Department
Inspection

to be able to respond effectively to various
risk factors, such as cyberattacks and natural

(3 line of defense)
rd

disasters. During 2018, the Bank also examined the preparedness and effectiveness of

Inspection
Report

conducting scenario-based task substitution
training programs. Based on the training

Operational risk management is performed

results, the Bank supplemented its business

systematically based on the Risk Register.

continuity plans, thereby strengthening its

The Risk Register is a list that specifies control

emergency response capabilities.126)

123)

activities to preemptively identify and manage risks that can occur during the performance-related of operational tasks. It is updat122) Operational risks are due to inadequate internal processes and systems, failures to properly manage employees,
or external events that could hinder an organization’s achievement of its goals, cause it financial losses or damage
its reputation.
123) Introduced in 2015 to systematically link the risk management and auditing tasks, the Risk Register specifies perceived risks while also including content related to the management organization, an anti-corruption index, evaluations of the likelihood and impact of risks, and control activities.
124) This work process was selected as an outstanding practice by the Board of Audit and Inspection of Korea as a
result of its audit of the Bank of Korea’s institutional operations.
125) As of the end of December 2018, the IORWG has 95 member institutions, such as central banks (including the
ECB), the BIS and the IMF (joined in 2018). The Bank of Korea joined the IORWG in December 2011.
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its business continuity plans by, for example,

Source: Bank of Korea.
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supplements its business continuity plans

Executive Officers
Report
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Figure Ⅳ- 2. F
 low Chart of the BOK’s Operational
Risk Management

bank employees.
To ensure the smooth operation and settlement of the new educational system, the Bank

Establishment of Annual Operational Risk Management Plan
Risk Register Review

Risk Monitoring and Analysis

Risk Register Update
RCSA
Risk Control Activities (Prevention, Preparation and Response)
Source: Bank of Korea.

of Korea established its Curriculum Council as
an internal advisory body and held two council meetings in 2018 to discuss and evaluate
the practical relevance of the training courses and priorities for future courses from the
viewpoint of the entire Bank, and to reflect
the subsequent results in establishing plans
for further training programs.

C. Education and Training
Implementation of New Educational System

114

In 2018, the Bank of Korea fully implemented a capacity-based educational program
under a new educational system, increasing
the relevance between training courses and

Table Ⅳ- 1. Operation of the New Educational
System

Specific courses
Basic
Job training

Application

Organizational
development training

organizational performance. Concerning job
training, the Basic Course under the new edu-

Operating direction
Job training
Enhancing specialized work
capacity
Cultivating necessary position-specific capabilities,
personal character and refinement, and organizational value

Source: Bank of Korea.

cational system aimed to impart basic knowledge of general tasks through three subjects:

In addition, the Bank participated in the

policy & research, institutions & laws, and site

Association for Talent Development (ATD)

operations & business management. Mean-

International Conference & Exposition (ICE),

while, the Application Course included not

the world’s largest human resources develop-

only academic and theoretical content, but

ment conference, where it identified changes

also various content related to economic is-

in the Human Resources Development (HRD)

sues and practical tasks to enhance job perfor-

paradigm and learning methods, compared

mance and expertise. Furthermore, the Bank

those findings to the current status of the

operated organizational development training

Bank’s talent development, and conducted an

programs to strengthen the competitiveness

evaluation thereof to present appropriate im-

of the entire organization by improving posi-

provement plans, thereby supplementing its

tion-specific capabilities, personal character

new educational system.

and refinement, and the cultivation of organi-

Furthermore, the Bank held a series of ex-

zational values to a standard befitting central

pert lectures on the latest trends and issues

126) At the 2018 Incident Management Awards, organized by the Ministry of the Interior and Safety, the Bank of Korea
was the only institution to win a presidential institution citation from among the 7,027 institutions subject to intensive management.

in the HRD field to provide opportunities for

participation in the job training programs en-

HRD staff to enhance their job proficiency

hanced job performance in order to evaluate

and expertise.

the relevance between job training and practical work.

Strengthening Relevance Between Job
Training and Practical Work

Expansion of Training Programs to Establish Sound Organizational Culture

In line with the implementation of the new
With the implementation of the new educa-

creasing the relevance of detailed job training

tional system, the Bank of Korea expanded the

programs to practical work. First of all, the

position-specific course in the organizational

Bank launched a practice-based “Academic

development training program by dividing it

Thesis Replication” course to improve em-

into a capacity-building course and a promo-

ployees’ abilities to write academic papers

tional course. The Bank added other programs

and reports. As the demand for training on

such as “Digital Smart Work” for learning the

big data increased, the Bank also opened and

latest digital technology trends, “Manager

operated courses such as “Analysis of Big

Leadership” for building personal character as

Data and Term Structure of Interest Rates,”

a manager, and “Gender Sensitivity and Man-

“Analysis and Utilization of Big Data” and “R

agement of Gender-based Conflicts” for the

for Big Data Analysis (Intermediate Level).”

smooth operation of the organization, all of

In addition, it continued to launch a number

which aimed to expand communication and

of subjects with basic application for practical

ensure the effective and efficient operation of

tasks, including “Formulation of BOK Reg-

the organization.
The common course of the organizational

Competence” and “Practical Auditing Tasks.”

development training program was divided

Furthermore, the Bank established different

into the subjects of leadership, presentation

levels of training courses on the subject of

skills, and communication in order to facilitate

econometric and statistical software packag-

the attainment of the Bank’s organizational

es, which are widely used in the Bank’s re-

goals and changes.

search and analysis, in order to help trainees
strengthen their job competence in stages.

The Bank also continued to implement
the reading management program, leader-

With regard to its advanced job training

ship-oriented knowledge content program,

courses, the Bank ensured their better utili-

and other programs for the purpose of en-

zation by establishing the Office Hour, which

hancing managerial leadership and insight.

provides opportunities for interviews and
discussions with renowned professors from
overseas, as well as launching the Open Class,
which is open to anyone who’s interested in
the class activities.
Meanwhile, the Bank conducted follow-up
surveys on a trial basis to examine whether

1. Organization Management

ulations,” “Writing Skills for Improving Job
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educational system, the Bank focused on in-

Support for Global Job Competency and
Career Development
With a focus on expanding the global job
competencies of its employees and establishing a human network with foreign central
banks, the Bank of Korea continued to provide
its employees with overseas work training op-

Table Ⅳ- 2. Number of New Hires per Year
(persons)

2015
70

64

70

59

20

30

30

19

Security

5

7

21

38

Others
Total
Male
Female
(%)

and social adaptability of employees after re-

2018

Assistant

at foreign central banks and international inFurthermore, to strengthen the life planning

2017

Junior Economist1)

portunities to participate in training programs
stitutions.

2016

9

3

8

13

104

104

129

129

54

50

69

95

50
(48.1)

54
(51.9)

60
(46.5)

34
(26.4)

Note: 1) Based on recruitment year.
Source: Bank of Korea.

tirement, the Bank is operating its retirement
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preparation training system in stages, which

The Bank also made continuous efforts to

include preliminary group training sessions,

enhance fairness in its recruitment. It con-

competency development training sessions

tinued to implement its blind hiring process,

and intensive elective courses.

which removed information such as applicants’ gender, education background, and

D. Staff Operation

alma mater from the application form. It also
implemented an open competitive recruitment

The Bank of Korea continued its efforts to
secure outstanding talent with expertise and

process for the conversion of temporary positions to permanent positions.

job competency as well as basic capabilities

The Bank worked to recruit new staff with

including a sense of duty as central bank em-

a focus on promoting social equity by, for

ployees and cohesion as members of an orga-

example, hiring talented personnel from the

nization, while actively responding to social

provinces in accordance with its Provincial

expectations for the conversion of temporary

Talent Employment Target system, as well as

positions into permanent positions.

specialized vocational high school graduates

During 2018, the Bank of Korea recruited

through a separate screening process.

a total of 129 employees, including 59 new

The Bank also devoted active efforts to in-

junior economists (G5), marking the highest

creasing professionalism and openness in its

number of new hires since the 1990s, as it did

human resources management. It applied an

in 2017.

open recruitment process to fill open positions
including Risk Management Team Leader,
and hired a total of 13 external specialists and
economists including PhD-level researchers,
IT experts, and experienced lawyers. In addition, when hiring new junior economists (G5),
it hired three persons with fluency in foreign
language through a separate screening pro-

Figure Ⅳ- 3. Newly Recruited Staff in 2019 (January 7, 2019)
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Source: Bank of Korea.

hired 14 candidates with prior professional

E. E xpansion of Corruption Prevention
and Culture of Integrity

work experience.
To secure a high level of integrity and credibility commensurate with the public’s expec-

a decrease in the proportion of women among

tations, the Bank of Korea made strenuous

the Bank’s new hires. However, the number of

efforts to expand its organizational culture

female managers at the Bank has continued to

based on integrity and anticorruption by, for

rise, and the proportion of female managers

example, expanding its integrity and anticor-

above G5 grade,

ruption infrastructure and strengthening the

127)

which stood at 16.4 percent

as of year-end 2018, recorded its highest-ever

provision of integrity education.

level.

Recently, the criteria for cash gifts and the
upper limit of honorariums for external lectures prescribed in the enforcement ordinance

127) Table Ⅳ- 3. Number of Female Managers1) at Bank of Korea
(persons, %)

2000

2005

2010

2017

2018

Female managers

35

76

90

190

210

Proportion

3.6

7.1

8.2

15.2

16.4

2)

Notes: 1) Female staff above G5 grade.
2) Proportion of female managers among total staff.
Source: Bank of Korea.

1. Organization Management

The expanded hiring of security such as security guards and general staff has resulted in
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cess, and when hiring new assistants (C3), it

Figure Ⅳ- 4. Guest Lecture on Integrity by Director General of Anti-corruption Bureau, Anti-corruption
& Civil Rights Commission
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Source: Bank of Korea.

of the Improper Solicitation and Graft Act

Furthermore, the Bank provided all of its

(hereinafter referred to as the Solicitation Pro-

employees with education on integrity, anti-

hibition Act) was changed. Not only that, new

corruption and the Solicitation Prohibition Act

regulations with regard to the prohibition of

to spread an integrity-based organizational

improper solicitation in the private sector and

culture, and additionally provided lectures

the obligation to report any private contact

on integrity and anticorruption for executives

with former officials was added to the Guide-

with the responsibility of setting an example

lines for Operating Code of Conduct for Public

in expanding a culture of integrity.

Officials. The Bank reflected all these amend-

To enhance the external transparency and

ed provisions of relevant ordinances faithfully

credibility of its major projects, the Bank

in its employee code of conduct.

appointed two extremely experienced, inde-

To enhance employees’ understanding of

pendent, external specialists as Integrity Om-

the Solicitation Prohibition Act and the Code

budsmen and actively reflected their advice

of Conduct, and to raise awareness of the

and evaluations related to the comprehensive

principle of integrity, the Bank also designated

establishment of the Next-generation Ac-

the first business day of each month as “Integ-

counting and Settlement System in contract

rity and Antisolicitation Day” and regularly

processes and work-related tasks.

posted relevant content on the Bank’s intranet
and website.

To fulfill the high expectations regarding integrity and credibility, the Bank will continue

to devote its utmost efforts to maintaining its

ly implemented a data service system that

integrity as the central bank.

promptly explores and provides optimum
solutions through collaboration between the

F. Upgrade of IT Systems

user and the IT department.
Third, the Bank of Korea built and improved

During 2018, the Bank of Korea carried out

various IT systems to create a user-friendly IT

various projects to upgrade its IT systems in

environment. In addition to the integration

order to respond effectively to changes in the

of 14 websites,128) the Bank constructed a new

internal and external conditions, including the

Records Management System to satisfy legal

advancement of IT technology, alongside vari-

provisions regarding record management,

ous efforts to promote change and innovation

while improving the e-library system so as to

within the Bank.

provide the same service and menu interface

First, the Bank executed a project to es-

for users accessing the system through various

tablish its Next-Generation Accounting and

channels, such as both mobile devices and

Settlement System as planned. It launched

desktop PCs.

Team, which assumed full responsibility for

its response system against increasingly in-

the project and commenced the project in

telligent and sophisticated cyber threats, as

earnest in November. Following the analysis,

well as more general IT risks, such as the

design, development and testing processes,

infringement of personal data. In order to be

the next-generation system will be placed into

able to swiftly respond to new types of cy-

service in 2020. To ensure the success of the

berattacks, the Bank adopted an intelligent

next-generation system, the Bank will focus

cyberattack detection and analysis system. It

on communication management by ensuring

also overhauled its response system to ensure

project transparency, risk-based project man-

prompt and efficient responses to risks in the

agement and management of changes orient-

IT sector, while working to heighten its crisis

ed toward best practices.

response capabilities through regular training

Second, the Bank has continued to pro-

exercises to combat cyberterrorism. The Bank

mote data-related work innovation to support

also continuously examined the actual condi-

research tasks. By improving its data collec-

tions of personal information management,

tion and utilization methods, establishing

and provided relevant education on an ongo-

an environment for large-volume microdata

ing basis.

analysis, and developing a process of work-

Fifth, the Bank of Korea expanded its IT

flow automation, the Bank minimized simple

infrastructure for the stable operation and

and repetitive manual tasks and established

improvement of its IT system. In prepara-

a foundation for data work innovation. In

tion for the cessation of technical support for

response to problems that the user may face

Windows 7, the Bank upgraded its Windows

in data-related work processes, it also active-

Server to support Windows 10 PCs, while

128) For further details on the integration of the websites, please refer to Box III-4 Launch of Bank of Korea’s Integrated
Website.
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Fourth, the Bank of Korea strengthened
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the Next-generation System Development

strengthening the stability of its communica-

is overseeing the entire process, including the

tions network by replacing outdated commu-

ongoing selection process for a construction

nications systems.

company, and other related contract processes.

G. Construction of Integrated Annex

Figure Ⅳ- 5. Bird’s Eye View of the BOK’s New
Headquarters Building

The Bank of Korea is currently proceeding
with the construction of an integrated annex
to reinforce the safety and security of its headquarters as an institution of national importance.129) The first annex was demolished due
to safety concerns and will be entirely rebuilt
as an integrated annex, while the Bank will
enhance the durability and safety of the second annex, which has conservational value as
a modern architectural heritage site, and the
120

main building, which is the Bank’s primary

Source: Bank of Korea.

workspace, in order to increase utility.130)
The Bank will utilize the second annex as a
visitor center, and endeavor to secure a park
and pedestrian paths around its premises as
areas frequented by the general population,
in order to expand its spaces for openness and
communication with the general public. It is
also striving to preserve its cultural heritage,
in consideration of the historic symbolism of
the building that houses the Bank of Korea
Money Museum (Historical Site No. 280), a
nationally-designated cultural asset, and the
entire premises surrounding the Bank.
Meanwhile, the Bank of Korea exerted efforts to ensure the transparency and fairness
of the construction process by entrusting the
project to the Public Procurement Service.
Accordingly, the Public Procurement Service

129) To strengthen security, the spaces and lines of movement within the buildings are categorized and managed in
different ways, depending upon the degrees of importance of the facilities concerned. For safety, a focus has
been placed on strengthening seismic performance and the expansion of emergency facilities equipped with features for defense against EMP and CBR attacks.
130) T he Bank of Korea headquarters consists of five buildings: the original building (completed in 1912), the main
building (1987), the first annex (1964), the second annex (1932) and the Sogong annex (1965).
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Assets
As of the end of 2018, the total assets of the

The Bank of Korea, in principle, issues

Bank of Korea stood at 495,304.6 billion won,

banknotes and coins based on its currency-is-

an increase of 24,719.9 billion won from the

suing authority, and manages the issued cur-

previous year-end level of 470,584.7 billion

rency through loans to financial institutions

won.

and the government, as well as purchases

By type of asset, securities were worth

of government bonds. Given the significant

381,273.4 billion won, increasing by 40,401.5

increase in the inflow of foreign currency,

billion won from the previous year-end, while

however, the Bank absorbs liquidity by issu-

due from banks and loans on bills were worth

ing Monetary Stabilization Bonds (MSBs) and

19,474.2 billion won and 14,085.9 billion won,

holds foreign exchange reserves in order to

respectively, decreasing by 4,367.4 billion and

maintain market liquidity at an appropriate

3,099.6 billion won from the previous year-

level. Accordingly, the Bank’s assets are large-

end figures. The exchange revaluation adjust-

ly made up of foreign currency securities and

ment account on the asset side decreased by

deposits from banks, while its liabilities are

8,611.5 billion won, owing to the increase in

mainly composed of currency issued, MSBs

the USD/KRW exchange rate.

Consequently, the profits and losses of the
Bank of Korea are significantly influenced by
the difference between the coupon rate for

Table Ⅳ- 4. Assets (As of year-end)
(billion won)

2018(B)

Change (B-A)

495,304.6

24,719.9

340,871.9

381,273.4

40,401.5

Due from banks

23,841.6

19,474.2

-4,367.4

retained earnings. Meanwhile, in accordance

Loans on bills

17,185.5

14,085.9

-3,099.6

with Article 99 of the Bank of Korea Act, 30

Exchange revaluation adjustment
account

24,044.1

15,432.6

-8,611.5

as well as by foreign exchange rates.
The Bank’s capital consists of legal and
voluntary reserves, as well as unappropriated

percent of net profits of the Bank are allocated
to the legal reserve,131) and some of the residu-

Subject
Assets
Securities

Source: Bank of Korea.

al net profits can be set aside for the voluntary
reserve for specific purposes, with the approval of the government. After the allocation, the
remaining net profits are paid to the government as tax revenue.

131) With the revision of the Bank of Korea Act in 2011, the amount to be allocated to the legal reserve was adjusted
from 10 percent to 30 percent of net profits.
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2017(A)
470,584.7

MSBs and the rate of return on foreign assets,
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issued and foreign currency deposits.
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Liabilities and Capital
The total liabilities of the Bank of Korea at
the end of 2018 amounted to 479,843.5 billion
won, an increase of 24,281 billion won from
the previous year-end level of 455,562.5 billion
won.
By type of liability, deposits and currency
issued stood at 127,038.7 billion won and
115,389.5 billion won, respectively, increasing
by 28,058.4 billion won and 7,481.9 billion
won from the previous year-end, while the
monetary stabilization account and securities
sold under repurchase agreement were worth
7,000 billion won and 5,000 billion won, respectively, declining by 6,500 billion won and
122

5,000 billion won from the previous year-end.
The total capital of the Bank as of the end of

Table Ⅳ- 5. Liabilities and Capital (As of year-end)
(billion won)

Subject
Liabilities

2017(A)

2018(B)

Change (B-A)

455,562.5

479,843.5

24,281.0

Currency
issued

107,907.6

115,389.5

7,481.9

Monetary
stabilization
bonds issued

170,780.1

171,636.5

856.4

Monetary
stabilization
account

13,500.0

7,000.0

-6,500.0

Deposits

98,980.3

127,038.7

28,058.4

Securities
sold under
repurchase
agreement

10,000.0

5,000.0

-5,000.0

15,022.2

15,461.1

438.9

470,584.7

495,304.6

24,719.9

Capital
Total liabilities
and capital

Source: Bank of Korea.

2018 increased by 438.9 billion won to 15,461.1
billion won, from the previous year-end level

Income and Expenses

of 15,022.2 billion won.
By type of capital, the legal reserve in-

In 2018, the Bank’s net profits decreased by

creased by 1,189.2 billion won while unap-

750.3 billion won from the previous year’s lev-

propriated retained earnings (net profits) de-

el of 3,964 billion won to 3,213.7 billion won,

creased by 750.3 billion won.

mainly due to a decline in the profit on sales
of foreign currency bonds caused by decreased
prices of foreign currency bonds following an
increase in international interest rates, while
policy operation expenses increased due to an
increase in interest rates in Korea.
Operating revenue increased by 1,546.4
billion won from the previous year to 13,788.9
billion won because interest rates on securities
increased by 1,061.9 billion won.
Operating expenses increased by 2,518.6
billion won from the previous year to 9,531.0
billion won as interest on MSBs issued and
losses on sales of securities increased by 479.0
billion and 1,460.9 billion won, respectively.

Table Ⅳ- 6. Income and Expenses
(billion won)

Subject
Total revenue
Operating
revenue
Interest on
securities
Profit on sales
of securities
Non-operating
income
Total expenses
Operating
expenses
Interest on
monetary
stabilization
bonds issued

2018(B)

Change (B-A)

12,388.0

13,838.6

1,450.6

12,242.5

13,788.9

1,546.4

6,645.7

7,707.6

1,061.9

3,857.6

4,441.6

584.0

145.5

49.7

-95.8

7,079.9

9,543.4

2,463.5

7,012.4

9,531.0

2,518.6

2,579.1

3,058.1

479.0

1,685.0

3,145.9

1,460.9

67.5

12.4

-55.1

5,308.1

4,295.2

-1,012.9

Income taxes (-)

1,344.1

1,081.5

-262.6

Net income

3,964.0

3,213.7

-750.3

Source: Bank of Korea.

Regarding the disposal of the net profits,
which totaled 3,213.7 billion won in 2018,
964.1 billion won was allocated to the legal
reserve, 35.4 billion won was voluntarily reserved as a contribution to the Bounty Fund
for Raising Lump-sum Savings of Farming
and Fishing Households, and the remaining
2,214.2 billion won was paid to the government as tax revenue.
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Disposal of Net Profits
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Loss on sales
of securities
Non-operating
expenses
Income before
income taxes

2017(A)
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Table Ⅳ- 7. Balance Sheets (As of December 31, 2018 and 2017)
(million won)

Subject

2018

2017

Assets
Ⅰ. Current assets
1. Cash

451,370,624

1

2

2. Gold and silver bullions

5,361,015

5,137,100

3. Holdings of special drawing rights

3,831,293

3,615,181

4. Securities (Note 2)

381,273,389

340,871,922

a. National bonds

16,680,720

14,831,614

b. Government guaranteed securities and others
c. Foreign securities
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475,641,067

-

-

364,592,669

326,040,308

5. Due from Banks (Note 3)

19,474,229

23,841,632

a. Due from banks current

14,676,704

13,348,877

b. Due from banks on time

4,797,525

10,492,755

6. Overdraft

-

-

7. Liquidity adjustment loans

-

-

8. Bills discounted

-

-

14,085,903

17,185,503

47

-

-

-

12. Loans on Government (Note 4)

716,200

1,336,200

13. Loans on international finance organization (Note 4)

537,528

637,111

9. Loans on bills (Note 4)
10. Loans on securities (Note 4)
11. Securities bought under resale agreement (Note 5)

14. Foreign exchange
15. Agencies
16. Inter-office account
17. Other assets
(Exchange revaluation adjustment account)

83,682

81,462

1,623,417

1,281,940

-

-

48,654,363

57,382,571

(15,432,554)

(24,044,080)

Ⅱ. Non-current assets

19,663,500

19,214,090

1. Investment asssets

19,145,372

18,697,073

11,424,683

10,972,501

7,713,067

7,716,344

a. Investments (Note 6)
b. Securities on investment
c. Telecommunication usage rights
d. Miscellaneous subscription rights
2. Tangible assets
3. Intangible assets
Total assets

54

69

7,568

8,159

508,871

507,988

9,257

9,029

495,304,567

470,584,714

Subject

2018

2017

Liabilities
Ⅰ. Current liabilities

471,944,906

447,672,947

1. Currency issued

115,389,473

107,907,643

2. Monetary stabilization bonds issued (Note 7)

171,636,463

170,780,140

7,000,000

13,500,000

3. Monetary stabilization account
4. Government deposits

9,936,535
98,980,294

53,423,936

46,698,435

-

-

c. Liquidity adjustment deposits

3,686,591

1,420,400

d. Temporary deposits

4,705,736

5,217,950

65,222,451

45,643,509

-

-

5,000,000

10,000,000

3,739,009

3,659,902

-

-

32,357,389

32,908,433

(-)

(-)

7,898,548

7,889,532

-

-

a. Checking deposits
b. Settlement deposits

e. Due to banks on demand
f. Other foreign deposits
6. Securities sold under repurchase agreement
(Note 8)
7. Allocations of special drawing rights
8. Inter-office account
9. Other Liabilities
(Exchange revaluation adjustment account)
Ⅱ. Non-current liabilities
1. Borrowings
3. Liabilities to international monetary institute
Total liabilities

185,480

173,188

7,713,068

7,716,344

479,843,454

455,562,479

15,461,113

15,022,235

Capital
Ⅰ. Surplus
1. Retained earnings

15,461,113

15,022,235

a. Legal reserve

8,809,633

7,620,419

b. Voluntary reserve

3,437,768

3,437,768

c. Unappropriated retained earnings for term

3,213,712

3,964,048

Total capital
Total liabilities and capital

15,461,113

15,022,235

495,304,567

470,584,714

2. Financial Status

2. Reserve for retirement allowances
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9,783,858
127,038,714

5. Deposits

Table Ⅳ- 8. Statements of Income (For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017)
(million won)

Subject
Ⅰ. Operating revenue
1. Interest received and discount fees
(1) Interest on securities (Note 9)
(2) Interest on due from banks
(3) Interest on overdraft
(4) Discount fees on domestic bills
(5) Interest on loans on bills
(6) Interest on loans on securities
(7) Interest on liquidity adjustment loans
(8) Interest on securities bought under resale agreement
(9) Interest on loans on Government
(10) Interest on loans on international finance organization

2017

13,788,850

12,242,525

9,177,510

8,225,834

7,707,564

6,645,749

240,841

166,403

70

65

-

-

107,026

119,323

1

45

75

68

28,779

4,248

3,060

4,539

5,966

4,313

1,084,128

1,281,081

150,242

151,713

4,441,551

3,857,595

19,547

7,383

5. Profit on foreign exchange transaction

-

-

6. Profit on gold and silver bullions

-

-

(11) Miscellaneous interest received
2. Commissions received

128

2018

3. Profit on sales of securities
4. Gain on redemption of monetary stabilization bonds

Ⅱ. Operating expenses

9,530,982

7,012,400

5,425,402

4,558,851

(1) Interest on deposits

913,545

550,451

(2) Interest on monetary stabilization account

200,722

211,808

3,058,062

2,579,048

197,520

184,426

-

-

1,055,553

1,033,118

156,011

110,381

3,145,873

1,684,984

447

21,306

1. Interest expense and discount fees

(3) Interest on monetary stabilization bonds issued
(4) Interest on securities sold under repurchase agreement (Note 10)
(5) Interest on borrowings
(6) Miscellaneous interest paid
2. Commissions paid
3. Loss on sales of securities
4. Loss on redemption of monetary stabilization bonds

Subject
5. Loss on foreign exchange transaction
6. Loss on gold and silver bullions
7. International financial institutions contribution
8. Banknote and coin manufacturing expenses

2018

2017
184,915

17,529

-

-

24,688

24,688

112,645

133,013

9. Provision for severance pay

31,515

27,999

10. Depreciation expense

30,314

25,537

5,110

5,296

11. Amortization of intangible assets
12. General and administrative expenses

414,062

402,816

4,257,868

5,230,125

49,701

145,515

1,604

367

2. Miscellaneous profits

48,097

145,148

Ⅴ. Non-operating expense

12,367

67,499

10,000

60,000

2. Loss from disposal of assets

1,041

6,947

3. Miscellaneous loss

1,326

552

Ⅲ. Operating income
Ⅳ. Non-operating income
1. Income from disposal of assets

1. Donation

4,295,202

5,308,141

Ⅶ. Income taxes

1,081,490

1,344,093

Ⅷ. Net income

3,213,712

3,964,048

Ⅳ. Management Status

Ⅵ. Income before income taxes
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Table Ⅳ- 9. Statements of Changes in Equity (For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017)
(million won)

Subject
Ⅰ. Balance as at January 1, 2017

Capital

Retained earnings
-

Ⅱ. Payment to General Revenue Account of the Government
Ⅲ. Contribution to Fund for Farming and Fishing Households
Ⅳ. Net income

13,422,700

13,422,700

-2,322,970

-2,322,970

-41,542

-41,542

3,964,048

3,964,048

Ⅴ. Balance as at December 31, 2017

-

15,022,235

15,022,235

Ⅵ. Balance as at January 1, 2018

-

15,022,235

15,022,235

-2,733,367

-2,733,367

Ⅶ. Payment to General Revenue Account of the Government
Ⅷ. Contribution to Fund for Farming and Fishing Households
Ⅸ. Net income
Ⅹ. Balance as at December 31, 2018
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Sum

-

-41,467

-41,467

3,213,712

3,213,712

15,461,113

15,461,113

Table Ⅳ- 10. Statements of Appropriation of Retained Earnings
(For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017)
(million won)

Subject

2018

Ⅰ. Unappropriated retained earnings
1. Balance at beginning of year
2. Net income

3,213,712

2. Voluntary reserve
a. Contribution to Fund for
Farming and Fishing Households
b. Reserve for specific purposes
3. Payment to General Revenue Account of the
Government
Ⅲ. Unappropriated retained
earnings to be carried over to subsequent year

3,964,048

-

-

3,213,712

3,964,048

Ⅱ. Appropriation of retained earnings
1. Legal reserve

2017

3,213,712

3,964,048

964,114

1,189,214

35,395

41,467

35,395

41,467

-

-

2,214,203

2,733,367

-

-
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Significant accounting policies
A. Basis of preparation
Except in the case specifically articulated by related laws and regulations, the presented financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Regulations enacted under
Article 8 of the Bank of Korea and Article 33 of the Bank’s Article of Incorporation. The generally
accepted accounting principles shall apply upon matters not determined by the Accounting Regulations of the Bank. Meanwhile, considering the insignificance of cash flow information to the
functions of the Bank as a central bank, statements of cash flow have not been prepared. In addition, the statements of appropriation of retained earnings have been separated from the notes and
reported as separate financial statements in consideration of their significance.
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B. Recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities
Assets are recognized at the date of acquisitions and liabilities are recognized when obligated.
Assets are not assessed at the fair values but recorded at the acquisition cost or the amortized cost
in the balance sheet.
(1) Securities
Debt securities are measured at the amortized cost while equity securities are measured at the
acquisition cost. The Bank applies the specific identification method to debt securities and the
moving average method to equity securities when calculating the acquisition cost to recognize the
realized gains or losses on sales of the securities.
(2) Investment assets
Investment assets are measured at the acquisition cost. The Bank applies the moving average
method to determine the acquisition cost of equity securities in investment assets.

C. Recognition of revenues and expenses
Revenues and expenses are recognized on the accrual basis.

D. Foreign exchange translation and recognition of profits and losses on foreign exchange transactions
(1) Foreign exchange translation
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Korean won applying

the exchange rate or the arbitrage rate at the end of the reporting period. The gains and losses on
the translation are not recognized in profit or loss but as a foreign exchange revaluation adjustment
account which is a deferred account. Revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into Korean won applying the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
(2) Recognition of profits and losses on foreign exchange transactions
Profits and losses on foreign exchange transactions are determined by the difference between
the Korean won equivalent received from the sales of foreign currency and the equivalent value of
purchase cost of the foreign currency.

E. Transactions under resale and repurchase agreement
Transactions under resale and repurchase agreement are loan and borrowing transactions secured by securities. Purchasing securities under resale agreement is accounted for as securities
bought under resale agreement and selling securities under repurchase agreement is accounted
for as securities sold under repurchase agreement on the Balance Sheet.

F. Depreciation of tangible assets and amortization of intangible assets

Buildings are depreciated using the straight-line method, while other tangible assets are depreciated on the declining balance method. Tangible assets are presented on the Balance Sheet at the
acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation.

Development costs are amortized based on straight-line method whereas software is amortized
using declining balance method and presented on the Balance Sheet at the acquisition cost less
accumulated amortization.

G. Reserve for retirement allowances
Reserve for retirement allowances of the Bank under the retirement policy shows an accrued
estimation for retirement at the end of the reporting period. Under the National Pension Scheme
of Korea, the Bank transferred a certain portion of retirement allowances for employees to the
National Pension Fund. The amount transferred to the National Pension Fund and the plan assets
for the retirement pension which is under the Employee Retirement Benefit Security Act is reflected in the financial statements as a reduction of the reserve for retirement allowances.

H. Income taxes
Income taxes comprise the current tax expense calculated for the periods in accordance with
statutory corporate tax regulations and the regional tax added to the corporate income tax.

2. Financial Status

(2) Intangible assets
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(1) Tangible assets
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2. Securities
Details of securities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows
(won)

Description
Subject

Type

National bonds

Korean Treasury bonds

Government Guaranteed
securities and others

Total

2017

16,680,720,329,419

14,831,614,492,726

-

-

364,592,669,355,619

326,040,308,117,925

381,273,389,685,038

340,871,922,610,651

Foreign government bonds
and others

Foreign securities

2018

3. Due from Banks
Details of due from banks as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows
(won)
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Description
Subject

Institutions

Due from banks current
Due from banks on time

Foreign commercial banks
and others
Foreign commercial banks
and others
Total

2018

2017

14,676,704,285,187

13,348,877,127,113

4,797,525,103,141

10,492,755,332,524

19,474,229,388,328

23,841,632,459,637

4. Loans
Details of loans as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows
(won)

Description
Subject

Debtors

Loans on bills

Local financial institutions

Loans on Government

Ministry of strategy and
finance
IMF

Loans on international
finance organization
Loans on securities

Local financial institutions
Total

2018

2017

14,085,903,000,000

17,185,503,000,000

716,200,000,000

1,336,200,000,000

537,527,568,275

637,110,723,750

47,363,160

-

15,339,677,931,435

19,158,813,723,750

5. Securities Bought under Resale Agreement
Details of securities bought under resale agreement as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as
follows
(won)

Description
Subject

2018

Counterparty

Securities bought under
resale agreement in won
Foreign securities bought
under resale agreement

2017

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total

6. Investments
Details of investments as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows
(won)

Description

Local investments

Investee
Export-Import Bank of Korea

1,165,000,000,000

645,000,000,000

645,000,000,000

Subtotal

1,810,000,000,000

1,810,000,000,000

Off-shore
investments

International finance
organization

9,614,682,607,676

9,162,501,271,326

11,424,682,607,676

10,972,501,271,326

Total

2. Financial Status

1,165,000,000,000

Korea Housing
Finance Corporation
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Subject

2018

7. Monetary Stabilization Bonds Issued
Monetary stabilization bonds issued as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows
(won)

Description

2018

2017

Coupon bonds

157,896,462,837,169

155,820,139,748,343

Discount bonds

13,740,000,000,000

14,960,000,000,000

Total

171,636,462,837,169

170,780,139,748,343

8. Securities Sold under Repurchase Agreement
Details of securities sold under repurchase agreement as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as
follows
(won)

Description
Subject

2018

Counterparty

Securities sold under
Local financial
repurchase agreement in won institutions
Foreign securities
sold under repurchase
agreement

5,000,000,000,000

10,000,000,000,000

-

-

5,000,000,000,000

10,000,000,000,000

Foreign investment
banks and others
Total

2017

9. Interest on Securities
Details of interest on securities for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows
(won)
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Description

2018

2017

Interest on securities in won

443,132,669,144

450,825,399,281

Interest on foreign securities

7,264,431,392,286

6,194,923,681,250

Total

7,707,564,061,430

6,645,749,080,531

10. Interest Expenses on Securities Sold under Repurchase
Agreement
Details of interest expenses on securities sold under repurchase agreement for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows
(won)

Description
Interest expenses on securities sold
under repurchase agreement in won
Interest expenses on foreign securities
sold under repurchase agreement
Total

2018

2017

195,382,829,033

183,501,130,123

2,137,263,467

924,989,661

197,520,092,500

184,426,119,784
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